



# Analysis of tumor-specific mutations in liquid biopsies

Exploring the value of circulating tumor cells and circulating tumor DNA for early diagnosis in pancreatic cancer

Inaugural-Dissertation

zur Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf

vorgelegt von

Nora Brychta aus Wuppertal

Berlin, Juli 2017

Aus dem Institut für pharmazeutische und medizinische Chemie der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf und der Abteilung Biomarker Research der Bayer AG

Gedruckt mit der Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf und der Bayer AG

Referent: Prof. Dr. Matthias U. Kassack

Korreferent: Prof. Dr. Nikolas H. Stoecklein

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 15.11.2017

Für meine Oma

#### <u>Summary</u>

Pancreatic cancer (PC) is a devastating disease. Despite decades of research, resection of the tumor is still the lone curative treatment only feasible in early stages of PC. Diagnosis is usually at inoperable late stages due to unspecific symptoms and the lack of minimally invasive sensitive diagnostic techniques. Highly invasive tumor biopsy is the gold standard for diagnosis but difficult to obtain in PC. An alternative tool might be blood-based liquid biopsies which represent the disease systemically by minimally invasive blood draw. In contrast to tumor biopsies, liquid biopsy can be repeated and therefore might have the potential for sequential early diagnostics. A peripheral blood sample contains e.g. circulating tumor DNA (ctDNA) and circulating tumor cells (CTCs) originating from the primary tumor or metastasis. In this thesis, the diagnostic sensitivity of highly prevalent KRAS (Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog) mutations was evaluated in both ctDNA and CTCs in early stages of PC. In a first approach, after establishment of an optimized workflow isolation of synthetic mutant alleles spiked in plasma following subsequent mutation detection by digital PCR revealed that a minimum of 5 mutant alleles could be detected from plasma. Fifty samples each of plasma and matched tumor tissue from fifty PC patients diagnosed predominantly at early stages were analyzed for KRAS mutations. In 35% of cases the mutation detected in tumor was concordantly found in plasma. The analysis of ctDNA provides increased minimally invasive sensitivity as potential early diagnostic marker in PC. In a second approach, an EpCAM (epithelial cell adhesion molecule)-based (IsoFlux) and size-based method (automated filtration unit by Siemens) were compared for isolation of different PC cells whereby filtration was superior. A workflow for subsequent downstream analysis by digital PCR was established to detect mutant KRAS in isolated single CTCs. Frozen CTC-enriched diagnostic leukapheresis products (DLA) from patients diagnosed with PC were then analyzed for CTC number. 42% of patients were CTC-positive therein 40% in non-metastatic patients providing a storable medium of CTC-analysis. All tested CTCs were KRAS-negative concordant to the analyzed tumor. As a continuative excursus, CTCs were positively evaluated for monitoring and application to personalized medicine in advanced stages of lung cancer. Increased CTC numbers were obtained by an in vivo isolation technique. Additionally, mutations in CTCs for monitoring of therapies were successfully detected. In summary, these findings suggest ctDNA as a sensitive, minimally invasive early diagnostic marker for PC outperforming CTCs in terms of clinical utility and feasibility. The value of these findings especially in samples of apparently healthy individuals should be the aim of future research.

#### Zusammenfassung

Pankreaskarzinom (PK) ist eine fatale Erkrankung. Trotz jahrzehntelanger Forschung ist eine Resektion des Tumors bisher die einzige kurative Behandlung, die nur in frühen Stadien des PK möglich ist. Die Diagnose erfolgt meistens in inoperablen späten Stadien auf Grund von unspezifisch auftretenden Symptomen und Mangel an minimal-invasiven sensitiven Diagnosetechniken. Hoch-invasive Tumorbiopsie ist der Goldstandard für die Erstellung der Diagnose, welche allerdings in PK schwierig zu erhalten ist. Eine Alternative könnten Blut-basierte Analysen sein, welche die Krankheit systemisch durch minimal-invasive Blutentnahme repräsentiert. Im Gegensatz zu Tumorbiopsien kann die Flüssigbiopsie (Liquid Biopsy) wiederholt werden und hat daher das Potential für eine sequentielle Frühdiagnose. Eine periphere Blutprobe enthält z.B. zirkulierende Tumor DNA (ctDNA) und zirkulierende Tumorzellen (CTCs), welche vom Primärtumor oder einer Metastase stammen. In dieser Arbeit wurde die diagnostische Sensitivität von hoch-prävalenten KRAS (Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog)-Mutationen sowohl in ctDNA als auch in CTCs in Frühstadien des PK evaluiert. In einem ersten Ansatz ergab die Isolierung von synthetisch-mutierten Allelen, die in Plasma überführt wurden, mit anschließender Mutationsdetektion durch digitale PCR, dass fünf mutierte Allele über einen optimierten Workflow detektiert werden können. Fünfzig Plasma- und zugehörige Tumorproben von Patienten in überwiegend frühen Stadien des PK wurden auf KRAS-Mutationen analysiert. In 35% der Fälle wurde die Mutation im Tumor ebenfalls im Plasma detektiert. Die Analyse von ctDNA zeigt damit eine gesteigerte minimal-invasive Sensitivität zur potentiellen Frühdiagnose in PK auf. In einem zweiten Ansatz wurde eine EpCAM (epithelial cell adhesion molecule)-basierte (IsoFlux) Methode mit einer größenabhängigen Methode (automatisierte Filtration durch Siemens-Einheit) auf die Isolierung von PK-Zellen verglichen, wobei die Filtration überlegen war. Arbeitsschritte für anschließende Mutationsanalysen durch digitale PCR wurden etabliert, um mutiertes KRAS in isolierten Einzel-CTCs zu bestimmen. Gefrorenes Produkt der CTC-angereicherten diagnostischen Leukapherese (DLA) von PK-Patienten wurde auf CTC-Anzahl getestet. In 42% der Patientenproben konnten CTCs detektiert werden, wobei 40% in nicht-metastatischen Patienten isoliert werde konnten. Gefrorenes DLA-Produkt stellt damit eine lagerbare Quelle für CTC-Analysen dar. Alle getesteten CTCs waren übereinstimmend mit dem Tumor KRAS-negativ. In einem weiterführenden Exkurs wurden CTCs für das Monitoring und die Anwendung in personalisierter Medizin in fortgeschrittenen Stadien des Lungenkrebs positiv evaluiert. Erhöhte CTC-Zahlen wurden durch eine in vivo Methode erhalten. Zusätzlich wurden Mutationen in CTCs zur

Überwachung der Therapie erfolgreich detektiert. Zusammenfassend zeigen die Daten, dass ctDNA ein möglicher diagnostischer, sensitiver und minimal-invasiver Marker ist, der CTCs in klinischem Nutzen und klinischer Durchführbarkeit in PK überlegen ist. Der Wert dieser Ergebnisse sollte in weiterführenden Studien besonders an Proben von klinisch unauffälligen Personen vertieft werden.

# List of abbreviations

BSA	bovine serum albumin
CA	carbohydrate antigen
CAPP-Seq	cancer personalized profiling by deep Sequencing
CD	cluster of differentiation
CDKN2A	cyclin-dependent kinase Inhibitor 2A
CEA	carcinoembryogenic antigen
CEP	centromere of chromosome
cfDNA	circulating free DNA
CI	confidence interval
СТ	computed tomography
ctDNA	circulating tumor DNA
CTCs	circulating tumor cells
°C	degree Celsius
DLA	diagnostic leukapheresis
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
dPCR	digital PCR
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGFR	epithelial growth factor receptor
EMT	epithelial-mesenchymal transition
EpCAM	epithelial cell adhesion molecule
EUS-FNA	endoscopic ultrasound fine needle aspiration

FBS	fetal bovine serum
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FFPE	formalin fixed, paraffin embedded
FOLFIRINOX	leucovorin, 5-fluorouracil, irinotecan and oxaliplatin
HSA	human serum albumin
ISET	Isolation by Size of Tumor Cells
KRAS	Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog
MO	TNM-staging: no metastasis
M1	TNM-staging: distant metastasis
MEN1	multiple endocrine neoplasia 1
MET	mesenchymal-epithelial transition
μ	micro
min	minute/s
mL	milliliter
mm	millimeter
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
ND	not determined
ng	nano gram
NIH	National Institute of Health
NSCLC	non-small cell lung cancer
OS	overall survival
%	percent
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction

- PDAC pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma prostate specific antigen PSA RAS rat sarcoma small cell lung cancer SCLC mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 3 SMAD3 SMAD4 mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 4 Tagged Amplicon Sequencing TAM-Seq ΤKI tyrosine kinase inhibitor TP53 gene encoding protein 53
- WGA whole genome amplification

## List of figures and tables

Figure 1: Carcinogenesis

- Figure 2: Mechanisms of DNA release into blood
- Figure 3: Origin of CTCs
- Figure 4: Processes of EMT
- Figure 5: Frequency of rare CTCs compared to other blood cells
- Figure 6: Sensitivity of techniques determines the application

Table 1: Comparison of biomarkers for the early detection of pancreatic cancer

# Table of contents

Summary	I
Zusammenfassung	II
List of abbreviations	IV
List of figures and tables	VII
Table of contents	VIII
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Cancer	1
1.1.1 Carcinogenesis	1
1.1.2 Cancer mutations	2
1.2 Cancer biomarker	3
1.3 Early diagnosis in pancreatic cancer	5
1.3.1 Biomarkers in pancreatic cancer	7
1.4 Liquid Biopsy	8
1.5 Circulating tumor DNA	9
1.5.1 Origin of circulating DNA	9
1.5.2 ctDNA as biomarker	10
1.6 Circulating tumor cells	12
1.6.1 Origin of circulating tumor cells and epithelial-mesenchymal transition	12
1.6.2 CTC isolation and detection	14
1.6.3 Challenges in CTC-isolation	14
1.6.4 CTCs as biomarker	15
1.7 Excursus: Personalized medicine	16
1.7.1 Lung cancer	16
1.7.2 Tumor heterogeneity and therapy success	17
1.7.3 Blood-based biomarker in lung cancer	19
1.8 Study design and patient samples	20
2 Aim and objectives	21
	VIII

3 Manuscripts 23	}
3.1 Detection of KRAS mutations in ctDNA by digital PCR in early stages of pancreatic cancer	3
3.2 Isolation of Circulating Tumor Cells from Pancreatic Cancer by Automated	
Filtration	)
3.2.1 Supplementary Figure 88	3
3.2.2 Supplementary Tables	2
3.3 Enumeration and Molecular Characterization of Tumor Cells in Lung Cancer	
Patients Using a Novel In vivo Device for Capturing Circulating Tumor Cells 94	ł
4 Overall discussion 106	5
4.1 Detection of mutations in liquid biopsies in early stages of pancreatic cancer 106	3
4.1.1 Circulating tumor DNA 106	3
4.1.2 Circulating tumor cells 111	i
4.2 Comparison of CTCs and ctDNA as potential diagnostic marker for the	
detection of pancreatic cancer in early stages 115	5
4.3 Excursus: Potential of CTCs for personalized medicine 118	3
5 Summary and Conclusion 119	¢
6 Bibliography 121	ł
7 Acknowledgement 149	•
8 Declaration	)

## **1** Introduction

## 1.1 Cancer

Cancer is the second leading cause of death worldwide presenting with more than hundred different types (Stratton et al., 2009; World Health Organization, 2017). The majority of cancers derive from epithelial tissue: the most prominent types are breast cancer in woman and lung cancer in men (World Health Organization, 2017). Despite tremendous research on therapies, the number of diagnosed cases will rise over the next decades due to the aging societies and growing populations (Torre et al., 2016). Cancer develops from the uncontrolled proliferation of formerly healthy cells forming a tumor. A tumor is described as a malignant or benign mass of cells. In contrast to benign tumors, malignant tumors are able to spread systemically around the body by entering the blood stream and invading other tissues.

## 1.1.1 Carcinogenesis

The complex evolution from normal, healthy tissue to malignant, metastasized tumors is called carcinogenesis. Different models of carcinogenesis have been reviewed (Vineis et al., 2010). In this thesis, carcinogenesis is defined as the classic genetic, multistep process and the Darwinian cell selection of mutated cells (Figure 1).



**Figure 1: Carcinogenesis**. Carcinogenesis is initiated by DNA-damaging initiators (Initiation). This DNA-damage is stably passed to daughter cells during mitosis. Once initiated cells are exposed to DNA-damaging promoters, carcinogenesis advances. The cells accumulate DNA mutations and the malignant transformation progresses (Promotion). The formed tumor can promote angiogenesis and subsequent migration from the primary site invading into distant organs leading to metastasis (Progression). This model shows a linear progress of the development. It is a classic theory to show the multi-event progress to tumor formation. However, the development towards malignancy is highly variable (modified after Liu et al., 2015).

Carcinogenesis is introduced by an initiator, e.g. chemical agents, physical exposure, or virus causing DNA damage by somatic mutations (Initiation) (Loeb and Harris, 2008). During mitosis, mutations are stably passed to the genome of daughter cells. The survival of the mutant cells is determined by Darwinian selection: only cells with survival benefit and autonomous growth advantages over surrounding cells are selected, thus resulting in clonal expansion of these cells (Stratton et al., 2009). Tumor formation progresses as other agents (Promotors) stimulate growth in initiated cells by e.g. alteration of gene expression or by binding to receptors (Promotion) (Liu et al., 2015). During promotion, somatic mutations accumulate leading to uncontrolled cellular growth (neoplasm) and clonal expansion of different subclones (Greaves and Maley, 2012). All malignant cells harbor the same characteristics like evading apoptosis, tissue invasion and limitless replicative potential (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000; 2011). Malignant transformation progresses to a metastatic disease (Progression) which is the ultimate cause of cancer-related death (Fidler, 2003).

The transition of a healthy cell to a tumor cell is highly variable. Initiation and promotion are not always linear as shown in Figure 1. Recent publications have shown that activation of the early oncogene *KRAS* (Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog) is needed for both initiating and maintaining of the tumor (Collins et al., 2012). Therefore, the definitions of initiation and promotion often merge, as single steps do not always cover the complex carcinogenesis.

#### 1.1.2 Cancer mutations

During carcinogenesis, somatic cancer mutations accumulate in the genome. Cancer mutations are grouped into two different types based on their consequences for the development of cancer: passenger and driver mutations (Stratton et al., 2009). Passenger mutations do marginally affect the progress of the disease. However, driver mutations are positively selected for growth advantages in the microenvironment and force the progression towards cell growth and malignancy.

Two types of mutations act as driver for malignant transformation: oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes. Oncogenes arise from activating mutations in their proto-oncogenes (gain of function). Oncogenes encode for proteins involved in excessive and uncontrolled growth like e.g. transcription factors, apoptotic regulation, growth factors and their receptors (Croce 2008). Mutations in proto-oncogenes are either point mutations

resulting in a slightly different protein that is constitutively active or gene amplification and chromosomal rearrangements, that result in the same protein but higher expression (Lodish et al., 2000). Point mutations and chromosomal rearrangements occur early during carcinogenesis, whereas gene amplification appears during progression of the disease (Croce 2008). Oncogenes are dominant meaning that one mutated allele out of the two is sufficient for induction or progression of cancer (Lodish et al., 2000). Mutations in the *RAS* (rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog) gene are an example of an oncogene. *KRAS* is the most prominently mutated *RAS* gene in cancer types and occurs early during carcinogenesis (Baines et al., 2011) providing a possible mutation for early diagnostic.

Tumor suppressor genes express proteins involved in many cellular processes, e.g. cell cycle checkpoint control or control of mitogenic signaling (Sherr, 2004). Mutations in tumor suppressor genes are usually deletions or point mutations that result in no or a non-functional protein (loss of function). Mutations in tumor suppressor genes are recessive. One mutant allele only renders a cell more susceptible to malignancy but does not advance the disease like oncogenes. Only the mutation of both alleles causes tumor progression (Lodish et al., 2000). The most prominent tumor suppressor gene is *TP53* (gene encoding protein 53) (Hollstein et al., 1991).

In summary, activated oncogenes lead to uncontrolled cellular growth and inactivated tumor suppressor genes to loss of growth control. One prominent example is the early oncogenic driver gene *KRAS* - a *RAS* gene that is frequently mutated in several cancers and which might hold the potential for an early diagnostic marker.

## 1.2 Cancer biomarker

A biomarker is a molecule that can be found in tissue and body fluids like blood or urine allowing to draw conclusions about a person's health condition (FDA-NIH Biomarker Working Group, 2016). The variety among biomarkers is high including proteins, nucleic acids, antibodies or pattern of these (Henry and Hayes, 2012). The presence or absence of a biomarker results in subgrouping of patients in biomarker positive or negative groups which are then guided to treatment according to the biomarker test results.

Biomarkers are grouped into several categories (definitions according to the FDA-NIH Biomarker Working Group, 2016). A prognostic biomarker determines the likelihood of a clinical outcome like relapse or disease progression of a patient. One example is the increase of PSA (prostate specific antigen) after prostatectomy in serum of prostate cancer patients. The population of diagnosed patients with increased PSA concentration shows worse overall survival compared to individuals with no increase of PSA (Roberts et al., 2001; Stamey et al., 1987). The detection of a prognostic biomarker does not aid the physician to select a target-specific therapy, but might help to consider other therapy options. The earlier the detection of a prognostic biomarker or a trend towards worse overall survival (e.g. increasing PSA-concentrations), the earlier the chemotherapy can be intensified.

On the contrary, a predictive biomarker aids patient management and helps to predict the response to a specific targeted therapy in terms of benefit or adverse effects. Unlike biomarker negative patients, patients with biomarker positive test results might benefit from a specific therapy. For example, *EGFR* (epithelial growth factor receptor)-mutated lung or colorectal tumors can be treated with EGFR-targeted therapy like erlotinib, gefitinib or cetuximab, but EGFR-negative tumors might not be affected by that therapy. Additional detection of *KRAS* mutations in *EGFR*-mutated lung or colorectal cancer is associated with poor response to this targeted therapy (Eberhard et al., 2005; Lièvre et al., 2006). KRAS constitutively activates the EGFR pathway which cannot be controlled by EGFR-targeted therapy (Langer, 2011). Therefore, *KRAS* mutations are a negative predictive biomarker for the success of targeted therapy in lung and colorectal cancer.

A diagnostic biomarker is used for screening or the early detection of a disease. One example is the characterization of mutant DNA in stool for the detection of colorectal cancer (Imperiale et al., 2014). The detection of mutated DNA in stool is associated with the presence of colorectal tumors that shed DNA in stool and leads to the beginning of therapy. Other biomarker categories include safety biomarker (likelihood of adverse effects before and after exposure to a substance), risk biomarker (the potential of developing a disease in currently healthy individuals), pharmacodynamic/response biomarker (occurrence of biological response when exposed to drugs) and monitoring biomarker (serial measurements to determine status of disease) (FDA-NIH Biomarker Working Group, 2016).

Despite these definitions, characterization of biomarkers is often not strict in the literature and types of biomarker may overlay. For example, PSA is a prognostic biomarker in diagnosed prostate cancer patients, but also a monitoring biomarker for the identification of the prognosis. Likewise, *KRAS* is a predictive biomarker for EGFR-targeted therapy but also has prognostic meaning as its detection is associated with disease progression (Eberhard et al., 2005)

Regardless of the tremendous amount of newly published biomarkers, only a minority of them are in routine clinical use. In fact, badly validated biomarkers or the absence of clinical utility often results in mistreatment and - in the worst case - harm for the patient (Henry and Hayes, 2012).

## 1.3 Early diagnosis in pancreatic cancer

Pancreatic cancer is a very fatal cancer type making it the fourth leading cause of cancer-related death in western countries (Siegel et al., 2016; Swords et al., 2016). The number of pancreatic cancer patients rises due to the demographic change in the aging society. By 2030, pancreatic cancer will be the second leading cause of death after lung cancer (Rahib et al., 2014). Ninety-five percent of pancreatic cancer patients suffer from PDAC (pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma), a type of cancer rising from the ducts of the exocrine part of the pancreas, so that the majority of pancreatic cancers are referred to this group of diseases (Becker et al., 2014). The prognosis of patients diagnosed with pancreatic cancer is poor and has hardly improved in the last decade. The 5-year overall survival rate is 8% and therefore very dismal (Siegel et al., 2016). This is also highly dependent on the stage as prognosis is worse in late stages (Siegel et al., 2016). The main known risk factors positively associated with pancreatic cancer are family hereditary, cigarette smoking and diabetes mellitus (Everhart and Wright, 1995; Fuchs et al., 1996; Klein et al., 2004). Several precursor lesions are also known to lead to pancreatic cancer over years, such as chronic pancreatitis, pancreatic intraepithelial or cystic neoplasms (Compagno and Oertel, 1978; Lohr et al., 2005; Malka et al., 2002).

The fatal progression of the disease is mainly due to several factors: first, early stages of pancreatic cancer are asymptomatic. Usually, symptoms for pancreatic cancer occur late in the disease progress and are mainly unspecific like appetite loss, abdominal pain and weight loss, thus delaying the diagnosis (Holly et al., 2004). Accordingly, patients are diagnosed late in the progression of the disease - usually at distant stage III or IV (Siegel et al., 2016). The staging of pancreatic cancer refers to stage I to IV. Stage I tumors have

not spread to lymph nodes or impacted surrounding tissue. Stage IIA tumors have dispersed beyond the pancreas, but have not spread to lymph nodes, whereas stage IIB tumors have. However, stage I and II are considered to not have invaded blood vessels and therefore are early stages. Stage III and V (metastatic) are late stages. The tumor has already invaded neighboring vessels and might have spread into distant body parts leading to metastasis (Allen et al., 2017). Only about 10% of the patients are diagnosed at early, non-metastatic and local stage eligible for resection of the pancreas (Siegel et al., 2016). Although surgery is the only curative treatment today, the majority of patients relapse with metastatic disease within the first year after resection of the tumor (Oettle et al., 2013). This leads to the hypothesis that pancreatic tumor cells have spread early and systemically (Rhim et al., 2012; Takai et al., 2015).

Second, druggable targets are rare in pancreatic cancer so that treatment options are limited. The most frequent driver mutations in pancreatic cancer are KRAS, TP53, SMAD4 (mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 4) and CDKN2A (cyclin-dependent kinase Inhibitor 2A). Several other genes are affected at a low frequency (<5%) resulting in multiple molecular alterations in the tumor (Bailey et al., 2016; Takai and Yachida, 2016; Waddell et al., 2015). Prevalence of KRAS mutations in tumor independent of stage is reported from 56-100% (Jones et al., 2008; Sanger Institute, 2017). Therefore, KRAS mutations represent the majority of genetic aberration in pancreatic cancer. The high prevalence supports the role of KRAS as early driver of neoplastic transformation during carcinogenesis and might provide a good target for early detection of the disease. Within the KRAS gene the majority of mutations in pancreatic cancer are mutated at Exon 2, with the most frequent mutations being at G12D (49%), G12V (32%) and G12R (13%) (Sanger Institute, 2017). If KRAS is mutated, the pathway cannot be regulated, resulting in uncontrolled growth and promotion of the tumor. Consequently, KRAS mutations are the main target for therapy. However, as KRAS has been considered a nonactionable oncogenic driver so far without effective therapy, survival of the patients has hardly improved within the last 30 years (Garrido-Laguna and Hidalgo, 2015; Sun et al., 2014). Recent studies on chemotherapy, e.g. albumin bound paclitaxel plus gemcitabine in metastatic PDAC, have only modestly extended the overall survival with partly severe side effects compared to standard gemcitabine monotherapy (Von Hoff et al., 2013). A study on combination chemotherapy called FOLFIRINOX (leucovorin, 5fluorouracil, irinotecan and oxaliplatin) in advanced pancreatic cancer reported extended overall survival. Due to its toxicity, its usage is limited to patients with good constitution.

The survival advantage was 11.1 months compared to 6.8 months with gemcitabine monotherapy (Conroy et al., 2011).

Additionally, the tumor content of the pancreas is low (Biankin et al., 2012). The tissue is densely packed with stromal cells (Boyd et al., 2009). Because of this desmoplastic microenvironment today's drugs might actually not reach the tumor tissue appropriately. Therefore, the influence of the microenvironment on therapy success comes to the fore for therapy development (Feig et al., 2012).

## 1.3.1 Biomarkers in pancreatic cancer

The evolution from stage I to stage IV pancreatic cancer takes around one year only, but the progression from healthy tissue to neoplasm takes about a decade allowing a feasible window for early detection of cancer (Yu et al., 2015). Today's possibilities for detection of pancreatic cancer are imaging and biomarker analysis. Their potential for screening and early detection is described in the following section.

Pancreatic cancer is usually diagnosed by highly-invasive EUS-FNA (endoscopic ultrasound fine needle aspiration), CT (computed tomography) or MRI (magnetic resonance imaging). EUS-FNA seems to be the most sensitive technique with low false positive rate especially for smaller tumors, however, it is also the most invasive method (Kulig et al., 2005; Rosch et al., 1991). Screening individuals with a hereditary risk for pancreatic cancer has been proven to identify neoplasia early, although the false negative rate of fine needle aspiration is up to 23% (Canto et al., 2004; Woolf et al., 2013).

To date, no sensitive and specific blood-based biomarkers for early detection of pancreatic cancers are in clinical use. The ideal screening assay would be minimally invasive, accurate through all stages, sensitive and specific. One possible, widely used serum marker is CA19.9 (carbohydrate antigen 19.9 or sialyl Lewis antigen). It is a tumor-associated glycoprotein that can be detected in serum by immunoassays (Del Villano et al., 1983). In already diagnosed patients the sensitivity (elevated level and cancer, mean: 78.2%) and specificity (low level and no cancer, mean: 82.8%) are reliably moderate but not accurate for diagnosis (Poruk et al., 2013). One large study by Kim et al. (2004) including 71 000 individuals evaluated that measurement of CA19.9 is not useful for screening asymptomatic persons. Patients with elevated CA19.9 level were followed and only 4 of the cohort developed pancreatic cancer. The poor clinical utility

was also reported by other studies (Chang et al., 2006; Homma and Tsuchiya, 1991). Among high-risk patients, measurement of CA19.9 also failed to detect early stages of pancreatic cancer with small cancer (Locker et al., 2006). Additionally, elevated levels of CA19.9 were observed in plasma of pancreatitis patients resulting in false positives (Rocha et al., 2007). Furthermore, biliary epithelial cells secrete CA19.9 as well so that plasma of patients suffering from biliary construction show elevated levels (Lin et al., 2014). Ten percent of patients do not express a functional Lewis-antigen and are non-secretors (Ørntoft et al., 1996; Tempero et al., 1987). Furthermore, different cut off values for the identification of a true positive case complicate the evaluation as biomarker. Therefore, recommendations for the clinical use of this marker only refer to patients already diagnosed with pancreatic cancer following pancreatectomy, but not for diagnostics (Locker et al., 2006). Several other serum markers like CEA (carcinoembryonic antigen), CA-125, CA-242 have been assessed for pancreatic cancer management and diagnosis but evaluation as biomarker failed (Duraker et al., 2007; Ni et al., 2005).

As neither an imaging technique nor a sensitive biomarker is accessible to date for early diagnosis in pancreatic cancer, a strong medical need drives towards new reliable biomarkers.

## 1.4 Liquid Biopsy

Biopsy of the tumor tissue is today's gold standard for diagnosing, staging a disease and therapy selection. But especially for pancreatic cancer tumor tissue is difficult to obtain as patients might experience rare but severe complications such as pancreatic main duct injury (Chung et al., 2012). Furthermore, highly invasive tissue biopsies are not feasible for either screening and early diagnosis of healthy individuals, or multiple biopsies for monitoring of the disease over time.

One tool to overcome these challenges might be liquid biopsy. It is the minimally invasive analysis of circulating biomarker originating from the tumor in body fluids, e.g. blood by peripheral blood draw. Liquid biopsy represents the systemic disease and the "real time" status of the tumor. Liquid biopsies have already been shown to be utilized for stratification of patients, monitoring under chemotherapy or detection of response to therapy (reviewed in Pantel and Alix-Panabières, 2013). As blood draws can be repeated multiple times, liquid biopsy provides a valuable tool for early diagnostics.

Whole blood contains different circulating biomarkers like cells, DNA, RNA, endosomes, and proteins that are still under evaluation for their clinical utility as biomarkers for diagnosis, prognosis, progression and response prediction. This thesis focuses on the comparison of circulating tumor DNA and circulating tumor cells as diagnostic biomarkers for the early detection of pancreatic cancer.

## 1.5 Circulating tumor DNA

## 1.5.1 Origin of circulating DNA

cfDNA (circulating free DNA) is isolated from urine or whole blood and was first described 1948 in plasma by Mandel and Metais (Mandel and Metais, 1948). cfDNA itself is not pathological but physiological, as it is also found in clinically healthy individuals and results from dving cells (Jahr et al., 2001; Page et al., 2013). Concentrations of cfDNA in healthy individuals are low and range from 3.6 – 10.4 ng/mL of plasma depending on the isolation methods (Suzuki et al., 2008; Yoon et al., 2009). cfDNA was also investigated in cancer patients (Leon et al., 1977; Stroun et al., 1987; Yoon et al., 2009). High levels of cfDNA were associated with overall tumor burden mainly in late, metastatic stages (Spindler et al., 2015; Yoon et al., 2009). Elevated levels of cfDNA as cancer biomarker are controversially discussed, as several parameters also increase the amount of cfDNA like exercising, inflammatory disease or myocardial infections (Breitbach et al., 2014; Chang et al., 2003; Zhong et al., 2007). This makes it difficult to determine a specific baseline related to cancer. Therefore, research focused on a plasma-based tumor source. Analysis of cfDNA revealed that genetic aberrations of the tumor were also found in plasma DNA (Vasioukhin et al., 1994). ctDNA (circulating tumor DNA) is defined as mutant DNA originating from a primary tumor or metastasis. It is a source of genetic information from the tumor co-isolated in a high background of contaminating wild-type cfDNA in the plasma.

Both cfDNA and ctDNA are reported to be released from the tumor, as depicted in the following Figure 2:



**Figure 2: Mechanisms of DNA release into blood.** Predominantly, apoptosis is published about cfDNA and ctDNA release in the blood. Necrosis and secretion of DNA have also been hypothesized but are a minor source of DNA to date (from Wan et al., 2017).

The predominantly published mechanism of DNA release in plasma is by apoptosis but is still under investigation. DNA is fragmented to chromatosome size of about 170bp (Jahr et al., 2001; Newman et al., 2014). This size is probably explained by a caspase-dependent endonuclease involved in the process of apoptosis cleaving DNA at specific sites (Lo et al., 2010; Mouliere and Rosenfeld, 2015). DNA released by necrosis results in larger genomic DNA (Wang et al., 2003). As shorter DNA fragments from plasma are observed, it is hypothesized that DNA is taken up by macrophages and partially digested (Diehl et al., 2005). Active release of DNA from cells, like secretion, is theorized as well but this still has not been proven in cancer patients (Anker et al., 1975). Efforts were made to trace back the size of the fragments to the existence of ctDNA in the background of cfDNA. But this resulted in contrary published results and has not been validated yet (Diehl et al., 2005; Heitzer et al., 2013; Mouliere et al., 2011).

#### 1.5.2 ctDNA as biomarker

The use of ctDNA as biomarker has already been described as prognostic in several tumor types. Here, the presence of ctDNA correlated with overall survival or tumor burden (Bettegowda et al., 2014; Dawson et al., 2013). But the presence of ctDNA as prognostic marker is controversially discussed by several groups and is largely dependent on isolation methods, cohort of patients and analyzing methods (Camps et al., 2011; Nygaard et al., 2013). Furthermore, ctDNA has already been defined in feasibility studies as predictive marker and useful for treatment monitoring in e.g.

colorectal (anti-EGFR treatment and *KRAS*) and lung cancer (*EGFR*-TKI (tyrosine kinase inhibitor) treatment and *EGFR* T790M) (Diaz et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2014). ctDNA for screening purpose is a rising field of interest but has not been as extensively analyzed as in patients with metastatic diseases (Haber and Velculescu, 2014). One reason for this is the relatively low ctDNA allelic frequency or number of detected mutant copies in early stages compared to metastatic or late stages (Speicher and Pantel, 2014).

The detection of genetic alterations in ctDNA in concordance to the aberrations in the tumor has been shown for several solid tumor types, e.g. head and neck, lung, breast, liver, prostate and colorectal cancer (Bettegowda et al., 2014; Dawson et al., 2013). Thereby, different genetic alterations, like copy number changes (Chan et al., 2013; Heitzer et al., 2013), methylation changes (Balgkouranidou et al., 2014), single-nucleotide mutations or genetic rearrangements (Diehl et al., 2008; McBride et al., 2010; Yung et al., 2009) were identified in ctDNA isolated from plasma.

#### Circulating tumor DNA in pancreatic cancer

Mutation detection in circulating DNA isolated from plasma of pancreatic cancer patients has been described in the literature several times. In the late 90s, DNA with highly prevalent mutant *KRAS* was analyzed in pancreatic cancer proving the feasibility of ctDNA in pancreatic cancer (Castells et al., 1999). Since then studies on ctDNA analysis in pancreatic cancer have increased. In advanced cancer, ctDNA has been described as prognostic marker because the prognosis for patients with detectable mutations is worse compared to patients without ctDNA (Sausen et al., 2015; Tjensvoll et al., 2016). In other studies, no correlation between clinical parameters like overall survival, tumor size or tumor stage has been described (Maire et al., 2002; Uemura et al., 2004). Furthermore, in patients who were monitored for several months after resection of the tumor progression of the disease was detected earlier than by conventional radiological monitoring methods, providing ctDNA as powerful tool in cancer management (Sausen et al., 2015; Tjensvoll et al., 2016).

Publications about analysis of ctDNA in pancreatic cancer strongly focus on late stages. Detection of ctDNA was more successful in advanced stages and worse in localized early stages (Bettegowda et al., 2014; Calvez-Kelm et al., 2016). Few studies on early stage pancreatic cancer with limited success have been published to date (Bettegowda

et al., 2014; Sausen et al., 2015; Takai et al., 2015) describing a potential value of ctDNA. ctDNA as diagnostic tool is investigated in this thesis.

## 1.6 Circulating tumor cells

## 1.6.1 Origin of circulating tumor cells and epithelial-mesenchymal transition

Circulating tumor cells (CTCs) originate from the primary tumor or metastasis and are isolated from whole blood. No CTC is found in blood of healthy donors (Allard et al., 2004). CTCs originate from solid epithelial tumors. Therefore, CTCs harbor epithelial characteristics. The widely accepted definition of a CTC is EpCAM (epithelial cell adhesion molecule)-positive, cytokeratin (cellular skeleton protein of epithelial cells)-positive, leukocyte marker (such as CD45 (cluster of differentiation 45)-negative and nucleated (Allard et al., 2004). They are potentially also bigger in size than other blood cells (Stoecklein et al., 2016). Blood cells on the other hand do not express epithelial markers.

The mechanism of the entry of CTCs into the blood stream is still unclear. Two mechanisms are discussed: passive shedding or active release (Figure 3).



**Figure 3: Origin of CTCs.** CTCs originate from the tumor by passive or active intravasation (left). CTCs are either shed passively keeping their epithelial character or undergo EMT (epithelialmesenchymal transition) to achieve mobile mesenchymal characteristics and evade the tissue. In the distance, CTCs might invade other tissue by MET (mesenchymal-epithelial transition) to develop metastasis (right) (from Joosse et al., 2015).

Cells might be shed mechanically and randomly in the blood stream by e.g. tumor growth or vessel acquisition (passive intravasation, Figure 3). Thereby, CTCs maintain their

epithelial character. If cells are released by active intravasation, an initial step called EMT (epithelial-mesenchymal transition) has to be initiated to migrate cells. During that process, cells lose their original, polar epithelia phenotype by detaching from the basal membrane and transition towards an invasive and motile mesenchymal phenotype (Figure 3 and 4).



**Figure 4: Processes of EMT.** During EMT, the polar and immotile epithelial cells transition towards an intermediate phenotype. Epithelial markers like EpCAM or cytokeratin are downregulated and mesenchymal marker are upregulated until a mesenchymal phenotype is obtained (from Kalluri and Weinberg, 2009).

Thereby, EpCAM and cytokeratin expression is downregulated and mesenchymal characteristic occur like upregulated expression of vimentin (mesenchymal cellular skeleton protein) (Figure 4, Kalluri and Weinberg, 2009).

While circulating in the blood stream, survival of CTCs is challenged by several factors including the immune system and shear stress. Compared to the number of shed cells, only a minority of cells survive and invade distant tissue (Gupta et al., 2005; Luzzi et al., 1998). Analysis of developing metastasis *in vivo* after injection of a definite number of cancer cells revealed that only 0.01% of injected cells form micrometastasis (Fidler, 1970, as cited in Fidler, 2003). As a mesenchymal phenotype is not prone for uncontrolled growth, shed cells undergo a reverse mechanism called MET (mesenchymal-epithelial transition) (Celia-Terrassa et al., 2012; Tam and Weinberg, 2013). An epithelial phenotype is acquired leading to metastasis or new carcinoma (Chaffer et al., 2006; Thiery, 2002).

#### 1.6.2 CTC isolation and detection

Usually 7.5 to 10 mL blood are used for the isolation of CTCs containing millions of other blood cells. Because of the tremendous numbers of contaminating blood cells (Figure 5) CTCs as rare cells have to be isolated by specific methods. Therefore, different methods have been developed using definite characteristics of the CTCs. The most established and published method is called CellSearch. It is an immunoaffinity technology positively enriching CTCs by the surface antigen EpCAM. Thereby, anti-EpCAM-coated magnetic particles isolate EpCAM-expressing CTCs from EpCAM-negative blood cells (Allard et al., 2004). CellSearch is also the only FDA (Food and Drug Administration)-cleared method for the isolation of CTCs of metastatic breast, colorectal and prostate cancer and their prognostic value to date (Janssen Diagnostics, 2017). The technology has been widely used as gold standard of CTC isolation and has been extended to the investigation of CTCs in other cancer types e.g. lung cancer (Krebs et al., 2011).



Figure 5: Frequency of rare CTCs compared to other blood cells. RBC = red blood cells; PLT = platelets; Gra = Granulocytes; Lym = Lymphocytes; Mon = monocytes (from Stoecklein et al., 2016).

After isolation, cells are detected by e.g. immunocytochemistry

and counted (enumeration). Epithelial marker such as cytokeratin and EpCAM are used to discriminate CTCs from residual contaminating blood cells. Predominantly, cytokeratin 8, 18, and 19 are used for detection by the FDA-cleared CellSearch (Allard et al., 2004; Wit et al., 2015).

## 1.6.3 Challenges in CTC-isolation

As mechanisms of EMT during tumor progression have raised interest among CTCresearch, doubts about the sufficient isolation of all subtypes of CTCs by EpCAM-based methods like CellSearch emerged (Gorges et al., 2012). This has led to a rising number of new technologies implementing other characteristics of CTCs including label-free methods like filtration (reviewed in Joosse et al., 2015). Filtration does not rely on EMT dependent surface markers but is based on the relatively bigger size of CTCs compared to most blood cells (Stoecklein et al., 2016). Size-based methods have shown improvement in both higher CTC numbers and isolation of subtypes of CTCs like EpCAM low or negative CTC by several groups independent of stage of the disease (Khoja et al., 2012; Krebs et al., 2012; Lecharpentier et al., 2011; Wit et al., 2015). Other efforts to overcome the challenge of isolating all subtypes were serial isolation of CTCs first by CellSearch and subsequent processing of its waste through a sieve (Wit et al., 2015). Higher numbers of CTCs were obtained combining both methods showing the missing of subtypes by CellSearch. Publications of other techniques also emerged because of the limited success of label-dependent methods in early compared to metastatic stages (Alix-Panabieres and Pantel, 2016). Another issue is the discrimination between malignant and non-malignant disease by only number of CTCs. This might be difficult due to circulating epithelial cells in non-malignant disease that are stained by cytokeratin (Tanaka et al., 2009). This urges for additional downstream analysis to detect the true malignant origin.

Besides the challenge of capturing all CTCs of different stages, another obstacle is the amount of processed blood. 7.5 to 10 mL whole blood or less are used for capturing of cells (Coumans et al., 2012). To overcome this, a method for enrichment of leukocytes including CTCs called DLA (diagnostic leukapheresis) has been successfully suggested for the detection of CTCs (Fischer et al., 2013). During extracorporeal centrifugation of whole blood all constituents are separated by density. CTCs can be found in the layer of mononuclear cells. Leukapheresis is routinely used in the clinics for e.g. stem cell harvest (Malachowski et al., 1992).

Another technique to overcome the challenge of limited blood volume is an *in vivo* approach. A medical wire coated with anti-EpCAM antibodies is introduced into the patient's vein for 30 minutes resulting in the efficient passage of an estimated blood volume of 1.5-3 L (Saucedo-Zeni et al., 2012).

#### 1.6.4 CTCs as biomarker

CTC counts determined by CellSearch are a validated prognostic biomarker in metastatic breast, colorectal and prostate cancer above a threshold of 3 (colorectal) or 5 (breast, prostate) CTCs per 7.5 mL of blood (Cohen et al., 2009; Cristofanilli et al., 2004; de Bono et al., 2008). Besides breast, colorectal and prostate cancer, the number of CTCs has also been published to be prognostic in e.g. lung and bladder cancer (Gazzaniga et al., 2012; Krebs et al., 2011). CTCs as source for possible predictive biomarker were described in isolated CTCs from e.g. breast, or colorectal cancer for late stages (Mostert

et al., 2013; Tewes et al., 2008). In addition to their prognostic value and their use for analysis of predictive biomarkers in the CTCs, CTCs themselves may be used as diagnostic biomarker. In breast cancer patients diagnosed with early stages of cancer CTCs were successfully detected (Nakagawa et al., 2007).

#### CTCs in pancreatic cancer

The clinical utility of CTCs in pancreatic cancer as biomarker has not been investigated as widely as in other indications like breast cancer. The original CellSearch manuscript reported the number of CTC-positive pancreatic cancer patients and the number of CTCs per mL blood itself as very low amongst all entities (Allard et al., 2004). This was also confirmed by other workgroups (Bidard et al., 2013; Khan et al., 2011). Increased CTC counts in pancreatic cancer isolated by CellSearch were correlated to worse overall survival (Kurihara et al., 2008). Nevertheless, the detection rates of CTCs in both operable and inoperable pancreatic cancer samples throughout all stages range from 5 to 100% (Bidard et al., 2013; reviewed in Nagrath et al., 2016). One *in vivo* study suggested an early loss of epithelial markers in pancreatic cancer and would also show an incomplete picture of the disease. The number of CTCs in early stages of pancreatic cancer was already reported as low (Ankeny et al., 2016). The diagnostic utility of CTCs is investigated in this thesis.

## 1.7 Excursus: Personalized medicine

## 1.7.1 Lung cancer

Comparison of ctDNA and CTCs for diagnostic utility in pancreatic cancer is the main topic of this thesis. As to date no actionable, feasible mutations have been found in pancreatic cancer, cancer management still relies on traditional chemotherapy. Personalized medicine has been a rising field to guide individual therapy, but is not feasible in pancreatic cancer to date. As an excursus to the research on CTCs as diagnostic biomarker, CTCs are also evaluated in lung cancer as source of predictive biomarkers because targeted therapies are available.

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer-related death and will continue to remain so (Rahib et al., 2014; World Health Organization, 2017). Like in pancreatic cancer, surgery is the only curative treatment but only eligible in early stages. In more than 70% of the patients, surgery is not curative as patients present themselves with late stages (Travis et al., 2013). The 5-year overall survival rate is dependent on the stage: 58-73% (stage I) and 13% (stage IV) (Tanoue and Detterbeck, 2009). The absence of sensitive screening assays and unspecific symptoms cause the late diagnosis of lung cancer (Xiang et al., 2013). In patients with resected tumors the recurrence rate is already about 30% (Kelsey et al., 2009). Reasons for this might be on the one hand the early invasive characteristics resulting in early spread of tumor cells and on the other hand ineffective treatments that lead to progression of the disease.

The most common risk factor for lung cancer is tobacco (75-90%) (Sasco et al., 2004). Lung cancer is subgrouped into two different histological types: SCLC (small cell lung cancer) and NSCLC (non-small cell lung cancer). SCLC accounts for 15% of the tumors; 85% of cases are NSCLC, whereby the majority of them are adenocarcinoma (Herbst et al., 2008).

## 1.7.2 Tumor heterogeneity and therapy success

Surgery or other therapy recommendations depend on type of histology including molecular footprint of the tumor, staging, and general constitution of the patient (Lemjabbar-Alaoui et al., 2015). Biopsy of the tissue is the gold standard for diagnosis and treatment decisions. But a single tissue biopsy at the time of diagnosis only provides a snapshot of the biopsied tumor part (Gerlinger et al., 2012). During years of research, heterogeneity has become a challenge for therapy success. Heterogeneity is defined by phenotypic or genotypic differences between tumors (inter-tumor) and within a tumor (intra-tumor). Inter-tumor heterogeneity describes the variations between different tumors arising from the same tissue. Sequencing of lung tumor tissues has shown multiple and different genetic alterations (Ding et al., 2008). In contrast, intra-tumor heterogeneity is found within one tumor of one individual patient. This challenge of heterogeneity is partly overcome by subgrouping specific cancer types by tissue characteristics (like phenotypic (histological) or genotypic (mutations)) and guiding cancer management by personalized

medicine (Burrell et al., 2013). Adjuvant first line treatment of advanced lung cancer patients is platinum-based combination chemotherapy and/or radiation, but their clinical utility is restricted by severe side effects (Rajeswaran et al., 2008). Therefore, targeted therapies have been developed for patients who are positive for specific biomarkers. These therapies have a broader therapeutic window between side effects and response for the subset of biomarker positive patients.

Targeted therapy has mainly focused on NSCLC for the last years (Ridge et al., 2013). Since molecular aberrations in lung cancer were discovered, targeted therapy like anti-EGFR therapy evolved. Mutations are tested on tumor tissue at time of diagnosis which is obtained by highly invasive biopsy to stratify patients. Patients with EGFR mutant tumors especially with exon 19 deletions and activating L858R mutation benefit significantly from combination or monotherapy with targeted treatment by EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (EGFR-TKIs) like erlotinib or gefitinib compared to standard first line therapy alone (Eberhard et al., 2005; Mitsudomi et al., 2010; Rosell et al., 2012). Progression free survival as well as reduction of symptoms but not prolonged overall survival are observed (Rosell et al., 2012). Additionally, anti-EGFR monoclonal antibodies like cetuximab binding to the extracellular domain of the EGFR are evaluated for treatment of confirmed EGFR-expressing lung cancer. Promising results are obtained in terms of progression free survival compared to chemotherapy (Pirker et al., 2009). Nevertheless, intra-tumor heterogeneity within a tumor of a single patient remains a major cause for resistance to targeted therapy. Intrinsic resistance describes the preexistence of mutant clones responsible for therapy failure that might also be missed by the initial single tumor biopsy. Acquired resistance is the progression of the disease after benefiting from a specific therapy, as the resistant mutant clone grow *de novo* under therapy (Burrell and Swanton, 2014). Under chemotherapy, different clones with an alternative driver or a resistance mutation can expand rapidly under selective pressure of the therapy. Besides EGFR (26%), KRAS (21%) is amongst the most common oncogenic drivers in NSCLC (Sanger Institute, 2017). But mutations in KRAS are suggested as negative predictor of therapy (Eberhard et al., 2005; Sun et al., 2013). Mutant KRAS can be responsible for the poor response to EGFR-targeted treatment as it is downstream of EGFR resulting in autologous activation of the EGFR/KRAS pathway (see 1.2 Cancer biomarker). Patients with KRAS-positive tumors treated with EGFR-TKI might also experience reduced survival compared to standard chemotherapy (Eberhard et al., 2005). Another resistance mutation is EGFR T790M point mutation resulting in poor response to the EGFR-targeted therapy. After initial benefit of the EGFR-targeted

therapy, patients suffer a relapse under treatment. T790M mutation usually occurs *de novo* under treatment in about 50% of *EGFR*-TKI treated patients coexisting with the druggable *EGFR* target (Pao et al., 2005; Sequist et al., 2011). Newer studies also suggest that *EGFR*-TKI-naïve tumors can harbor T790M mutation that leads to initial resistance by selection of clones during treatment (Su et al., 2012). If a resistance mutation is detected, the result might lead to the change of therapy, e.g. to T790M-targeted therapy by Osimertinib (Cross et al., 2014). Additionally, under EGFR therapy, amplification of the MET-gene can accumulate which is also known as a reason for poor response to EGFR therapy (3% in therapy-naïve tumors to 21% after treatment, Bean et al., 2007). If detected, treatment might be changed to MET-targeted therapy like Crizotinib (Rodig and Shapiro, 2010; Tanizaki et al., 2011). Despite numerous resistance mutations in NSCLC, this thesis focuses on *KRAS* mutations.

Multiple re-biopsies need to be taken to identify resistance mutations under therapy. Traditional tissue biopsies are associated with significant risk. In patients with lung biopsy up to a third might suffer from pneumothorax (Laurent et al., 2000; Tomiyama et al., 2006). Tissue biopsy is not intended for serial biopsy and monitoring for adjusting treatment regimes. Therefore, potential targeted therapy for personalized medicine in lung cancer is available but the detection of resistance is still highly invasive.

## 1.7.3 Blood-based biomarker in lung cancer

To date, no evaluated reliable blood test is in clinical use to monitor lung cancer patients for e.g. acquired resistance to therapy. The earlier the mutations are detected under therapy, the earlier the change of the treatment for the benefit of the patient, thus revealing a high need for biomarkers. To date, no mutation-specific minimally invasive blood biomarker for the monitoring of lung cancer is in routine clinical use. Serum- or plasma-based minimally invasive biomarkers are not successful to date. CEA as serum biomarker has been analyzed in lung cancer in a variety of studies with different conclusions (Grunnet and Sorensen, 2012). Like in pancreatic cancer, analysis of CEA in lung cancer obtains false positive results or the results of the studies are not directly comparable due to different cut off values. Another serum-based biomarker is Cyfra 21-1. It is the fragment of cytokeratin 19 that is released into the blood during transformation of the cells and subsequent initiation of apoptosis. In patients with advanced lung cancer Cyfra 21-1 is detected by antibody staining with high specificity (94%) and high sensitivity (59%) in NSLCL but very low sensitivity in small cell lung cancer (19%) (Wieskopf et al.,

1995), thus leading to false negative results. The prognostic value of Cyfra 21-1 is debated, but was shown in advanced cancers (Ono et al., 2013).

No easily accessible blood marker to date has the potential of stratifying patients into different target specific treatment regimes. As liquid biopsy represents the systemic disease, it is therefore less prone to missing intra-tumor heterogeneity (Diaz and Bardelli, 2014). Liquid biopsy might be a useful source for genetic information of the tumor that can be easily accessed and repeated in lung cancer patients.

#### CTCs in lung cancer

The isolation of CTCs from lung cancer patients was described by several groups. Allard et al. published detection rates of  $\geq$  2CTCs of lung cancer sample in 20% of cases (Allard et al., 2004). Higher detection rates were achieved by size-based technologies (Hvichia et al., 2016; Krebs et al., 2012). One reason for that might be a subset of CTCs harboring epithelial and mesenchymal characteristics (Lecharpentier et al., 2011; Wu et al., 2015). Screening of individuals with precursor lesions for lung cancer have shown the potential of a minimally invasive early diagnosis in cancer patients (Ilie et al., 2014). CTCs in lung cancer have been described as successful prognostic marker. High numbers of CTCs were negatively correlated with progression free survival and overall survival by several groups especially under treatment (Hofman et al., 2011; Punnoose et al., 2012). Furthermore, molecular analysis of captured CTCs revealed information about *EGFR* mutations and response to therapy or therapy resistance (Breitenbuecher et al., 2014; Maheswaran et al., 2008).

## 1.8 Study design and patient samples

Two independent studies with human patient samples were performed to evaluate both CTCs and ctDNA as early diagnostic biomarker in pancreatic cancer. Another study was performed to describe improved sensitive detection of CTCs in lung cancer and their predictive potential by molecular characterization.

The first study evaluated the potential of *KRAS* mutations in ctDNA as diagnostic biomarker. Fifty, retrospectively collected matched tumor and plasma samples from pancreatic cancer patients and 20 healthy individuals were analyzed by digital PCR.

Patients were predominantly diagnosed with stage I and II (41/50). Tumor- and plasma-DNA was analyzed for highly prevalent *KRAS* mutations G12D, G12V and G12C, if applicable. Outcome was the detection rate of mutations in tumor positive and plasma positive samples as well as their concordances.

The second study addressed the feasibility of CTC enumeration in frozen DLA and their possible characterization by detection of *KRAS* mutations in metastatic and non-metastatic pancreatic cancer. Nineteen, retrospectively collected cryopreserved DLA products from pancreatic cancer patients (10 non-metastatic (M0) and 9 metastatic (M1)) were filtered for CTCs and analyzed by subsequent *KRAS* mutational analysis. The outcome was the number of CTCs and potential *KRAS* mutations.

As continuative excursus, another study was conducted to evaluate the significance of CTCs in lung cancer and the subsequent molecular characterization of the CTCs. Whole blood and captured cells on an *in vivo* wire were collected prospectively. The outcome is described as number of CTCs also during serial measurements (monitoring) and mutational characterization.

Ethical statements for all patient samples can be found in each manuscript.

## 2 Aim and objectives

Successful cancer therapy depends on early diagnosis followed by surgery and selection of the appropriate treatment. Current standard of diagnosis and determination of mutational landscape of tumors is highly invasive biopsy of the tissue. Minimally invasive blood-based liquid biopsies provide e.g. ctDNA and CTCs originating from the primary tumor or metastasis. However, there are still challenges in isolation and analysis of these cells and molecules as both are rare events in a high background of blood cells or nucleotides. Especially in pancreatic cancer, published studies strongly focus on late stages.

The aim of this thesis was to discuss ctDNA and CTCs as potential diagnostic biomarker in early stages of pancreatic cancer by optimizing the analysis of ctDNA and CTCs for early diagnosis. Two independent studies on samples of patients diagnosed with early and non-metastatic pancreatic cancer should be conducted and the outcome compared in order to conclude about a possible diagnostic marker in pancreatic cancer. Digital PCR should be evaluated for the sensitivity and specificity for mutant alleles isolated from plasma or CTCs. For ctDNA, an optimized workflow for isolating fragmented DNA from plasma, enriching these fragments and subsequent detection of mutant alleles by digital PCR should be established to detect a limit of detection. To determine the diagnostic utility of ctDNA as early marker, this workflow shall then be applied to 50 tumor and matching plasma samples from patients diagnosed with early stages of pancreatic cancer.

The isolation of CTCs from frozen DLA samples of non-metastatic and metastatic pancreatic cancer patients should be evaluated by testing two different isolation approaches and subsequent molecular analysis. Pancreatic cancer cells as model shall be characterized and spiked into and recovered from whole blood and frozen DLA. Mutational downstream analysis by digital PCR aimed to determine true tumorous origin. The diagnostic utility should be tested on 19 frozen DLA samples from both metastatic and non-metastatic pancreatic cancer patients.

The outcome of both studies aimed to evaluate a possible biomarker for early diagnosis of pancreatic cancer.

Additionally, as an excursus to the diagnostic potential, CTCs isolated by an EpCAMcoated wire inserted into the vein of lung cancer patients shall be evaluated for sensitive detection, possibility of monitoring and characterization of mutations by digital PCR. Thereby, the feasibility of CTCs as monitoring and predictive marker shall be determined.

## 3 Manuscripts

# 3.1 Detection of *KRAS* mutations in ctDNA by digital PCR in early stages of pancreatic cancer

Nora Brychta, Thomas Krahn, Oliver von Ahsen

Clinical Chemistry Nov 2016, 62 (11) 1482-1491.

Name of the journal: Clinical Chemistry

Status: accepted

DOI: 10.1373/clinchem.2016.257469

Impact Factor (2016): 8,008

Authorship: First Author

Contribution: 80%

- establishment of workflow
- design and realization of experiments as well as analysis of data
- assistance with manuscript writing including visualization of data
- editing manuscript and data after review

URL: http://clinchem.aaccjnls.org/content/early/2016/08/30/clinchem.2016.257469

# **3.2 Isolation of Circulating Tumor Cells from Pancreatic Cancer by Automated Filtration**

<u>Nora Brychta\*</u>, Michael Drosch\*, Christiane Driemel, Johannes C. Fischer, Rui P. Neves, Wolfram Knoefel, Birte Moehlendick, Claudia Hille, Antje Stresemann, Thomas Krahn, Matthias U. Kassack, Nikolas H. Stoecklein and Oliver von Ahsen

Name of the journal: Oncotarget

Status: under review, # 029460

Impact Factor (2016): 5,168

Authorship: Shared First Author (\*)

Contribution: 40%

- Study conception
- Setup of IsoFlux-Experiments
- CTC-experiments
- Development of mutation detection
- Performance of experiments and data collection
- Writing manuscript and visualization of data
# Isolation of Circulating Tumor Cells from Pancreatic Cancer by Automated Filtration

Nora Brychta\* [1], Michael Drosch\* [1], Christiane Driemel [2], Johannes C. Fischer [3], Rui PL Neves [2], Irene Esposito [4], Wolfram T Knoefel [2], Birte Möhlendick [2], Claudia Hille [1,6], Antje Stresemann [1], Thomas Krahn [1], Matthias U. Kassack [5], Nikolas H. Stoecklein [2]<sup>+</sup> and Oliver von Ahsen [1]<sup>+</sup>,

\* both authors contributed equally to this work

+ corresponding authors

Affiliations:

[1] Bayer AG, Biomarker Research, Muellerstraße 178, 13353 Berlin, Germany

[2] Department of General, Visceral and Pediatric Surgery, Medical Faculty, University Hospital of the Heinrich-Heine-University Duesseldorf, Moorenstraße 5D, 40225 Duesseldorf, Germany

[3] Institute for Transplantation Diagnostics and Cell Therapeutics, Medical Faculty, University Hospital of the Heinrich-Heine-University Duesseldorf, Moorenstraße 5, 40225 Duesseldorf, Germany

[4] Institute of Pathology, Heinrich-Heine-University of Duesseldorf, Moorenstr. 5, 40225 Duesseldorf

[5] Institute of Pharmaceutical & Medicinal Chemistry, University of Duesseldorf, Universitaetsstrasse 1, 40225 Duesseldorf, Germany

[6] current affiliation: University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Department of Tumor Biology, Martinistr. 52, 20246 Hamburg, Germany

Corresponding authors/Contact information:

Oliver von Ahsen, Bayer AG, Biomarker Research, Muellerstraße 178, 13353 Berlin Germany, Phone: +49-30-468-192280, FAX: +49-30468-992280, Email: oliver.vonahsen@bayer.com

Nikolas H. Stoecklein, Department of General, Visceral and Pediatric Surgery, Medical Faculty, University Hospital of the Heinrich-Heine-University Duesseldorf, Moorenstraße 5D, 40225 Duesseldorf, Germany, Phone: +49(0)2118104109, FAX: +49(0)2118119205, Email: nikolas.stoecklein@uni-duesseldorf.de

Keywords: Pancreatic cancer, circulating tumor cells, *KRAS*, diagnostic leukapheresis, EMT

# Abstract

It is now widely recognized that the isolation of circulating tumor cells based on cell surface markers might be hindered by variability in their protein expression. Especially in pancreatic cancer, isolation based only on EpCAM expression has produced very diverse results. Methods that are independent of surface markers and therefore independent of phenotypical changes in the circulating cells might increase CTC recovery also in pancreatic cancer. We compared an EpCAM-dependent (IsoFlux) and a size-dependent (automated Siemens filtration device) isolation method for the enrichment of pancreatic cancer CTCs. The recovery rate of the filtration based approach is dramatically superior to the EpCAM-dependent: 1%). As storage and shipment of clinical samples is important for centralized analyses, we also evaluated the use of frozen diagnostic leukapheresis (DLA) as source for isolating CTCs and subsequent genetic analysis such as *KRAS* mutation detection analysis. Using frozen DLA samples of pancreatic cancer patients we detected CTCs in 42% of the samples.

## Introduction

Pancreatic cancer is among the most lethal cancer diseases worldwide and the cases of newly diagnosed patients will raise further in the following years due to the demographic changes in the developed countries [1]. The 5-year survival rate of patients diagnosed with pancreatic cancer is still below 10% [2]. Major reason for this is the lack of effective screening for early detection and the usually late diagnosis due to nonspecific symptoms late in the progress of the disease. Nowadays, resection of the tumor is the only curative treatment. As metastasis occurs after initial tumor progression [3], early detection is of utmost importance for successful treatment. Pancreatic cancer seems to disseminate tumor cells relatively early as it has been shown that patients undergoing pancreatectomy for tumors smaller than 2 cm have less than 18% 5 years survival [4]. Even some patients after pancreatectomy for chronic pancreatitis develop disseminated pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) although no tumors were found in the primary resectate [5]. However, until today no early screening tests are in routine clinical use [6]. CA19.9 is the only biomarker used to support diagnosis and response monitoring marker but is not sensitive enough for early detection [7].

One alternative diagnostic tool might be blood based biomarkers like circulating tumor cells (CTCs). The relevance of CTCs in pancreatic cancer has recently been reviewed [8, 9]. CTCs originate from the tumor, are shed from tissue into the blood stream and may be representative of the systemic disease [10]. On the other hand, CTCs are rare cells occurring in very low concentration in the peripheral blood which makes their detection challenging [11]. Several methods for isolation of CTCs have been used to isolate these cells utilizing different characteristics of the tumorous cells like surface marker or size [12]. One widely used surface marker is the epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM). EpCAM is expressed on cells derived from epithelial tumors including CTCs but not on regular blood cells such as leukocytes [13]. Since the EpCAM-based isolation of CTCs

(CellSearch) is FDA-approved for metastatic breast, prostate and colorectal cancer, it is the gold standard for CTC research and the number of CTCs was already described as prognostic for survival in these indications [14-16].

Although most pancreatic tumors are EpCAM-positive (96%) [17], the expression levels of EpCAM are heterogenous with only half of the tumors showing strong expression [18, 19]. This may explain why both the number of EpCAM-captured CTCs and also the number of CTC-positive patient cases is low [13, 20, 21]. The original publication on the CellSearch-Device describes the CTC-numbers in PDAC as lowest of all indications even in samples from metastatic patients compared to breast, colorectal or prostate cancer [13]. Although most studies showed comparably low numbers of CTCs in pancreatic cancer, the reported detection rates range from 5-100% depending on the volume of blood, isolation method and staining technique [20, 22-24]. This strong variability in the results hints to the strong need of better definition of CTC properties and careful validation of the technologies used.

A major obstacle for EpCAM based CTC isolation is the epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) often observed with CTCs [25-27]. For pancreatic cancer this has already been described *in vivo* showing the loss of epithelial markers at an early development [28]. Therefore, an antigen-dependent approach for CTC isolation is especially difficult in pancreatic cancer [23, 29]. In addition to EMT other mechanisms of EpCAM downregulation such as internalization, proteolysis and promotor methylation have been described that may reduce the success rate of CTC isolation, as reviewed by Gires and Stoecklein [30].

Consequently, antigen-independent capturing strategies of CTCs emerged to overcome the challenge of detecting all phenotypic variants of CTCs. One possible alternative to the immune-affinity purification might be the filtration of CTCs. A pilot study by Khoja et al. already showed very promising results by using a filtration method (ISET) in

pancreatic cancer [31]. In order to increase throughput and standardize handling, automation is the ultimate goal for clinical devices. Therefore we tested an automated filtration-platform produced by Siemens [32].

Since the enumeration of CTCs solely based on EpCAM expression (or that of other epithelial markers like cytokeratins) may not be sufficient for unequivocal identification of cancer cells due to EMT, downstream analysis becomes important for defining truly tumor-derived cells. In pancreatic cancer, *KRAS* mutations are commonly used to detect malignant cells, because of their high prevalence of 57% [33]. This has been successfully been used for CTCs isolated by other techniques [22] but one group also reported non-matching *KRAS* status between tumor and CTCs in some cases [34].

In this work, we compare two different isolation techniques with automated devices (EpCAM dependent immune-affinity purification and filtration by size) for efficient capturing of cells in whole blood following *KRAS*-mutational analysis. A proof of concept study with frozen diagnostic leukapheresis samples was performed to determine the possibility of improved CTC detection in stored frozen patient samples.

# Results

Here we compare two methods for isolation of pancreatic cancer circulating tumor cells. Cultured cells spiked in whole blood were used to test the performance of the methods. As EpCAM expression is highly variable within CTC-populations we selected three different pancreatic cancer cell lines that express different levels of EpCAM for the required spike-in experiments (Figure 1): Capan1 as high, BxPc3 as medium and Panc1 as low EpCAM expressing cell lines. The breast cancer cell line SkBr3 was additionally used as reference cell line as it was frequently used for the evaluation of analytical devices [32, 35]. Detection of CTCs is routinely performed by cytokeratin staining as marker for the epithelial origin of the cells. Therefore, we also included cytokeratin stainings in Figure 1. In addition to differences in EpCAM expression, cytokeratin levels also vary between cell lines. Pancreatic cancer cells express predominantly cytokeratins 7, 8, 13, 18 and 19 (Supplementary Table 1). Most pan-cytokeratin antibodies like AE1/AE3 miss one or more of these cytokeratins. Therefore we developed an antibody cocktail that covers all the cytokeratins expressed in pancreatic cancer (Supplementary Table 2). By using this panel of cytokeratin antibodies, we enhanced the signal for all 4 cell lines tested to a similar fluorescence intensity level independent of the predominant cytokeratin isoform (Figure 1).

Next we determined the performance of two different CTC isolation methods by spiking cells into whole blood. We used an EpCAM-dependent immune-affinity approach and a filtration method to examine if the variable EpCAM expression in pancreatic cancer cells has an impact on the recovery rate. One, 3, 10 and 30 cells each were spiked in whole blood and subjected to the respective isolation procedures. The average recovery rate in the IsoFlux device is highly dependent on EpCAM expression (mean: 1-27%, Figure 2A and Supplementary Figure 1 for the individual numbers) compared to the size-dependent method which recovered in average 52-68% of the spiked cells (Figure 2B and Supplementary Figure 1 for the individual numbers). Therefore filtration gives a much more robust result throughout the variety EpCAM-expression in cell lines. Before subjecting the sample to the IsoFlux device, whole blood is separated by a FicoII density gradient. This might result in a loss of CTCs which has been previously reported [13, 36]. As the used beads are rather big, the staining might be obscured by the beads (Figures 2C and Supplementary Figure 2) and hinder the detection. Figure 2C displays representative pictures of Capan1 cells isolated by the two different methods (see also Supplementary Figure 2 and 3 for all cell lines). Cells on the filters show better visual quality compared to the cells covered with magnetic beads which disturb the imaging. The detection rate of the breast cancer cell line SkBr3 was higher in both methods (mean

IsoFlux: 49%, mean filtration: 80%) owing to the very high EpCAM expression and the large cell size compared to the pancreatic cancer cell lines. We conclude that filtration is superior to surface antigen-dependent isolation of CTCs.

As whole blood samples cannot be stored and shipped easily and also to increase the amount of input material, we examined another clinical sample type, frozen apheresate, originating from diagnostic leukapheresis (DLA). DLA is a blood preparation highly enriched in mononuclear cells. It has been shown that in CTCs co-enrich in the mononuclear fraction [11]. In the present study 2mL of DLA product correspond to 60mL whole blood sample in terms of white blood cell counts. The DLA can be frozen and is therefore ideal for potential use in larger clinical studies. To test the performance of filtration after freezing and thawing of the DLA product we tested the recovery rate of Capan1 and Panc1 cells spiked in healthy donor DLA. The detection rate of the isolated cells was similar to those isolated from whole blood (Figure 3A and Supplementary Figure 4). When cultured cells were spiked in freshly prepared buffy coat, frozen, stored for several weeks and thawed using our established protocol the cell recovery was similar (Supplementary Figure 5). Representative pictures also show that cells stay intact during thawing (Figure 3B) as the morphology is similar to the cells isolated from whole blood (Figure 2C). Therefore the use of frozen DLA product as a source for CTC isolation is feasible.

After validation of input material and the preanalytical procedures we next used the filtration method to analyze DLA samples of pancreatic cancer patients. We detected CTCs in 42% (8/19) of the patient samples. We did not find a higher prevalence of CTC positivity in metastatic cases: 44% in M1 (4/9) and 40% in M0 (4/10) (Table 1). However, higher numbers of CTCs were found in patients diagnosed with distant metastasis.

In order to confirm the identity of the isolated cells as cancer derived CTCs we developed a method for mutational analysis of isolated CTCs picked from the filter

(Figure 4). After enumeration of the cells by fluorescence microscopy, we punched out single CTCs and subjected them to whole genome amplification (WGA) followed by digital PCR analysis for *KRAS* G12D and G12V. *KRAS* mutations were detected in both punches of whole blood and punches of DLA spiked with Capan1 (G12V) or Panc1 (G12D).

After establishing the dPCR analysis for isolated CTCs, we then used another aliquot of the same frozen pancreatic patients DLA to test the mutational analysis in patients CTCs. In this second round of analysis using only half of the input material, we detected CTCs in only 11% of the samples (2/19; M1 (22% (2/9)), M0 (0%, 0/10)). However, in the two samples of metastatic patients that gave the highest number of CTCs during the first test run, the presence of CTCs could be confirmed in similar numbers. In mutational analysis, both patients were *KRAS* negative while internal performance control for the mutation assays were positive (Table 2). For both patients, we sequenced the *KRAS* gene in primary tumor samples. Both tumors were wild-type for *KRAS* consistent with the CTC result (Supplementary Figure 6). In the samples of both patients we detected CTCs that were EpCAM-positive and EpCAM-negative showing the heterogeneity of CTC populations (Figure 5 and Supplementary Figure 7).

# Discussion

In this study we show the superiority of filtering of CTCs in comparison to EpCAMdependent capturing of CTCs. Using spike-in samples of well characterized cultured cells, we obtained very clear results showing that filtration is superior to EpCAMdependent enrichment especially for EpCAM low expressing cells. However, using this approach for clinical samples we still obtained a relatively low frequency of CTC positive patients. We detected CTCs in 8/19 cases in the first round of analysis. In the second

analysis with less available input material, we could confirm the presence of CTCs in the two metastatic disease cases that also showed high CTC counts in the first analysis. The low frequency and number of CTCs despite the use of large amount of input material shows the limited clinical utility of this system in pancreatic cancer. Isolation of CTCs in pancreatic cancer has been recently reviewed [9]. This comprehensive overview reported a remarkable variation in detection rates and numbers of CTCs per ml between the different approaches tested. The reported detection rates range from 5% to 100% with a huge variability, essentially allowing no conclusion on the most suitable method. Interestingly the highest detection rates were reported using EpCAM-based methods.

The isolation of circulating tumor cells (CTCs) from patient samples faces several challenges: 1) Pre-analytical conditions (blood sampling, handling, storage and shipment), 2) Capturing of all phenotypical CTC subtypes, 3) Unequivocal definition of true CTCs by subsequent downstream analysis.

Ad 1) Eight to ten milliliter whole blood is the commonly used source for isolation of CTCs. The question on how to store unprocessed patient samples for later central analysis still remains unclear. One solution is the use of frozen diagnostic leukapheresis product, the enrichment of peripheral blood mononuclear cells. Diagnostic leukapheresis was already described as detection method for CTC as the number of CTCs and cases of CTC-positive patients increased also in early stages [37]. The use of DLA product as source for CTC isolation has been described and was also validated in this work (Figure 3). However, the way of blood sampling may not be optimal for pancreatic cancer. We hypothesize that peripheral blood from the cubital vein is not the optimal source for CTC isolation especially for pancreatic cancer because the CTCs from the pancreas will be transported to the portal vein first and have to pass the liver and may be filtered out already. This is supported by the fact that the 92% CTC positive cases were observed by Gall *et al.* using portal vein blood and the CellSearch platform [38]. In line with these

data, Catenacci et al. detected CTCs in 100% of portal vein samples (18/18) but only in 22% of the peripheral blood samples [39]. The fact that CTCs originating from the pancreas have to pass one more capillary system before entering the main circulation may be a reason for lower CTC counts in pancreatic cancer. Compared to other indications, pancreatic cancer showed the lowest CTC prevalence [13, 31]. Potentially the liver is especially effective in filtering out CTCs. This is supported by Bissolati and colleagues who found that CTC counts in portal-vein blood predicted liver metastasis [40]. In addition to blood sampling, consistent fixation protocols and preanalytics are necessary for optimal analytical performance and comparability of the results.

Ad 2) EpCAM low expressing cells are missed by EpCAM-dependent methods so that only the subpopulation of EpCAM high expressing CTCs is captured. In agreement with the earlier study of Akita et al who showed that half of the tumors express EpCAM in low or non-detectable levels [18], expression of the extracellular domain of EpCAM was found in only 79% of pancreatic tumor samples [41] and a detailed analysis in a different samples set showed that 29% of the tumors were negative and 36% only weakly expressing EpCAM [42]. The loss of epithelial antigens in a large fraction of pancreatic tumors is supported by the finding that E-Cadherin expression is lost in 53% of pancreatic tumors [43]. Filtration is an alternative to enrich larger tumor cells over the mostly smaller blood cells [44]. CTCs expressing EpCAM at variable levels are isolated by a filtration based method so that all CTCs with different surface marker should be isolated. The used filter contains pores with a size of 8µm. The performance of such device is also depending on cellular rigidity and applied pressure which may explain differences between the two different prototypes used in this study. Potentially the 8µm pore size may be too large for some pancreatic CTCs although it seemed suitable during the validation with cell lines. Spike-in cell lines do not reflect the patients CTCs but help to determine the technical performance of the method [11]. Recovery of CTCs by filtration might also be hindered by apoptosis as cells shrink during this process. This has

already been described in breast and prostate cancer [45]. Recently, isolation of pancreatic CTCs by both size and EpCAM-independent negative enrichment of pancreatic CTCs was described and showed very promising results [46].

Another filtration based system, the ISET method has been compared to the CellSearch system [31]. In that well designed study, ISET detected higher CTC counts compared to CellSearch but the CTCs detected by ISET were only characterized as CD45-negative larger cells. Although in this study, all tumors were EpCAM positive, the CTCs showed huge variability of EpCAM and even the cytokeratin expression varied dramatically, showing the difficult situation with the strong heterogeneity of real circulating tumor cells in contrast to cultured cells. Although ISET detected more CTCs than CellSearch, not even a trend for a correlation with progression free survival or overall survival was found. This is a strong argument against the clinical utility of the approach at least for pancreatic cancer. The lack of prognostic relevance together with the lacking consensus definition of a true CTC underlines the need for better characterization of CTCs in order to prove their tumor origin.

Ad 3) Concerning the clear identification of CTCs, it has to be pointed out that the majority of the CTC studies still rely on the visual identification of cells as stained or polymorph structures. Since staining intensity is highly dependent on the antigen expression and the quality of the used antibody there is no clear reference. Here, we tried to overcome the variety on staining be the usage of an antibody panel to increase staining and therefore facilitate the enumeration of CTCs. Although these improved methods showed benefits in studies with spiked cells, the number of CTC-positive patient samples remained low. EpCAM-independent methods should cope with CTCs originating of EpCAM-negative tumors or the loss of epithelial characteristics during EMT. However, also Cytokeratin loss may occur during EMT. For example, loss of Cytokeratin expression in Her2-FISH positive CTCs was described in the literature [47]. Recently

Gao et al., used CEP8 polyploidy as marker for pancreatic CTCs and found 96% of the isolated CTCs to be cytokeratin negative [46].

Therefore the clear identification of circulating tumor cells defined by other (more stable) features is required. Rhim and colleagues isolated epithelial cells in 8 of 11 patients with PDAC but detected the pancreatic specific Pdx-1 expression in only 29% of the cells isolated by EpCAM based microfluidics [48]. The identification of *KRAS* mutations in pancreatic CTCs should be a sensitive tool to prove at least their pancreatic origin although these mutations can already be detected in intra-epithelial neoplasias of the pancreas (PanIn) and do not prove the presence of cancer [49]. However, we did not find evidence for *KRAS* mutations in the two samples that were CTC positive. This finding was confirmed by sequencing primary tumor samples which turned out to be wild-type. We conclude that the 57% prevalence of *KRAS* mutations is already too low to use it as reliable marker for CTC confirmation. The high detection rate of 88% recently published for CEP8 polyploid CTCs [46] hints towards use of cancer-specific biomarkers with higher prevalence for the identification of CTCs in contrast to the merely epithelial phenotype.

In conclusion, we showed the advantage of a size based method in isolation of CTCs from pancreatic cancer and the feasibility of frozen DLA for detection of CTCs with subsequent downstream analysis in patient samples. Clinical use of circulating tumor cells in pancreatic cancer still needs a lot of efforts in ways of blood sampling, standardization of the preanalytics, the isolation procedures and definition of true CTCs with clear prove of their tumor cell identity.

## **Material and Methods**

# Patients

Whole blood of healthy donors was collected in EDTA-vacutainer (BD) by Clinical Research Services Berlin GmbH, Berlin. Donors were clinically healthy without any known neoplastic or infectious disease and provided written informed consent to use their blood samples for research purposes.

# **Diagnostic Leukapheresis samples**

Diagnostic Leukapheresis (DLA) was exactly performed as previously described [37]. Part of the DLA product was spun at 200 x g for 10 min and the supernatant was removed. The DLA product was adjusted to a white blood cell (WBC) concentration of 1x10<sup>8</sup>/mL with 5% human serum albumin (HSA, 20%, octopharma) in RPMI-1640. Aliquots of 1mL DLA product were mixed with 1mL freezing medium (4mL HSA, 4mL RPMI and 2mL DMSO), frozen in a freezing container at -80°C over night and then transferred to storage in vaporous phase of liquid nitrogen.

The use of DLA for CTC screening of an increased blood volume was approved by the ethics committee of the Heinrich Heine University Hospital Duesseldorf. All participating patients and healthy donors gave written informed consent.

#### Methods

# Cell culture and spike in of cells

Cell lines used for this study were obtained from ATCC and DSMZ. Capan1 was cultured in RPMI1640 + 20% FBS + 1% Glutamin, BxPc3 in RPMI1640 + 10% FBS + 1%

Glutamin, Panc1 in DMEM + 10% FBS + 1% Glutamin and SkBr3 in McCoys 5a +10% FBS +1% Glutamin at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Prior spiking, cells were washed once with 1x PBS (Gibco) and detached at 85% confluence by Accutase solution (Sigma). Cells were spun 5 min at 127 x g, resuspended in PBS and strained through a 35 $\mu$ m strainer to enrich the amount of single cells.

0, 1, 3, 10 and 30 cells were transferred manually into 10mL whole blood of healthy donors collected in EDTA-vacutainer (BD) and processed. The same number of cells was spiked in frozen healthy DLA in the vial directly after thawing. Cells were also spiked in freshly prepared buffy coat containing the same cell count as DLA, frozen and thawed for analysis.

# Fluorescence staining

Detached cells were counted by CASY (Innovatis) and fixed by addition of Transfix (Caltag Medsystems) at a ratio of 1:20 for 45 min. Cells were spun on slides by cytospin Universal 320 (Hettich Lab). In brief, 1 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells were used per cytochamber (3 Chambers per slide) and centrifuged for 7 min at 750 x g with break on. Liquid was removed and then spun again at 100 x g for 1 minute with break off. Slides were dried over night at room temperature. Cells were permeabilized by 0.5% Triton for 15 min, washed with 1 x PBS, blocked with 10% normal goat serum, 1% BSA, 0.05% Tween and 0.5% blocking solution® (Candor) and stained for 45 min by either AE1-AE3 (1:100) or by the anti-Cytokeratin Alexa Fluor 488 panel (Supplementary Table 2, (AE1-AE3, C-11, A53B/A2, DC10, LPK5, each 1:100)) as well as by anti-EpCAM-Alexa Fluor 555 (VU1D9, 1:50). Cells were washed by PBS and nuclei were stained by HOECHST 33342 for 1 min following a wash step. Slides were dried at 60 °C for a maximum of 5 min and mounted

with Prolong Diamond antifade mountant (Thermofisher) and examined by an epifluoresence microscope (Observer Z.1 Zeiss and AxioVision V 4.8.2.0 Software).

#### Isolation of cells from blood by filtration (Siemens)

Blood was processed according to the manufacturer's instructions as described in [32]. In short, Transfix was added to 8-10mL whole blood (1:20) and incubated for 1h. Prefixed whole blood was transferred to a 50mL conical tube, EDTA-vacutainer was rinsed with PBS twice to a final volume of 20mL and subjected to the filtration device. Diluted blood was filtrated and the filter was rinsed with PBS. Cells on filter were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1M phosphate buffer (Electron Microscopy Sciences), permeabilized with 0.5% Triton-X 100 (Sigma) and blocked as previously described. Cells were stained using the anti-Cytokeratin-Alexa Fluor 488-panel (Supplementary Table 2), anti-leukocyte-Alexa Fluor 647- panel (CD45 (MEM 28), CD66b (G10F5), CD3 (Sk7), CD14 (G1D3), CD68 (KP1), each 1:50), anti-EpCAM-Alexa Fluor 555 (VU1D9, 1:50) and Hoechst 33342. Stained filters were analyzed manually by Observer Z.1 (Zeiss) and AxioVision V 4.8.2.0 Software.

#### Isolation of cells from blood by IsoFlux (Fluxion Biosystems)

Blood was processed according to the recommendations by Fluxion Biosystems. Briefly, whole blood was separated by overlaying onto Ficoll (GE Healthcare). Blood and Ficoll were spun at 800 x g for 30 min with breaks off. Buffy coat and plasma were transferred to a new tube and centrifuged at 280 x g for 10 min. Supernatant was removed and the pellet was loosened and transferred to a 2mL tube. EpCAM-coated beads were added. Cells and bead mixture were incubated for 2 h with overhead rotation. The bead

suspension was then loaded into the cartridge and cells were isolated automatically by the device. After isolation cells were stained as previously described.

#### Isolation of cells from frozen DLA

Frozen DLA was thawed at 37°C in the cryovial and transferred to a 50mL tube with 1000U of Cyanase (Ribosolution) and 1mL pre-warmed thaw-solution (1:10 CTL-Wash Supplement in RPMI-1640) added dropwise to the DLA sample. In total 15.8mL Thaw Solution were added to a final volume of 20mL as follows: First, 9mL Thaw solution were slowly added dropwise. Cell suspension was incubated for 10 min at room temperature and cells were counted by Türks-Staining (Merck). Then, 6.8mL Thaw solution and 20µL cyanase inactivating protein (Ribosolution) was added (see also Supplementary Figure 8); tubes were incubated at room temperature for 20 min. 2mM EDTA (Life Technologies) and 1:20 Transfix was added. Tubes were incubated for 1 h and then directly subjected to the filtration unit. For the first round of analysis (experimental setup A), an early prototype of the Siemens Device was used. For experimental setup B, we had to use a second-generation filtration device. Cells were filtered and stained as described above and in [32].

#### Mutational analysis of isolated cells by digital PCR

Isolated cells were analyzed manually by fluorescence microscopy using a Zeiss Observer Z.1 and punched from filter with a 2mm Biopsy punch (pfm medical). The punch was controlled for presence of the CTC, transferred to a thin walled PCR tube and frozen until further use. Once shortly thawed, cells on punshes were subjected to whole genome amplification (Ampli1 WGA Kit, Silicon Biosystems), 1x for whole blood samples and 5x for DLA-samples. WGA-DNA solution was purified by Amicon Ultra 0.5mL

centrifugal filter (Merck Millipore). In brief, WGA solution was added to the filter, washed twice with TE and eluted. Pure DNA was quantified by Broad Range High sensitivity DNA Assay and Qubit (Life Technologies). 50ng DNA was used for *KRAS* G12D and G12V by digital PCR (Quantstudio 3D, Thermofisher) as described in detail [50].

# Tumor DNA preparation

Tumor tissues were marked on standard H&E-stained histologic slides. Afterwards, unstained serial sections of tumor tissues were mounted onto glass slides and macrodissected for DNA extraction. Every macrodissected tumor sample was cross-checked confirming that the percentage of tumor tissue was at least 80%. The extracted tumor cells were dissolved in a total volume of 190 µL digestion buffer (DNA tissue mini kit, Qiagen) and were treated with proteinase K overnight at 56°C. DNA purification was achieved using a nucleic acid robot device (BIO 101, Qiagen).

# Sequence analysis

For sample 5539, PCR amplification was done in a total volume of 20µL containing 20ng genomic DNA, 0.2 mmol/L deoxynucleotide triphosphate, 0.5 units of Taq polymerase (HotStar Taq, QIAGEN), and the following k-ras primers: Fwd\_5'-AGGCCTGCTGAAAATGACTGAA-3', Rev\_5'-AAAGAATGGTCCTGCACCAG-3'. Cycle sequencing analysis of PCR fragments was done with the BigDye Terminator system (PE Biosystems) using amplification primers for bidirectional sequencing. The reaction products were analyzed on an ABI PRISM 3700 sequencer (PE Biosystems).

For sample 5903, sequencing was done at GATC Biotech (Konstanz, Germany) usingDreamTaqGreenMasterMix (ThermoFisher).Primersused:

5°CCTTATGTGTGACATGTTCTAATATAGT, 3° TTGGATCATATTCGTCCACAA. (167 bp PCR product, Tm 57.5°C). PCR conditions: 0.2µM Primers each, 0.5µL DNA Template. Cycling conditions: 95°C for 3 min; 95°C for 30 sec, 57.5°C for 30 sec, 72°C for 20 sec, repeat 30 times and final elongation at 72°C for 5 min.

# Abbreviations

CTC, circulating tumor cells; DLA, diagnostic leukapheresis; EpCAM, Epithelial cell adhesion molecule; PanIn, Pancreatic Intraepithelial Neoplasia; PDAC, Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma; PFS, Progression-free survival; OS, Overall survival; EMT Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition, *KRAS*, Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene homolog

# **Author Contributions**

Nora Brychta: Study conception, Setup of IsoFlux-Experiments, CTC-experiments, Development of mutation detection, Performance of experiments and data collection, writing manuscript and visualization of data

Michael Drosch: Development of antibody-panels, Development of Siemens-Workflow, CTC-experiments, writing of manuscript

Christiane Driemel: Data collection, data analysis and CTC experiments

Rui P. Neves: Data collection, data analysis and CTC experiments

Johannes C. Fischer: DLA, data collection and data analysis

Irene Esposito: Sequencing of primary tumor samples and data collection

Wolfram Knoefel: Patient selection and recruitment, data analysis

Birte Möhlendick: Mutational analysis of tumor tissue

Claudia Hille: Data acquisition using Siemens

Antje Stresemann: Data review and writing the manuscript

Thomas Krahn: Funding acquisition, study design and writing the manuscript

Matthias U. Kassack: Writing the manuscript, Supervision

Nikolas H. Stoecklein: Study conception, Project administration, data review and analysis, writing the manuscript

Oliver von Ahsen: Study conception, Supervision, Project administration, writing the manuscript

# Acknowledgement

The authors thank Danielle-Justine Danner for excellent technical assistance.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

The authors have no conflicting interests to disclose.

# Funding

Bayer AG, Innovative Medicines Initiative Joint Undertaking (IMI JU) in conjunction with CANCER-ID (Grant Agreement #115749).

#### References

1. Rahib L, Smith BD, Aizenberg R, Rosenzweig AB, Fleshman JM and Matrisian LM. Projecting Cancer Incidence and Deaths to 2030: The Unexpected Burden of Thyroid, Liver, and Pancreas Cancers in the United States. Cancer research. 2014; 74(11):2913.

2. Siegel RL, Miller KD and Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2016. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 2016; 66(1):7-30.

3. Yachida S, Jones S, Bozic I, Antal T, Leary R, Fu B, Kamiyama M, Hruban RH, Eshleman JR, Nowak MA, Velculescu VE, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B and Iacobuzio-Donahue CA. Distant metastasis occurs late during the genetic evolution of pancreatic cancer. Nature. 2010; 467(7319):1114-1117.

4. Agarwal B, Correa AM and Ho L. Survival in pancreatic carcinoma based on tumor size. Pancreas. 2008; 36(1):e15-20.

5. Sakorafas GH and Sarr MG. Pancreatic cancer after surgery for chronic pancreatitis. Digestive and liver disease : official journal of the Italian Society of Gastroenterology and the Italian Association for the Study of the Liver. 2003; 35(7):482-485.

6. Klapman J and Malafa MP. Early detection of pancreatic cancer: why, who, and how to screen. Cancer control : journal of the Moffitt Cancer Center. 2008; 15(4):280-287.

7. Goonetilleke KS and Siriwardena AK. Systematic review of carbohydrate antigen (CA 19-9) as a biochemical marker in the diagnosis of pancreatic cancer. European journal of surgical oncology : the journal of the European Society of Surgical Oncology and the British Association of Surgical Oncology. 2007; 33(3):266-270.

8. Riva F, Dronov OI, Khomenko DI, Huguet F, Louvet C, Mariani P, Stern MH, Lantz O, Proudhon C, Pierga JY and Bidard FC. Clinical applications of circulating tumor

DNA and circulating tumor cells in pancreatic cancer. Molecular oncology. 2016; 10(3):481-493.

9. Nagrath S, Jack RM, Sahai V and Simeone DM. Opportunities and Challenges for Pancreatic Circulating Tumor Cells. Gastroenterology. 2016; 151(3):412-426.

10. Alix-Panabieres C and Pantel K. Clinical Applications of Circulating Tumor Cells and Circulating Tumor DNA as Liquid Biopsy. Cancer discovery. 2016; 6(5):479-491.

11. Stoecklein NH, Fischer JC, Niederacher D and Terstappen LW. Challenges for CTC-based liquid biopsies: low CTC frequency and diagnostic leukapheresis as a potential solution. Expert review of molecular diagnostics. 2016; 16(2):147-164.

12. Alix-Panabieres C and Pantel K. Technologies for detection of circulating tumor cells: facts and vision. Lab on a Chip. 2014; 14(1):57-62.

13. Allard WJ, Matera J, Miller MC, Repollet M, Connelly MC, Rao C, Tibbe AG, Uhr JW and Terstappen LW. Tumor cells circulate in the peripheral blood of all major carcinomas but not in healthy subjects or patients with nonmalignant diseases. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 2004; 10(20):6897-6904.

14. Cristofanilli M, Budd GT, Ellis MJ, Stopeck A, Matera J, Miller MC, Reuben JM, Doyle GV, Allard WJ, Terstappen LW and Hayes DF. Circulating tumor cells, disease progression, and survival in metastatic breast cancer. The New England journal of medicine. 2004; 351(8):781-791.

15. Danila DC, Heller G, Gignac GA, Gonzalez-Espinoza R, Anand A, Tanaka E, Lilja H, Schwartz L, Larson S, Fleisher M and Scher HI. Circulating Tumor Cell Number and Prognosis in Progressive Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. Clinical Cancer Research. 2007; 13(23):7053.

16. Cohen SJ, Punt CJ, Iannotti N, Saidman BH, Sabbath KD, Gabrail NY, Picus J, Morse M, Mitchell E, Miller MC, Doyle GV, Tissing H, Terstappen LW and Meropol NJ. Relationship of circulating tumor cells to tumor response, progression-free survival, and

overall survival in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2008; 26(19):3213-3221.

17. Went PT, Lugli A, Meier S, Bundi M, Mirlacher M, Sauter G and Dirnhofer S. Frequent EpCam protein expression in human carcinomas. Human pathology. 2004; 35(1):122-128.

18. Akita H, Nagano H, Takeda Y, Eguchi H, Wada H, Kobayashi S, Marubashi S, Tanemura M, Takahashi H, Ohigashi H, Tomita Y, Ishikawa O, Mori M and Doki Y. Ep-CAM is a significant prognostic factor in pancreatic cancer patients by suppressing cell activity. Oncogene. 2011; 30(31):3468-3476.

19. Fong D, Steurer M, Obrist P, Barbieri V, Margreiter R, Amberger A, Laimer K, Gastl G, Tzankov A and Spizzo G. Ep-CAM expression in pancreatic and ampullary carcinomas: frequency and prognostic relevance. Journal of clinical pathology. 2008; 61(1):31-35.

20. Earl J, Garcia-Nieto S, Martinez-Avila JC, Montans J, Sanjuanbenito A, Rodriguez-Garrote M, Lisa E, Mendia E, Lobo E, Malats N, Carrato A and Guillen-Ponce C. Circulating tumor cells (Ctc) and kras mutant circulating free Dna (cfdna) detection in peripheral blood as biomarkers in patients diagnosed with exocrine pancreatic cancer. BMC cancer. 2015; 15:797.

21. Court CM, Ankeny JS, Hou S, Tseng HR and Tomlinson JS. Improving pancreatic cancer diagnosis using circulating tumor cells: prospects for staging and single-cell analysis. Expert review of molecular diagnostics. 2015; 15(11):1491-1504.

22. Ankeny JS, Court CM, Hou S, Li Q, Song M, Wu D, Chen JF, Lee T, Lin M, Sho S, Rochefort MM, Girgis MD, Yao J, Wainberg ZA, Muthusamy VR, Watson RR, et al. Circulating tumour cells as a biomarker for diagnosis and staging in pancreatic cancer. British journal of cancer. 2016; 114(12):1367-1375.

23. Bidard FC, Huguet F, Louvet C, Mineur L, Bouche O, Chibaudel B, Artru P, Desseigne F, Bachet JB, Mathiot C, Pierga JY and Hammel P. Circulating tumor cells in

locally advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma: the ancillary CirCe 07 study to the LAP 07 trial. Annals of oncology : official journal of the European Society for Medical Oncology. 2013; 24(8):2057-2061.

24. Khan MS, Kirkwood A, Tsigani T, Garcia-Hernandez J, Hartley JA, Caplin ME and Meyer T. Circulating tumor cells as prognostic markers in neuroendocrine tumors. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology. 2013; 31(3):365-372.

25. Yu M, Bardia A, Wittner BS, Stott SL, Smas ME, Ting DT, Isakoff SJ, Ciciliano JC, Wells MN, Shah AM, Concannon KF, Donaldson MC, Sequist LV, Brachtel E, Sgroi D, Baselga J, et al. Circulating breast tumor cells exhibit dynamic changes in epithelial and mesenchymal composition. Science (New York, NY). 2013; 339(6119):580-584.

26. Gorges TM, Tinhofer I, Drosch M, Rose L, Zollner TM, Krahn T and von Ahsen O. Circulating tumour cells escape from EpCAM-based detection due to epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. BMC cancer. 2012; 12:178.

27. Kallergi G, Papadaki MA, Politaki E, Mavroudis D, Georgoulias V and Agelaki S. Epithelial to mesenchymal transition markers expressed in circulating tumour cells of early and metastatic breast cancer patients. Breast cancer research : BCR. 2011; 13(3):R59.

28. Rhim AD, Mirek ET, Aiello NM, Maitra A, Bailey JM, McCallister F, Reichert M, Beatty GL, Rustgi AK, Vonderheide RH, Leach SD and Stanger BZ. EMT and dissemination precede pancreatic tumor formation. Cell. 2012; 148(1-2):349-361.

29. Khan MS, Tsigani T, Rashid M, Rabouhans JS, Yu D, Luong TV, Caplin M and Meyer T. Circulating tumor cells and EpCAM expression in neuroendocrine tumors. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 2011; 17(2):337-345.

30. Gires O and Stoecklein NH. Dynamic EpCAM expression on circulating and disseminating tumor cells: causes and consequences. Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS. 2014; 71(22):4393-4402.

31. Khoja L, Backen A, Sloane R, Menasce L, Ryder D, Krebs M, Board R, Clack G, Hughes A, Blackhall F, Valle JW and Dive C. A pilot study to explore circulating tumour cells in pancreatic cancer as a novel biomarker. British journal of cancer. 2012; 106(3):508-516.

32. Magbanua MJ, Pugia M, Lee JS, Jabon M, Wang V, Gubens M, Marfurt K, Pence J, Sidhu H, Uzgiris A, Rugo HS and Park JW. A Novel Strategy for Detection and Enumeration of Circulating Rare Cell Populations in Metastatic Cancer Patients Using Automated Microfluidic Filtration and Multiplex Immunoassay. PloS one. 2015; 10(10):e0141166.

33. http://cancer.sanger.ac.uk/cosmic. 2016, January 28th.

34. Kulemann B, Liss AS, Warshaw AL, Seifert S, Bronsert P, Glatz T, Pitman MB and Hoeppner J. KRAS mutations in pancreatic circulating tumor cells: a pilot study. Tumour biology : the journal of the International Society for Oncodevelopmental Biology and Medicine. 2016; 37(6):7547-7554.

35. Harb W, Fan A, Tran T, Danila DC, Keys D, Schwartz M and Ionescu-Zanetti C. Mutational Analysis of Circulating Tumor Cells Using a Novel Microfluidic Collection Device and qPCR Assay. Translational oncology. 2013; 6(5):528-538.

36. Posel C, Moller K, Frohlich W, Schulz I, Boltze J and Wagner DC. Density gradient centrifugation compromises bone marrow mononuclear cell yield. PloS one. 2012; 7(12):e50293.

37. Fischer JC, Niederacher D, Topp SA, Honisch E, Schumacher S, Schmitz N, Zacarias Föhrding L, Vay C, Hoffmann I, Kasprowicz NS, Hepp PG, Mohrmann S, Nitz U, Stresemann A, Krahn T, Henze T, et al. Diagnostic leukapheresis enables reliable

detection of circulating tumor cells of nonmetastatic cancer patients. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2013; 110(41):16580-16585.

38. Gall TM, Jacob J, Frampton AE, Krell J, Kyriakides C, Castellano L, Stebbing J and Jiao LR. Reduced dissemination of circulating tumor cells with no-touch isolation surgical technique in patients with pancreatic cancer. JAMA surgery. 2014; 149(5):482-485.

39. Catenacci DV, Chapman CG, Xu P, Koons A, Konda VJ, Siddiqui UD and Waxman I. Acquisition of Portal Venous Circulating Tumor Cells From Patients With Pancreaticobiliary Cancers by Endoscopic Ultrasound. Gastroenterology. 2015; 149(7):1794-1803.e1794.

40. Bissolati M, Sandri MT, Burtulo G, Zorzino L, Balzano G and Braga M. Portal vein-circulating tumor cells predict liver metastases in patients with resectable pancreatic cancer. Tumour biology : the journal of the International Society for Oncodevelopmental Biology and Medicine. 2015; 36(2):991-996.

41. Fong D, Moser P, Kasal A, Seeber A, Gastl G, Martowicz A, Wurm M, Mian C, Obrist P, Mazzoleni G and Spizzo G. Loss of membranous expression of the intracellular domain of EpCAM is a frequent event and predicts poor survival in patients with pancreatic cancer. Histopathology. 2014; 64(5):683-692.

42. Fong D, Seeber A, Terracciano L, Kasal A, Mazzoleni G, Lehne F, Gastl G and Spizzo G. Expression of EpCAM(MF) and EpCAM(MT) variants in human carcinomas. Journal of clinical pathology. 2014; 67(5):408-414.

43. Pignatelli M, Ansari TW, Gunter P, Liu D, Hirano S, Takeichi M, Kloppel G and Lemoine NR. Loss of membranous E-cadherin expression in pancreatic cancer: correlation with lymph node metastasis, high grade, and advanced stage. The Journal of pathology. 1994; 174(4):243-248.

44. Vona G, Sabile A, Louha M, Sitruk V, Romana S, Schutze K, Capron F, Franco D, Pazzagli M, Vekemans M, Lacour B, Brechot C and Paterlini-Brechot P. Isolation by size

of epithelial tumor cells : a new method for the immunomorphological and molecular characterization of circulatingtumor cells. The American journal of pathology. 2000; 156(1):57-63.

45. Adams DL, Stefansson S, Haudenschild C, Martin SS, Charpentier M, Chumsri S, Cristofanilli M, Tang CM and Alpaugh RK. Cytometric characterization of circulating tumor cells captured by microfiltration and their correlation to the CellSearch((R)) CTC test. Cytometry Part A : the journal of the International Society for Analytical Cytology. 2015; 87(2):137-144.

46. Gao Y, Zhu Y, Zhang Z, Zhang C, Huang X and Yuan Z. Clinical significance of pancreatic circulating tumor cells using combined negative enrichment and immunostaining-fluorescence in situ hybridization. Journal of experimental & clinical cancer research : CR. 2016; 35:66.

47. Pecot CV, Bischoff FZ, Mayer JA, Wong KL, Pham T, Bottsford-Miller J, Stone RL, Lin YG, Jaladurgam P, Roh JW, Goodman BW, Merritt WM, Pircher TJ, Mikolajczyk SD, Nick AM, Celestino J, et al. A novel platform for detection of CK+ and CK- CTCs. Cancer discovery. 2011; 1(7):580-586.

48. Rhim AD, Thege FI, Santana SM, Lannin TB, Saha TN, Tsai S, Maggs LR, Kochman ML, Ginsberg GG, Lieb JG, Chandrasekhara V, Drebin JA, Ahmad N, Yang YX, Kirby BJ and Stanger BZ. Detection of circulating pancreas epithelial cells in patients with pancreatic cystic lesions. Gastroenterology. 2014; 146(3):647-651.

49. Feldmann G, Beaty R, Hruban RH and Maitra A. Molecular genetics of pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia. Journal of hepato-biliary-pancreatic surgery. 2007; 14(3):224-232.

50. Brychta N, Krahn T and von Ahsen O. Detection of KRAS Mutations in Circulating Tumor DNA by Digital PCR in Early Stages of Pancreatic Cancer. Clinical chemistry. 2016; 62(11):1482-1491.

# Tables

PID	Tumor type	Tumor stage	Isolated CTCs
5447	pancreatic	T3N1M1	0
5549	pancreatic	T3N1M0	2
5580	pancreatic	T3N1M1	0
5714	pancreatic	T3N1M0	0
5751	pancreatic	T3N1M0	0
5792	pancreatic	T3N1M1	1
5803	pancreatic	T3N1M1	2
5804	pancreatic	T3N2M0	2
5902	pancreatic	T3N1M0	0
5904	pancreatic	M1 (TxNx)	7
5931	pancreatic	T3N0M0	0
6012	pancreatic	T3N1M1	0
6017	pancreatic	MO	0
6033	pancreatic	T3N1M0	1
6098	pancreatic	M1	0
6104	pancreatic	T3N1M0	0
5689	pancreatic	T3N1M0	2
6016	pancreatic	M1 0	
5539	pancreatic	M1	7

Table 1: Number of detected CTCs isolated from frozen DLA of pancreatic cancer patients in sample set A (2 vials). Overall detection rate of CTCs was 42% (44% M1, 40% M0). PID = patient identification number.

PID	Tumor type	Tumor stage	lsolated CTCs	Detected mutation	
				in CTCs	in tumor
5447	pancreatic	T3N1M1	0	NA	NA
5549	pancreatic	T3N1M0	0	NA	NA
5580	pancreatic	T3N1M1	0	NA	NA
5714	pancreatic	T3N1M0	0	NA	NA
5751	pancreatic	T3N1M0	0	NA	NA
5792	pancreatic	T3N1M1	0	NA	NA
5803	pancreatic	T3N1M1	0	NA	NA
5804	pancreatic	T3N2M0	0	NA	NA
5902	pancreatic	T3N1M0	0	NA	NA
5904	pancreatic	M1 (TxNx)	8	wildtype	wildtype
5931	pancreatic	T3N0M0	0	NA	NA
6012	pancreatic	T3N1M1	0	NA	NA
6017	pancreatic	MO	0	NA	NA
6033	pancreatic	T3N1M0	0	NA	NA
6098	pancreatic	M1	0	NA	NA
6104	pancreatic	T3N1M0	0	NA	NA
5689	pancreatic	T3N1M0	0	NA	NA
6016	pancreatic	M1	0	NA	NA
5539	pancreatic	M1	12	wildtype	wildtype

Table 2: Number of detected CTCs isolated from frozen DLA of pancreatic cancer patients for mutational analysis in sample set B (1 vial). Overall detection rate of CTCs was 11% (22% M1, 0% M0). PID = patient identification number.

# Legends for figures

Figure 1: Cytokeratin expression in pancreatic cancer. Pancreatic cancer cell lines Capan1, BxPc3, Panc1 and breast cancer cell line SkBr3 were characterized by immunofluorescence staining anti EpCAM (Alexa Fluor 555, orange) and anti-Cytokeratin (Alexa Fluor 488, green). Nucleus was stained by Hoechst 33342 (blue). Scale bars represent 20µm.

Figure 2: Recovery rates by filtration and EpCAM-dependent isolation method of spiked cells in whole blood. (A) Recovery rates by EpCAM dependent magnetic bead isolation is lower in pancreatic cancer cells compared to SkBr3. (B) The filtration method shows high recovery rates independent of the EpCAM-expression. (C) Representative pictures of Capan1. The filtration also helps to identify morphology whereas the beads overshadow the signal of the immunofluorescence staining. Cells were stained by anti-Cytokeratin (green), anti-leukocyte panel (magenta) and nucleus (blue). Scale bars represent 20µm.

Figure 3: Recovery rates by filtration of spiked cells in frozen DLA. (A) Recovery rates of the thawed DLA are similar to the results of filtration of whole blood. (B) Representative pictures of Capan1 isolated from frozen DLA by filtration. Cells were stained by anti-Cytokeratin (green), anti-EpCAM (orange), anti-CD panel (magenta) and nucleus (blue). Scale bars represent 20µm.

Figure 4: Mutation detection of CTCs in whole blood and frozen DLA. (A) Detected cells were punched from filter and relocated on the punch before WGA. (B) Amplified DNA was analyzed by digital PCR for *KRAS* G12D and *KRAS* G12V. Note higher background of leukocytes in DLA. Scale bars represent 200µm (filter) and 20µm (single cell).

Figure 5: Detection of CTCs in frozen DLA samples from 19 pancreatic cancer patients. Representative pictures of isolated cell from patient 5904 and 5593. Within one patient both EpCAM high and EpCAM low CTCs were detected (see also Supplementary Figure 5). Cells were stained by anti-Cytokeratin (green), anti-EpCAM (orange), anti-CD panel (magenta) and nucleus (blue). Scale bars represent 20µm.

Figure 1









A Overall recovery rate by filtration of whole blood and frozen DLA





В



∢
# Figure 5

Filtration of	DLA from cancer pa	pancreatic tient 5904	DLA from cancer pa	pancreatic tient 5539
staining	CTC 1	CTC 2	CTC 1	CTC 2
Cytokeratin panel	0			<b>*</b>
EpCAM	0		G	
Leukocyte panel			9.	
Hoechst 33342				
Merge	0			

### 3.2.1 Supplementary Figure



Supplementary Figure 1: Recovery rates of spike in experiments in whole blood.

1, 3, 10 and 30 Capan 1 (EpCAM high), BxPc3 (EpCAM medium) and Panc 1 (EpCAM low) as well as breast cancer cell line SkBr3 (EpCAM high) were spiked into whole blood and isolated by filtration (grey) and EpCAM dependent capture (black).

staining Cell line	Cytokeratin panel	Leukocyte panel	Hoechst 33342	Merge
Capan 1		6	*	
BxPc3			<b>~</b>	
Panc 1	<u>ک</u>		•	
SkBr3	**	0	-	*
Background				

Supplementary Figure 2: Representative pictures of isolated cells from whole blood by IsoFlux. Scale bar represents 20µm

staining Cell line	Cytokeratin panel	EpCAM	Leukocyte panel Hoechst 33342		Merge
Capan 1		0		0	
BxPc3		0	1	· •	
Panc 1					
SkBr3				0	
Background			.e	.* ·*	

Supplementary Figure 3: Representative pictures of isolated cells from whole blood by filtration. Scale bar represents 20µm.



Supplementary Figure 4: Frozen DLA

(A) Recovery rate of filtration of spiked cells spiked into frozen DLA, (B) Representative pictures of isolated cells, (C) Representative pictures of cells isolated from frozen DLA



Supplementary Figure 5: No difference in recovery rate if samples were frozen

(A) Cells were spiked into freshly prepared PBMCs, frozen and thawn according to protocol

(B) Cells were spiked into thawn DLA from healthy donor.



Supplementary Figure 6: Sequencing data for codon 12

CTC sample	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
5904		3	e e			•		

CTC sample	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
5539	•	•						

CTC sample	9	10	11	12
5539			<b>*</b>	

Supplementary Figure 7: Representative pictures of CTCs isolated from pancreatic cancer patients

#### processed with

[bp] ladder	no enzyme	benzonase	cyanase
1500			
700 - ==			
500			
400			
300			
200			
150			
100			
15 -			

Supplementary Figure 8: Effect on DNA-quality after thawing of samples using no enzyme, Benzonase (25U/mL) and Cyanase (50U/mL). Samples were processed according to protocol on the filtration device by using different or no enzyme. Isolated cells were punshed from filter and DNA was amplified by DNA. 1µL of WGA-DNA was used for quality control (QC). QC was conducted by amplifying four genomic loci of different length (91, 108-166, 299, 614bp). As benzonase activity is not inhibited during processing, DNA is digested as seen by faint bands especially at 614 bp. This is not seen in samples using cyanase as this enzyme can be inhibited during processing. Processing with no enzyme resulted in little recovery, benzonase and cynase in similar recovery.(data not shown).

#### 3.2.2 Supplementary Tables

Cancer type	Pancreatic Cancer			
Cytokeratin	Fancieatic Gancer			
1				
2				
3				
4				
5				
6				
7	X			
8	X			
9				
10				
11				
12				
13	X			
14				
15				
16				
17				
18	X			
19	X			
20				
Sumplementers Table	4. Cutokoratin overses		tia concor	
Supplementary Table	T. Cytokeraun express	on in pancrea	uc cancer	
(Min Jong Lee, Hye Seung Lee, Cytokeratins in Primary Carcinor	Woo Ho Kim, Yunhee Choi and nas of Digestive System. Mod I	Mihi Yang (2003): Pathol; 16(5):403-4	Expression of Mu (10)	cins and
			l	

Antibody						
	AE1-AE3	C-11	A53-B/A2	DC10	LP5K	
Cytokeratin						
1	х					
2	х					
3	x					
4	х	х				
5	х	х				
6	х	х				
7	x				х	
8	x	х				
9						
10	x	х				
11						
12						
13		х				
14	x					
15	x					
16	х					
17						
18		х		х		
19	х		x			
20						
Supplementary	Table 2: Cy	/tokeratin a	antibody par	nel		

# 3.3 Enumeration and Molecular Characterization of Tumor Cells in Lung Cancer Patients Using a Novel *In vivo* Device for Capturing Circulating Tumor Cells

Tobias M. Gorges, Nicole Penkalla, Thomas Schalk, Simon A. Joosse, Sabine Riethdorf, Johannes Tucholski, Klaus Lücke, Harriet Wikman, Stephen Jackson, <u>Nora Brychta</u>, Oliver von Ahsen, Christian Schumann, Thomas Krahn, and Klaus Pantel.

Clin Cancer Res. 2016 May 1;22(9):2197-206.

Name of the journal: Clinical Cancer Research

Status: accepted

DOI: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1416

Impact Factor (2015/2016): 8,738

Authorship: Co-Author

Contribution: 5%

- digital PCR experiments and analysis and visualization of data

URL: http://clincancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/22/9/2197.long

## **4 Overall discussion**

Pancreatic cancer is a dismal disease with poor prognosis for the patient. Early diagnosis might lead to surgery - the only cure to date - and better prognosis for the patient if sensitive screening methods were available. Although the medical need for early diagnosis is tremendous, no biomarkers e.g. blood-based are in clinical use for screening purposes. The reason is the insensitivity of such biomarkers and their lack of specificity (see Introduction). Alternatives have emerged based on minimally invasive liquid biopsy like the analysis of ctDNA and CTCs which may have the potential for early diagnosis and screening.

In the following discussion, the potential of ctDNA and CTCs and their comparison as early diagnostic marker in pancreatic cancer is debated. An additional excursus to personalized medicine shall reveal the usage of CTCs in lung cancer.

# 4.1 Detection of mutations in liquid biopsies in early stages of pancreatic cancer

#### 4.1.1 Circulating tumor DNA

After the discovery of physiological cfDNA in plasma, efforts were made to draw conclusions from cfDNA concentrations about a possible malignancy. However, the use of cfDNA alone as a diagnostic marker to detect a primary disease is difficult due to several reasons detailed in the following paragraph. Throughout publications about circulating DNA it is a familiar problem that differences in preanalytical sample handling, e.g. the absence of a standard protocol, impede comparison of results from different studies. The impact was already shown in several studies: Fleischhacker et al. (2011) described different isolation methods and the resulting varying cfDNA amounts. Sherwood et al. (2016) described the influence of using different preservative tubes on the amount of isolated cfDNA and detection of *KRAS* mutations. Furthermore, no coincident opinion determines the use of serum or plasma. The latter is used more frequently in studies, as it was shown that the amount of contaminating genomic cfDNA is higher in serum than in plasma, probably due to lysis of cells during coagulation of blood (Lee et al., 2001). Moreover, the use of different plasma volumes resulted in

different amounts of cfDNA, thus leading to different conclusions about significances of the results (see 1.5.1 Circulating tumor DNA). These methodological differences complicate the validation of cfDNA as biomarker. Additionally, physical activity and several inflammatory diseases also increase cfDNA-content with no sign of cancer (Breitbach et al., 2014; Chang et al., 2003; Zhong et al., 2007). Therefore, the tumorous origin of cfDNA namely ctDNA has to be proven for its use in cancer diagnostics.

*KRAS* mutations in ctDNA have been successfully detected in cancer types like colorectal cancer as early detection of minimal residual disease post-surgery was associated with negative prognosis (Kidess et al., 2015; Tie et al., 2016). The occurrence of mutant ctDNA after pancreatectomy in late stage patients could be detected before imaging techniques were able to detect the relapse (Sausen et al., 2015). These studies already proved the importance of *KRAS* mutations in ctDNA analytics.

To date, most studies analyzing matched plasma and tumor samples from pancreatic cancer patients strongly focus on advanced, undruggable late stages. KRAS detection rates in plasma samples from advanced pancreatic cancer patients were successfully reported ranging from 26 to 88% (Bettegowda et al., 2014; Calvez-Kelm et al., 2016; Earl et al., 2015; Pietrasz et al., 2016; Takai et al., 2015; Tjensvoll et al., 2016). Where tumor tissue was taken as positive control, concordances of tumor and plasma harboring the same KRAS mutation were achieved by 35-100% in advanced pancreatic cancers (Hadano et al., 2016; Kinugasa et al., 2015; Pishvaian et al., 2016; Uemura et al., 2004). In early stages of pancreatic cancer, Bettegwoda et al. (2014) reported 48% detection rates of ctDNA in plasma by e.g. BEAMing, but no tumor tissue was analyzed to confirm the results obtained from plasma. BEAMing is a highly sensitive method to detect low frequencies of mutant alleles. This technique combines a water-oil emulsion PCR on magnetic beads and detection by flow cytometry (Dressman et al., 2003). Sausen et al. (2015) described 43% mutation detection rates in plasma concordant to matched pancreatic tumor by digital PCR using high plasma volumes. In other studies, specifically early stages of pancreatic cancer mutations could not be detected sufficiently (Marchese et al., 2006; Takai et al., 2015). In summary, the concordances of mutations detected in matched plasma and tumor in advanced stages of pancreatic cancer are high. In contrast to that, very few positive results were obtained from localized or early stages of pancreatic cancer to explore the possibility and limitations of an early diagnostic marker.

In this work, matched tissue and plasma from pancreatic cancer patients were analyzed for *KRAS* mutations by highly sensitive chip-based digital PCR (dPCR) (Brychta et al.,

107

2016). Digital PCR is a technique to identify single mutations in a highly sensitive way by distributing the reaction into compartments. The limit of detection by dPCR was determined as five mutant alleles in a background of 50 ng wild-type DNA. *KRAS* mutations were concordantly found in tumor and plasma in 36% (*KRAS* G12D), 50% (*KRAS* G12V) and 0% (*KRAS* G12C) of the cases. The overall detection rate was 35% by using only 2 mL plasma and an optimized protocol for isolation of cfDNA and detection of mutant ctDNA by dPCR. These results are highly favorable as they show the highest diagnostic sensitivity and concordance to tumor tissue with limited plasma volume published to date in pancreatic cancer.

For the use in early diagnosis various aspects need to be considered, including prevalence of the mutation, used technology, allelic frequency and tumor content. Although mutations in KRAS occur early during carcinogenesis, pancreatic cancer is the cancer type associated with frequent KRAS mutations. In colon and lung cancer, the incidence of KRAS mutations is lower than in pancreatic cancer and therefore more difficult to evaluate as early diagnostic marker than in pancreatic cancer (colon: 30%, NSCLC: 21%, pancreas: 56%; Sanger Institute, 2017). This favors the identification of a diagnostic marker in pancreatic cancer, as one mutation might detect a majority of pancreatic cancer cases. Fifty patients are a small cohort, enough however, to detect significances in pancreatic cancer using highly prevalent KRAS mutations (Brychta et al., 2016). The detection rates and significances need to be validated in further studies with higher numbers of patients. As pancreatic cancer can occur in different areas of the pancreas, e.g. head, body or tail, equal numbers of patients with the disease in different areas need to be recruited. Also, higher numbers of patients with different types of histology, like neuroendocrine tumors, need to be included into the study. Especially in neuroendocrine tumors the prevalence of KRAS mutations is seemingly very low (2%, Sanger Institute, 2017) and therefore detection of *KRAS* as diagnostic marker has very limited clinical value. Other, more frequent mutations have to be used as diagnostic markers in this cancer subtype. Alterations in *MEN1* (multiple endocrine neoplasia 1) gene seem to be frequently detected in neuroendocrine tumors (44%, Jiao et al., 2011) and might be evaluated as a more useful marker.

The detection of mutant alleles is dependent on the sensitivity of the technique (Figure 6). In order to detect low allelic frequencies, highly sensitive digital PCR is favored over e.g. multipanel detection by sequencing techniques. The highest detection or concordances were obtained by highly sensitive digital PCR whereas sequencing

methods including targeted sequencing lacked sensitivity and failed to detect low allelic frequencies especially in early stages of pancreatic cancer (Takai et al., 2015).



**Figure 6: Sensitivity of technique determines the application.** Only very sensitive techniques can be used for the detection of ctDNA in plasma. ARMS: amplification refractory mutation system; BEAMing: beads, emulsions, amplification and magnetics; PAP: pyrophosphorolysis-activated polymerization; TAM-Seq: Tagged Amplicon Sequencing (modified after Diaz and Bardelli, 2014).

One reason for the failure of sequencing especially in early stages might be the low amount of ctDNA in plasma. It is described that plasma of patients diagnosed with metastatic stages contains higher mutant allelic frequencies in metastatic patients' circulation than patients in early stages (Diehl et al., 2005). Compared to failure of sequencing in early stages of pancreatic cancer, Chen et al. and Guo et al. reported high concordances of ctDNA and DNA isolated from tumor of 50.4% and 78.1% by targeted sequencing including *KRAS* in early stages of lung cancer (Chen et al., 2016; Guo et al., 2016). This shows a general feasibility of sequencing in early stages of cancer except for pancreatic cancer. Detection of ctDNA in pancreatic cancer might be impeded by the unfavorable tumor environment. Low tumor content and collapsed vascularization might result in reduced circulation of ctDNA (Brychta et al., 2016; Provenzano et al., 2012).

As the detection of *KRAS* mutations is successful in early stages of pancreatic cancer, but does not cover 100% of the patient population, a panel of frequently occurring mutations might increase the detection of all subtypes and allow a complete coverage of the population. The simultaneous detection of multiple mutations by digital PCR is not feasible. Today's readily available methods like sequencing present a sensitivity of 2% (Figure 6). Compared to detectable 0.01% by digital PCR, sequencing is far from being used in early stages of pancreatic cancer. Additionally, the first step of targeted sequencing including promising highly-sensitive TAM-Seq (Tagged Amplicon Sequencing) is a pre-amplification step (Forshew et al., 2012). Pre-amplification might

include a polymerase-bias that shifts allelic frequencies or results in the loss of one allele due to uneven coverage. The usage of sequencing also requires target-specific optimization of the workflow (Aird et al., 2011; Forshew et al., 2012). Moreover, one study reported the calculated error rate of polymerases in highly sensitive BEAMing including a pre-amplification step. The error rate of polymerases might lead to false positive results if 0.01% allelic frequencies are considered as tumorous (Li et al., 2006). A debate has emerged if low allelic frequencies can be considered as a positive result. In pancreatic cancer, the tumor content especially in early stages is very low (see 1.3 Early diagnosis in pancreatic cancer), so low allelic frequencies are expected. This is also confirmed by the data of the present study using chip-based dPCR without preamplification (Brychta et al., 2016).

The major improvement of diagnostic sensitivity for early detection of pancreatic cancer achieved in the thesis also emphasizes the question about true results of very low mutant allelic frequencies in healthy individuals. The more sensitive a method is, the more likely mutations will be identified in clinically healthy individuals. Few studies have included healthy individuals and analysis of their plasma. Especially with highly-sensitive digital PCR positive mutant alleles can be detected in healthy individuals but are excluded from the study by threshold setting (Brychta et al., 2016; Hadano et al., 2016; Kinugasa et al., 2015). The usage of other high-fidelity polymerase might increase diagnostic specificity and lower false positive results even in healthy individuals (McInerney et al., 2014). If ctDNA is detected in healthy individuals but conventional imaging techniques do not show signs of malignancies, a clinical strategy needs to be identified to interpret and act on the results. Additionally, it is published that inflammatory diseases are precursor lesions to pancreatic cancer (Becker et al., 2014). Some patients with chronic pancreatitis already harbor KRAS mutations in lower allelic frequencies but their long-term effects are unclear. One study followed patients diagnosed with chronic pancreatitis and positive KRAS detection in serum for three years with no evidence of pancreatic cancer (Maire et al., 2002). As already diagnosed pancreatic cancer patients were analyzed in this study, other patients with precursor lesions need to be included in further studies as additional control group besides the healthy individuals.

To date, single mutation analysis like dPCR remains the only successfully applicable technique in pancreatic cancer as described in this work. During the years other sensitive techniques have evolved that might also detect early stages of all subtypes of pancreatic cancer. The absence of a preamplification step in third-generation sequencing like nanopore sequencing or the use of CAPP-Sequencing (cancer personalized profiling by

deep Sequencing) might also increase sensitivity of sequencing in the near future in order to also detect short fragmented ctDNA from cancers with low tumor content like in pancreatic cancer (Cheng et al., 2015; Newman et al., 2014; Norris et al., 2016). One potential hotspot panel for detecting different subtypes of pancreatic cancer might be *KRAS*, *TP53*, *SMAD3* (mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 3), and *SMAD4 CDKN2A* and *MEN1* (Sanger Institute, 2017).

The 35% detection rate of *KRAS*-positive tumors and ctDNA reported in this thesis is already promising but the use of more plasma volume might further increase the diagnostic sensitivity to decrease the rate of undetected cases (false negative rate). 50 ng of DNA were used for dPCR analysis in this work. Studies with sequencing methods using the same amount of DNA failed due to difficult sequencing coverage of small allelic fractions (Takai et al., 2015). A higher analyzable plasma volume might also be useful for sequencing as isolated DNA-amount is proportional to plasma volume. This trend can already be inferred by the results published to date (Bettegowda et al., 2014; Sausen et al., 2015).

In short, the diagnostic sensitivity could be increased to successfully detect early stages of pancreatic cancer. These results open a new diagnostic possibility to minimally invasive diagnosis in pancreatic cancer.

#### 4.1.2 Circulating tumor cells

Since the FDA clearance of the CellSearch system for prognosis, research on CTCs has exploded especially in colorectal, prostate and breast cancer (Cohen et al., 2009; Cristofanilli et al., 2004; de Bono et al., 2008). To date, the enumeration of CTCs is the major focus of research which has resulted in a tremendous number of papers in e.g. breast cancer, but also in other indications like pancreatic cancer.

Unfortunately, the absence of a standard for CTC-detection results in different CTCisolation techniques with diverse fixation protocols and staining techniques. This has caused a high number of non-comparable publications. Therefore, the reported detection rates of CTCs in pancreatic cancer range from 5-100% using different methods through all stages with contradictory clinical conclusions and no clear definition of false positive or false negative results. Interestingly, for the detection rate of the low 20% and the high 100% both EpCAM-dependent methods were used in metastatic pancreatic cancer patients (Earl et al., 2015; Nagrath et al., 2007). Even use of the same semi-automated CellSearch method and similar patient populations do not lead to comparable results. Earl et al. (2015) detected CTCs in 20%, Khoja et al. (2012) in 40% and Kurihara et al. (2008) in 42% of patients by CellSearch in metastatic pancreatic cancer patients.

The reported number of CTCs in pancreatic cancer is usually low with few exceptions especially in early, non-metastatic stages (Ankeny et al., 2016). No threshold is set and even one possible CTC is counted as positive result as reported by several studies (Ankeny et al., 2016; Bidard et al., 2013; Kurihara et al., 2008). This might include a strong bias towards higher detection rates and false positives as it depends on the experimenter's eye and the definition of a CTC which is a cytokeratin- and EpCAM-positive, nucleated cell as well as negative for CD45 in most studies (Ligthart et al., 2011). No fully automated devices for CTC enumeration are available to date which might further standardize CTC-analysis. High detection rates are also often described in publications authored by researchers of the company or institute providing the isolation device (Harb et al., 2013; Nagrath et al., 2007). No obvious trend of preferred isolation method is seen using CTCs in pancreatic cancer. The majority of studies have used CellSearch with varying success, probably due to the FDA clearance in other indications.

In this thesis, filtration and EpCAM-dependent method were compared for best detection rate of pancreatic circulating tumor cells from whole blood. EpCAM-dependent methods were shown to be vastly dependent on EpCAM expression (Recovery of EpCAM high cell line: 27% vs. EpCAM low cell line: 1% by IsoFlux; Brychta et al., 2017, under review) and therefore not suitable for pancreatic cancer. Filtration was superior to the antigen-dependent method especially in EpCAM-low expressing cells (IsoFlux: 1%; Filtration: 52%), a finding which has also been reported by other groups (Hofman et al., 2011; Khoja et al., 2012; Wit et al., 2015). As early dissemination of cells from the tumor in pancreas as well as loss of epithelial phenotype by EMT was shown early *in vivo* (Rhim et al., 2012) a size-dependent method might be superior to an antigen-dependent technique especially in early stages. This is already supported by the low amount of CTCs in locally advanced cancer (5%, Bidard et al., 2013) compared to metastatic cancer obtained by EpCAM-dependent CellSearch.

Pancreatic CTCs were successfully isolated by filtration from blood and frozen product of diagnostic leukapheresis. Using frozen DLA product CTCs were detected in 44% of patients with metastatic disease (M1) and 40% of non-metastatic patients (M0) providing a storable medium for characterization of pancreatic CTCs. Leukapheresis is a CTC-enrichment method and might overcome the drawback of CTC-analysis: limited analyzed

blood volume and limited CTC counts. During leukapheresis blood is centrifuged extracorporeally, leaving CTCs in the mononuclear layer. The use of DLA for CTC enumeration from pancreatic cancer has already been positively evaluated for freshly prepared DLA product (Fischer et al., 2013).

In this thesis, a very high number of mononuclear cells (2 x 10<sup>8</sup> cells per mL) had to be used for detection of CTCs especially in early, non-metastatic stages. Fischer et al. also reported promising CTC counts isolated from frozen DLA from breast cancer patients with no enrichment like filtration but sedimentation on a glass slide. This technique showed higher numbers of CTCs than with fresh DLA product and CellSearch enrichment in breast cancer. This leads to the conclusion that both filtration and EpCAM-dependent methods are still not satisfactory for the isolation of CTCs if unenriched methods show superior results even on cryopreserved samples. Apart from EMT for downregulation of epithelial marker, another reason for low CTC detection rates might be the size distribution of CTCs. The size is not uniform and differs from that of cultured cells, as cells isolated from patients are probably smaller (Park et al., 2014; Stoecklein et al., 2016). Therefore, CTCs might slip through the pores of the filter and be missed by staining and detection.

The currently accepted usual definition of the CTC is a CD45-negative, EpCAM- and cytokeratin-positive nucleated cell that may also lead to problems. In blood from patients with pancreatic cysts cytokeratin-positive circulating cells were isolated but no evidence of cancer was seen by the authors to date (Rhim et al., 2014). Furthermore, only few studies have included healthy donors to study the amount of false positive cells using their staining or isolation method (absent in e.g. Bobek et al., 2014; Khoja et al., 2012). In the current work, the detection of CTCs still relies on the epithelial marker cytokeratin. Cells might not be detected as they express cytokeratin only to a minor extend or not at all. A study staining cells by the EMT-independent marker CEP8 (centromere of chromosome 8) already showed promising result in detecting CTCs in pancreatic cancer (88%, Gao et al., 2016).

In CTCs isolated from pancreatic cancer patients, the population of CTCs was heterogenous in this work: both EpCAM-positive and EpCAM-negative CTCs were isolated from one patient. Taking into account the early spread of cells and the devastating prognosis of the disease, this might suggest that pancreatic circulating tumor cells are both EpCAM-negative and smaller than pore size and therefore very prone to

metastasize. The clinical relevance of these findings still has to be proven. In lung cancer, EpCAM-negative CTCs showed no prognostic relevance (de Wit et al., 2015).

The previously listed discrepancies for CTC enumeration urge a better definition of CTCs. One step towards this might be additional analysis of the CTCs like detection of mutations to prove their tumorous origin. The optimization of the of staining of filtered cells and subsequent *KRAS* mutational analysis of cells even isolated from frozen samples in this thesis opens a new path for confirming the source of epithelial cells and might help guiding early diagnosis in future studies. Unfortunately, in this study only 2 CTC positive cases could be investigated for *KRAS* mutations. *KRAS* mutations were not detected being concordant with the wild-type tumor status proving the technical feasibility (Brychta et al., 2017, under review). This number of analyzed CTCs, however, is simply too small to allow any clinical conclusion. In other studies, *KRAS* was detected with a high incidence up to 57% in pancreatic cancer (Earl et al., 2015; Kulemann et al., 2016). In those studies, CTCs were not stained before analysis to confirm presence of the CTCs, but blood was processed and directly subjected to preamplification and sequencing. Additional steps like staining of cells might be responsible for the loss of CTCs.

Although a stronger, tumor-specific definition of CTCs is highly needed, a *KRAS* wildtype tumor will not be detected by single mutational analysis alone. This hinders the screening of healthy individuals as the false negative rate might be high. As already discussed under chapter 4.1.1 Circulating tumor DNA, a panel of mutations might help to identify all subtypes of pancreatic cancer for diagnosis. Court et al. (2016) used modestly sensitive sanger sequencing and detected *KRAS* mutations already in 27% of single CTCs. In this study, amplification is stated as the main introducer of bias. Therefore, advanced methods of sequencing (e.g. third generation sequencing without amplification) might be a promising tool for diagnostics.

As one advantage of circulating cells is their integrity and possibility of other analysis like proteins or RNA, further analysis of CTCs by other pancreatic cell-specific markers might further improve diagnostics. Analysis of the MUC-protein family or RNA analysis in pancreatic circulating cells have already shown promising results in exploiting CTCs as biomarker (Dotan et al., 2016; Yu et al., 2012).

In summary, CTCs were successfully isolated by filtration of frozen DLA from both metastatic and non-metastatic pancreatic cancer patients. No *KRAS* mutations were detected due to wild-type tumors, but the established workflow for subsequent mutational

analysis could reveal the true tumorous origin of these cells and direct identification of CTCs in the future.

# 4.2 Comparison of CTCs and ctDNA as potential diagnostic marker for the detection of pancreatic cancer in early stages

To this day, only few studies have described the potential of circulating tumor DNA and circulating tumor cells as diagnostic tools for early detection of cancer. One incomplete study was performed to identify the best biomarker in pancreatic cancer (Earl et al., 2015). Therein, CTCs were isolated in a minority of patients in late stages whereas *KRAS*-mutant ctDNA was detected in more cases leading to the conclusion that *KRAS* mutations in plasma are a better biomarker for the detection of all stages of pancreatic cancer. This quintessence was also concluded by other researches investigating the potential of CTCs and ctDNA in other entities. ctDNA also seemed to be more sensitive compared to CTCs (enumeration and molecular characterization) also in advanced stages of lung cancer (Freidin et al., 2015; Guibert et al., 2016; Punnoose et al., 2012).

In this thesis, a comparison of CTCs and ctDNA is conducted in terms of early detection of pancreatic cancer, however, in different patient cohorts. Table 1 shows the results obtained in this thesis compared to the serum biomarker CA19.9 for early diagnosis in non-metastatic pancreatic cancer.

	CA19.9		Detection of <i>KRAS</i> in ctDNA	CTC enumeration (Detection of <i>KRAS</i> )
Medium		serum	plasma	DLA-product
Analyzed medium		1 mL	2 mL	2 x 10 <sup>8</sup> cells/mL
Sensitivity [%] (Positive event and cancer)	78.2*	NA in early	35	40 (0)
Specificity [%] (Negative event and no cancer)	82.8*	stages <sup>†</sup>	100	100
Clinical relevance in early stages	no		yes	no
	~ 10% of patients are non-secretor**		KRAS wild-type tu	mor not detectable
Limitations	Elevated levels in patients with biliary construction and pancreatitis***		Threshold setting n analysis in hea	ecessary for <i>KRAS</i> Ithy individuals

**Table 1: Comparison of biomarkers for the early detection of pancreatic cancer.** CA19.9 is compared to *KRAS* detection in ctDNA and CTCs. In terms of specificity, both ctDNA and CTC outplay CA19.9. Sensitivity of *KRAS* detection to determine true tumorous origin is higher in ctDNA. NA = not applicable; \* for already diagnosed pancreatic cancer patients (Poruk et al., 2013); † from (Kim et al., 2004); \*\* from (Ørntoft et al., 1996); \*\*\* from (Lin et al., 2014; Rocha et al., 2007).

The CA19.9 assay shows a calculated sensitivity of 78.2% and a specificity of 82.8% (Poruk et al., 2013). These results are not confirmed in the screening of healthy individuals as both false positives are obtained and the prediction rate for pancreatic cancer of healthy individuals is low (Kim et al., 2004). Additionally, CA19.9 levels might not be elevated if the tumor is small (Locker et al., 2006). However, elevated levels of CA19.9 are also obtained from patients suffering from biliary construction or pancreatitis (Lin et al., 2014; Rocha et al., 2007). Furthermore, the percentage of non-secretors for CA19.9 is high which makes it difficult to differentiate between a non-secretor and a negative healthy value (Ørntoft et al., 1996). Compared to CA19.9, both circulating biomarkers are very specific. Moreover, the sensitivity of the detection of pancreatic cancer by KRAS analysis of ctDNA and the enumeration of CTCs is high in early stages. KRAS mutations were not detected in CTCs from pancreatic cancer patients being fully concordant to the KRAS wild-type tumor. As already previously discussed, the potential of detecting all types of pancreatic cancer in ctDNA by sequencing might further increase sensitivity of detection of pancreatic cancer in early stages. However, the high diagnostic specificity with increased sensitivity achieved in this thesis is a major advantage towards analytical and clinical utility especially in early stages and screening of healthy individuals.

In this work, *KRAS*-mutant ctDNA was successfully detected in 2 mL of plasma in early stages of cancer indicating a possible early diagnostic marker. CTCs in DLA-product are isolated by filtration only if high numbers of mononuclear cells were used. For early detection or screening of healthy or high risk individuals this might be complicated. CTC isolation especially in earlier stages due to sparse numbers of CTCs or their escape from EpCAM-dependent or size-dependent capturing remains the major challenge and decreases their diagnostic sensitivity. Therefore, ctDNA as diagnostic biomarker for early stages of pancreatic cancer is positively evaluated in this thesis outperforming the use of CTCs for diagnostics.

One explanation might be traced back to the unfavorable microenvironment already at early stages. Densely packed stromal cells and decreased vascularization might hinder shedding of cells in the blood compared to small ctDNA molecules. There is also still the question of biological limitations of ctDNA and CTCs. Results were published that the numbers of both CTC and *KRAS*-positive cases are higher in portal vein or pancreatic juice (Berthelemy et al., 1995; Catenacci et al., 2015). Although the surgical drawing of blood from portal vein is not convenient and contradicts the original idea of liquid biopsy, this strengthens the hypothesis that all tumors release both cells and DNA into the blood stream. Due to the neighboring liver, circulating biomarkers are cleared by hepatic sequestration, possibly favoring CTCs over ctDNA. Therefore, the biological restrictions of the use of these markers still have to be investigated.

Additionally, mutational analysis of blood-based biomarker raises the general question which clone or mutation in ctDNA is detected in blood. As the tumor is heterogenic, it is not known if one particular subclone is more prone for shedding into the blood than another and therefore is identified by e.g. digital PCR or sequencing. Furthermore, it is arguable whether one measurement of ctDNA or isolation of one CTC reflects the whole mutational landscape of the tumor. One study reported that for the assessment of mutational status of *KRAS* in pancreatic cancer ten CTCs are necessary to reliably detect the mutation (Court et al., 2016). But especially in early stages of pancreatic cancer, the CTC number is low. This dilemma indicates that several serial measurements are necessary to cover the whole tumor spectrum. No such data are available on ctDNA-analysis.

Although ctDNA has been successfully evaluated for the detection of *KRAS*-mutant ctDNA in plasma of patients diagnosed with early stages of cancer, confirmation in a prospective trial will be required to prove clinical validity. This is of particular relevance for the interpretation of positive results in healthy individuals as the location of disease is unknown. A novel approach includes the unique methylation pattern of cfDNA tracing back to the origin of the tumor (Snyder et al., 2016). Epigenomic analysis and mutant ctDNA analysis of cfDNA would both answer questions about the location of the tumor and possible targeted therapy.

In summary, filtration of high input material of DLA to overcome the challenge of limited analyzable volume for CTC-isolation and subsequent molecular analysis was not successful as diagnostic marker for pancreatic cancer. Improved diagnostic sensitivity and utility was achieved using *KRAS* mutational analysis of ctDNA in early stages of pancreatic cancer.

## 4.3 Excursus: Potential of CTCs for personalized medicine

Although ctDNA was positively evaluated as a potential diagnostic marker outperforming CTCs in this thesis, one major advantage of CTCs is their potential use for testing a variety of predictive markers based on DNA-, protein- or mRNA-analyses.

As single cell molecular biology techniques and sensitivity of assays have improved in the last decades (Figure 6), analysis of CTCs for possible predictive markers for the initiation of minimal invasive personalized medicine have become popular. Detection of genetic aberrations in isolated CTCs with therapeutic relevance were already shown in e.g. *EGFR* analysis in NSCLC and colorectal cancer (Maheswaran et al., 2008; Mostert et al., 2013).

As previously described, a major drawback of CTC-analysis is the usage of limited analyzable blood volume and therefore limited number of CTCs. DLA seems to be a promising source in several entities (Brychta et al., 2017, under review; Fischer et al., 2013). Another approach to increase CTC numbers is the insertion of a wire coated with EpCAM-antibodies into the vein (Saucedo-Zeni et al., 2012). In this thesis, this approach was tested against the FDA-cleared CellSearch system in lung cancer patients (Gorges et al., 2016). CTCs were detected by immunofluorescence and enumerated. The *in vivo* 

approach captured CTCs more sensitively and efficiently than the CellSearch system (*in vivo* wire: 58%, CellSearch: 27%) (Gorges et al., 2016). In patients diagnosed with nonsmall cell lung cancer the pre-operative detection rate of CTCs was even 72%. This result is highly favorable leading to increased detection of CTCs if higher blood volumes can be analyzed. Other studies using CellSearch reported detection rates of only 20%, 39% and 23% (Allard et al., 2004; Hofman et al., 2011; Krebs et al., 2011). The detection rate of CTCs isolated by the *in vivo* wire is also similar to antigen-independent methods like filtration (Krebs et al., 2012). Furthermore, as described in 1.5.2 circulating tumor cells, cells with epithelial character might be more prone for metastasis and therefore more suitable for biomarker assessment. Nevertheless, the relevance of different subtypes of CTCs still has to be proven.

Besides the increased detection rate of CTCs, extensive analysis of CTCs might be useful for stratification of patients, monitoring early detection of response or progression and especially to overcome the challenge of tumor heterogeneity. In this thesis, CTCs from two lung cancer patients with known tumor mutations were analyzed for the mutations *EGFR* and *KRAS*. The mutations were fully in concordance with the tumor mutations (Gorges et al., 2016). These results show the feasibility of mutational analysis especially important for personalized medicine.

In conclusion, using an EpCAM-coated *in vivo* wire in lung cancer patients, CTCs were captured more efficiently than by CellSearch and the number of CTCs was increased. Additional molecular characterization proving the presence of tumor mutations might overcome the challenge of heterogeneity leading towards a precise predictive marker.

# **5** Summary and Conclusion

Pancreatic cancer develops from slowly arising neoplasm over years to rapid progression of the disease to metastatic cancer in months. Therefore, the medical need for biomarkers in early detection of cancer is high. So far, no minimally invasive biomarker is clinically available to diagnose early stages of pancreatic cancer. Additionally, tumor biopsy in diagnosed patients is difficult to obtain and not feasible for

monitoring the disease. Circulating tumor DNA and circulating tumor cells might represent the systemic disease gaining popularity as minimally invasive biomarker. In short, findings of this thesis are

- Feasibility of detection of *KRAS*-mutant ctDNA in early stages of pancreatic cancer with increased diagnostic sensitivity opening a new diagnostic window for early detection of pancreatic cancer.
- Advantages of marker-independent isolation method for the isolation of pancreatic circulating tumor cells and subsequent mutational analysis from frozen leukapheresis samples providing a storable medium for CTCs.
- Higher diagnostic sensitivity of ctDNA compared to CTC analysis in samples of early stages of pancreatic cancer patients
- Increased sensitive detection of CTCs by an *in vivo* device and the feasibility of downstream analysis for possible stratification of lung cancer patients for personalized medicine.

These findings lead to the conclusion that *KRAS*-mutant ctDNA in plasma of patients diagnosed with early stages of pancreatic cancer are a promising diagnostic marker that outperforms CTCs in terms of diagnostic sensitivity. But the clinical validity of these findings is still not proven. ctDNA analysis for diagnostic purposes has to be tested in prospective trials with a long follow up time to prove its value also in healthy individuals. Higher volumes of plasma and therefore higher amounts of analyzable DNA as well as the evolving sequencing technology may further increase sensitivity to detect low allelic frequencies in early stages of pancreatic cancer.

While the prognostic relevance of EpCAM-positive CTCs has been shown by CellSearch studies, the relevance of EpCAM-negative CTCs obtained by filtration still has to be confirmed. Although ctDNA shows relevant clinical feasibility, CTCs itself might add a broader understanding of phenotypic and genotypic characteristics. In this thesis, isolation and subsequent molecular characterization of CTCs from lung cancer already showed the promising potential of CTCs in personalized medicine.

Therefore, CTCs and ctDNA should be studied simultaneously in further prospective studies with long-term follow up.

## 6 Bibliography

- Aird, D., Ross, M. G., Chen, W.-S., Danielsson, M., Fennell, T., Russ, C., Jaffe, D. B., Nusbaum, C. and Gnirke, A. (2011). Analyzing and minimizing PCR amplification bias in Illumina sequencing libraries. *Genome Biology*, 12(2), pp. R18-R18.
- Alix-Panabieres, C. and Pantel, K. (2016). Clinical Applications of Circulating Tumor Cells and Circulating Tumor DNA as Liquid Biopsy. *Cancer Discov*, 6(5), pp. 479-91.
- Allard, W. J., Matera, J., Miller, M. C., Repollet, M., Connelly, M. C., Rao, C., Tibbe, A. G., Uhr, J. W. and Terstappen, L. W. (2004). Tumor cells circulate in the peripheral blood of all major carcinomas but not in healthy subjects or patients with nonmalignant diseases. *Clin Cancer Res*, 10(20), pp. 6897-904.
- Allen, P. J., Kuk, D., Castillo, C. F., Basturk, O., Wolfgang, C. L., Cameron, J. L., Lillemoe, K. D., Ferrone, C. R., Morales-Oyarvide, V., He, J., Weiss, M. J., Hruban, R. H., Gonen, M., Klimstra, D. S. and Mino-Kenudson, M. (2017). Multi-institutional Validation Study of the American Joint Commission on Cancer (8th Edition) Changes for T and N Staging in Patients With Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma. *Ann Surg*, 265(1), pp. 185-91.
- Ankeny, J. S., Court, C. M., Hou, S., Li, Q., Song, M., Wu, D., Chen, J. F., Lee, T., Lin, M., Sho, S., Rochefort, M. M., Girgis, M. D., Yao, J., Wainberg, Z. A., Muthusamy, V. R., Watson, R. R., Donahue, T. R., Hines, O. J., Reber, H. A., Graeber, T. G., Tseng, H. R. and Tomlinson, J. S. (2016). Circulating tumour cells as a biomarker for diagnosis and staging in pancreatic cancer. *Br J Cancer*, 114(12), pp. 1367-75.
- Anker, P., Stroun, M. and Maurice, P. A. (1975). Spontaneous release of DNA by human blood lymphocytes as shown in an in vitro system. *Cancer Res,* 35(9), pp. 2375-82.
- Bailey, P., Chang, D. K., Nones, K., Johns, A. L., Patch, A.-M., Gingras, M.-C., Miller, D. K., Christ, A. N., Bruxner, T. J. C., Quinn, M. C., Nourse, C., Murtaugh, L. C., Harliwong, I., Idrisoglu, S., Manning, S., Nourbakhsh, E., Wani, S., Fink, L., Holmes, O., Chin, V., Anderson, M. J., Kazakoff, S., Leonard, C., Newell, F., Waddell, N., Wood, S., Xu, Q., Wilson, P. J., Cloonan, N., Kassahn, K. S., Taylor, D., Quek, K., Robertson, A., Pantano, L., Mincarelli, L., Sanchez, L. N., Evers, L., Wu, J., Pinese, M., Cowley, M. J., Jones, M. D., Colvin, E. K., Nagrial, A. M., Humphrey, E. S., Chantrill, L. A., Mawson, A., Humphris, J., Chou, A., Pajic, M., Scarlett, C. J., Pinho, A. V., Giry-Laterriere, M., Rooman, I., Samra, J. S., Kench, J. G., Lovell, J. A., Merrett, N. D., Toon, C. W., Epari, K., Nguyen, N. Q., Barbour, A., Zeps, N., Moran-Jones, K., Jamieson, N. B., Graham,

J. S., Duthie, F., Oien, K., Hair, J., Grützmann, R., Maitra, A., Iacobuzio-Donahue, C. A., Wolfgang, C. L., Morgan, R. A., Lawlor, R. T., Corbo, V., Bassi, C., Rusev, B., Capelli, P., Salvia, R., Tortora, G., Mukhopadhyay, D., Petersen, G. M., Australian Pancreatic Cancer Genome, I., Munzy, D. M., Fisher, W. E., Karim, S. A., Eshleman, J. R., Hruban, R. H., Pilarsky, C., Morton, J. P., Sansom, O. J., Scarpa, A., Musgrove, E. A., Bailey, U.-M. H., Hofmann, O., Sutherland, R. L., Wheeler, D. A., Gill, A. J., Gibbs, R. A., Pearson, J. V., Waddell, N., Biankin, A. V. and Grimmond, S. M. (2016). Genomic analyses identify molecular subtypes of pancreatic cancer. *Nature*, 531(7592), pp. 47-52.

- Baines, A. T., Xu, D. and Der, C. J. (2011). Inhibition of Ras for cancer treatment: the search continues. *Future Med Chem*, 3(14), pp. 1787-808.
- Balgkouranidou, I., Chimonidou, M., Milaki, G., Tsarouxa, E. G., Kakolyris, S., Welch, D. R., Georgoulias, V. and Lianidou, E. S. (2014). Breast cancer metastasis suppressor-1 promoter methylation in cell-free DNA provides prognostic information in non-small cell lung cancer. *Br J Cancer*, 110(8), pp. 2054-62.
- Bean, J., Brennan, C., Shih, J.-Y., Riely, G., Viale, A., Wang, L., Chitale, D., Motoi, N., Szoke, J., Broderick, S., Balak, M., Chang, W.-C., Yu, C.-J., Gazdar, A., Pass, H., Rusch, V., Gerald, W., Huang, S.-F., Yang, P.-C., Miller, V., Ladanyi, M., Yang, C.-H. and Pao, W. (2007). MET amplification occurs with or without T790M mutations in EGFR mutant lung tumors with acquired resistance to gefitinib or erlotinib. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(52), pp. 20932-20937.
- Becker, A. E., Hernandez, Y. G., Frucht, H. and Lucas, A. L. (2014). Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: risk factors, screening, and early detection. *World J Gastroenterol,* 20(32), pp. 11182-98.
- Berthelemy, P., Bouisson, M., Escourrou, J., Vaysse, N., Rumeau, J. and Pradayrol, L. (1995). IDentification of k-ras mutations in pancreatic juice in the early diagnosis of pancreatic cancer. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 123(3), pp. 188-191.
- Bettegowda, C., Sausen, M., Leary, R. J., Kinde, I., Wang, Y., Agrawal, N., Bartlett, B. R.,
  Wang, H., Luber, B., Alani, R. M., Antonarakis, E. S., Azad, N. S., Bardelli, A., Brem,
  H., Cameron, J. L., Lee, C. C., Fecher, L. A., Gallia, G. L., Gibbs, P., Le, D., Giuntoli, R.
  L., Goggins, M., Hogarty, M. D., Holdhoff, M., Hong, S.-M., Jiao, Y., Juhl, H. H., Kim, J.
  J., Siravegna, G., Laheru, D. A., Lauricella, C., Lim, M., Lipson, E. J., Marie, S. K. N.,
  Netto, G. J., Oliner, K. S., Olivi, A., Olsson, L., Riggins, G. J., Sartore-Bianchi, A.,
  Schmidt, K., Shih, I.-M., Oba-Shinjo, S. M., Siena, S., Theodorescu, D., Tie, J., Harkins,

T. T., Veronese, S., Wang, T.-L., Weingart, J. D., Wolfgang, C. L., Wood, L. D., Xing, D., Hruban, R. H., Wu, J., Allen, P. J., Schmidt, C. M., Choti, M. A., Velculescu, V. E., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B., Papadopoulos, N. and Diaz, L. A. (2014). Detection of Circulating Tumor DNA in Early- and Late-Stage Human Malignancies. *Sci Transl Med*, 6(224), pp. 224ra24.

- Biankin, A. V., Waddell, N., Kassahn, K. S., Gingras, M.-C., Muthuswamy, L. B., Johns, A. L., Miller, D. K., Wilson, P. J., Patch, A.-M., Wu, J., Chang, D. K., Cowley, M. J., Gardiner, B. B., Song, S., Harliwong, I., Idrisoglu, S., Nourse, C., Nourbakhsh, E., Manning, S., Wani, S., Gongora, M., Pajic, M., Scarlett, C. J., Gill, A. J., Pinho, A. V., Rooman, I., Anderson, M., Holmes, O., Leonard, C., Taylor, D., Wood, S., Xu, Q., Nones, K., Lynn Fink, J., Christ, A., Bruxner, T., Cloonan, N., Kolle, G., Newell, F., Pinese, M., Scott Mead, R., Humphris, J. L., Kaplan, W., Jones, M. D., Colvin, E. K., Nagrial, A. M., Humphrey, E. S., Chou, A., Chin, V. T., Chantrill, L. A., Mawson, A., Samra, J. S., Kench, J. G., Lovell, J. A., Daly, R. J., Merrett, N. D., Toon, C., Epari, K., Nguyen, N. Q., Barbour, A., Zeps, N., Kakkar, N., Zhao, F., Qing Wu, Y., Wang, M., Muzny, D. M., Fisher, W. E., Charles Brunicardi, F., Hodges, S. E., Reid, J. G., Drummond, J., Chang, K., Han, Y., Lewis, L. R., Dinh, H., Buhay, C. J., Beck, T., Timms, L., Sam, M., Begley, K., Brown, A., Pai, D., Panchal, A., Buchner, N., De Borja, R., Denroche, R. E., Yung, C. K., Serra, S., Onetto, N., Mukhopadhyay, D., Tsao, M.-S., Shaw, P. A., Petersen, G. M., Gallinger, S., Hruban, R. H., Maitra, A., Iacobuzio-Donahue, C. A., Schulick, R. D., Wolfgang, C. L., Morgan, R. A., Lawlor, R. T., Capelli, P., Corbo, V., Scardoni, M., Tortora, G., Tempero, M. A., Mann, K. M., Jenkins, N. A., Perez-Mancera, P. A., Adams, D. J., Largaespada, D. A., Wessels, L. F. A., Rust, A. G., Stein, L. D., Tuveson, D. A., Copeland, N. G., Musgrove, E. A., Scarpa, A., Eshleman, J. R., Hudson, T. J., Sutherland, R. L., Wheeler, D. A., Pearson, J. V., McPherson, J. D., Gibbs, R. A. and Grimmond, S. M. (2012). Pancreatic cancer genomes reveal aberrations in axon guidance pathway genes. Nature, 491(7424), pp. 399-405.
- Bidard, F. C., Huguet, F., Louvet, C., Mineur, L., Bouche, O., Chibaudel, B., Artru, P., Desseigne, F., Bachet, J. B., Mathiot, C., Pierga, J. Y. and Hammel, P. (2013). Circulating tumor cells in locally advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma: the ancillary CirCe 07 study to the LAP 07 trial. *Ann Oncol,* 24(8), pp. 2057-61.
- Bobek, V., Gurlich, R., Eliasova, P. and Kolostova, K. (2014). Circulating tumor cells in pancreatic cancer patients: enrichment and cultivation. *World J Gastroenterol*, 20(45), pp. 17163-70.

- Boyd, Z. S., Raja, R., Johnson, S., Eberhard, D. A. and Lackner, M. R. (2009). A Tumor Sorting Protocol that Enables Enrichment of Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma Cells and Facilitation of Genetic Analyses. *J Mol Diagn*, 11(4), pp. 290-297.
- Breitbach, S., Tug, S., Helmig, S., Zahn, D., Kubiak, T., Michal, M., Gori, T., Ehlert, T., Beiter, T. and Simon, P. (2014). Direct Quantification of Cell-Free, Circulating DNA from Unpurified Plasma. *PLoS One*, 9(3), pp. e87838.
- Breitenbuecher, F., Hoffarth, S., Worm, K., Cortes-Incio, D., Gauler, T. C., Köhler, J., Herold,
  T., Schmid, K. W., Freitag, L., Kasper, S. and Schuler, M. (2014). Development of a
  Highly Sensitive and Specific Method for Detection of Circulating Tumor Cells
  Harboring Somatic Mutations in Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer Patients. *PLoS One*, 9(1),
  pp. e85350.
- Brychta, N., Drosch, M., Driemel, C., Fischer, J. C., Neves, R. P., Knoefel, W., Moehlendick,
  B., Hille, C., Stresemann, A., Krahn, T., Kassack, M. U., Stoecklein, N. H. and von
  Ahsen, O. (2017). Isolation of Circulating Tumor Cells from Pancreatic Cancer by
  Automated Filtration. *Oncotarget; submitted and under review*.
- Brychta, N., Krahn, T. and von Ahsen, O. (2016). Detection of KRAS Mutations in Circulating Tumor DNA by Digital PCR in Early Stages of Pancreatic Cancer. *Clin Chem*, 62(11), pp. 1482-91.
- Burrell, R. A., McGranahan, N., Bartek, J. and Swanton, C. (2013). The causes and consequences of genetic heterogeneity in cancer evolution. *Nature*, 501(7467), pp. 338-45.
- Burrell, R. A. and Swanton, C. (2014). Tumour heterogeneity and the evolution of polyclonal drug resistance. *Mol Oncol,* 8(6), pp. 1095-1111.
- Calvez-Kelm, F. L., Foll, M., Wozniak, M. B., Delhomme, T. M., Durand, G., Chopard, P., Pertesi, M., Fabianova, E., Adamcakova, Z., Holcatova, I., Foretova, L., Janout, V., Vallee, M. P., Rinaldi, S., Brennan, P., McKay, J. D., Byrnes, G. B. and Scelo, G. (2016). KRAS mutations in blood circulating cell-free DNA: a pancreatic cancer casecontrol. *Oncotarget*.
- Camps, C., Jantus-Lewintre, E., Cabrera, A., Blasco, A., Sanmartin, E., Gallach, S., Caballero, C., del Pozo, N., Rosell, R., Guijarro, R. and Sirera, R. (2011). The identification of KRAS mutations at codon 12 in plasma DNA is not a prognostic factor in advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients. *Lung Cancer*, 72(3), pp. 365-9.

- Canto, M. I., Goggins, M., Yeo, C. J., Griffin, C., Axilbund, J. E., Brune, K., Ali, S. Z., Jagannath, S., Petersen, G. M., Fishman, E. K., Piantadosi, S., Giardiello, F. M. and Hruban, R. H. (2004). Screening for pancreatic neoplasia in high-risk individuals: an EUS-based approach. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 2(7), pp. 606-21.
- Castells, A., Puig, P., Móra, J., Boadas, J., Boix, L., Urgell, E., Solé, M., Capellà, G., Lluís,
  F., Fernández-Cruz, L., Navarro, S. and Farré, A. (1999). K-ras Mutations in DNA
  Extracted From the Plasma of Patients With Pancreatic Carcinoma: Diagnostic Utility
  and Prognostic Significance. *J Clin Oncol*, 17(2), pp. 578-84.
- Catenacci, D. V. T., Chapman, C. G., Xu, P., Koons, A., Konda, V. J., Siddiqui, U. D. and Waxman, I. (2015). Acquisition of Portal Venous Circulating Tumor Cells From Patients With Pancreaticobiliary Cancers by Endoscopic Ultrasound. *Gastroenterology*, 149(7), pp. 1794-803.e4.
- Celia-Terrassa, T., Meca-Cortes, O., Mateo, F., Martinez de Paz, A., Rubio, N., Arnal-Estape, A., Ell, B. J., Bermudo, R., Diaz, A., Guerra-Rebollo, M., Lozano, J. J., Estaras, C., Ulloa, C., Alvarez-Simon, D., Mila, J., Vilella, R., Paciucci, R., Martinez-Balbas, M., de Herreros, A. G., Gomis, R. R., Kang, Y., Blanco, J., Fernandez, P. L. and Thomson, T. M. (2012). Epithelial-mesenchymal transition can suppress major attributes of human epithelial tumor-initiating cells. *J Clin Invest*, 122(5), pp. 1849-68.
- Chaffer, C. L., Brennan, J. P., Slavin, J. L., Blick, T., Thompson, E. W. and Williams, E. D. (2006). Mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition facilitates bladder cancer metastasis: role of fibroblast growth factor receptor-2. *Cancer Res*, 66(23), pp. 11271-8.
- Chan, K. C. A., Jiang, P., Zheng, Y. W. L., Liao, G. J. W., Sun, H., Wong, J., Siu, S. S. N., Chan, W. C., Chan, S. L., Chan, A. T. C., Lai, P. B. S., Chiu, R. W. K. and Lo, Y. M. D. (2013). Cancer Genome Scanning in Plasma: Detection of Tumor-Associated Copy Number Aberrations, Single-Nucleotide Variants, and Tumoral Heterogeneity by Massively Parallel Sequencing. *Clin Chem*, 59(1), pp. 211-24.
- Chang, C. P., Chia, R. H., Wu, T. L., Tsao, K. C., Sun, C. F. and Wu, J. T. (2003). Elevated cell-free serum DNA detected in patients with myocardial infarction. *Clin Chim Acta*, 327(1-2), pp. 95-101.
- Chang, C. Y., Huang, S. P., Chiu, H. M., Lee, Y. C., Chen, M. F. and Lin, J. T. (2006). Low efficacy of serum levels of CA 19-9 in prediction of malignant diseases in asymptomatic population in Taiwan. *Hepatogastroenterology*, 53(67), pp. 1-4.

- Chen, K.-Z., Lou, F., Yang, F., Zhang, J.-B., Ye, H., Chen, W., Guan, T., Zhao, M.-Y., Su, X.-X., Shi, R., Jones, L., Huang, X. F., Chen, S.-Y. and Wang, J. (2016). Circulating Tumor DNA Detection in Early-Stage Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Patients by Targeted Sequencing. *Sci Rep,* 6, pp. 31985.
- Cheng, S. H., Jiang, P., Sun, K., Cheng, Y. K., Chan, K. C., Leung, T. Y., Chiu, R. W. and Lo, Y. M. (2015). Noninvasive prenatal testing by nanopore sequencing of maternal plasma DNA: feasibility assessment. *Clin Chem*, 61(10), pp. 1305-6.
- Chung, K. H., Ryu, J. K., Oh, H. S., Seo, J. Y., Jin, E., Lee, D. H., Kim, Y.-T. and Yoon, Y. B. (2012). Pancreatic Pseudocyst after Endoscopic Ultrasound-Guided Fine Needle Aspiration of Pancreatic Mass. *Clin Endosc*, 45(4), pp. 431-4.
- Cohen, S. J., Punt, C. J., Iannotti, N., Saidman, B. H., Sabbath, K. D., Gabrail, N. Y., Picus, J., Morse, M. A., Mitchell, E., Miller, M. C., Doyle, G. V., Tissing, H., Terstappen, L. W. and Meropol, N. J. (2009). Prognostic significance of circulating tumor cells in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Ann Oncol*, 20(7), pp. 1223-9.
- Collins, M. A., Bednar, F., Zhang, Y., Brisset, J.-C., Galbán, S., Galbán, C. J., Rakshit, S., Flannagan, K. S., Adsay, N. V. and Pasca di Magliano, M. (2012). Oncogenic Kras is required for both the initiation and maintenance of pancreatic cancer in mice. *J Clin Invest*, 122(2), pp. 639-53.
- Compagno, J. and Oertel, J. E. (1978). Mucinous Cystic Neoplasms of the Pancreas with Overt and Latent Malignancy (Cystadenocarcinoma and Cystadenoma): A Clinicopathologic Study of 41 Cases. *American Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 69(6), pp. 573-580.
- Conroy, T., Desseigne, F., Ychou, M., Bouché, O., Guimbaud, R., Bécouarn, Y., Adenis, A., Raoul, J.-L., Gourgou-Bourgade, S., de la Fouchardière, C., Bennouna, J., Bachet, J.-B., Khemissa-Akouz, F., Péré-Vergé, D., Delbaldo, C., Assenat, E., Chauffert, B., Michel, P., Montoto-Grillot, C. and Ducreux, M. (2011). FOLFIRINOX versus Gemcitabine for Metastatic Pancreatic Cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 364(19), pp. 1817-1825.
- Coumans, F. A. W., Ligthart, S. T., Uhr, J. W. and Terstappen, L. W. M. M. (2012). Challenges in the Enumeration and Phenotyping of CTC. *Clin Cancer Res,* 18(20), pp. 5711-8.

- Court, C. M., Ankeny, J. S., Sho, S., Hou, S., Li, Q., Hsieh, C., Song, M., Liao, X., Rochefort, M. M., Wainberg, Z. A., Graeber, T. G., Tseng, H.-R. and Tomlinson, J. S. (2016).
  Reality of Single Circulating Tumor Cell Sequencing for Molecular Diagnostics in Pancreatic Cancer. *The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics*, 18(5), pp. 688-696.
- Cristofanilli, M., Budd, G. T., Ellis, M. J., Stopeck, A., Matera, J., Miller, M. C., Reuben, J. M., Doyle, G. V., Allard, W. J., Terstappen, L. W. and Hayes, D. F. (2004). Circulating tumor cells, disease progression, and survival in metastatic breast cancer. *N Engl J Med*, 351(8), pp. 781-91.
- Croce, C. M. (2008). Oncogenes and Cancer. N Engl J Med, 358(5), pp. 502-11.
- Cross, D. A. E., Ashton, S. E., Ghiorghiu, S., Eberlein, C., Nebhan, C. A., Spitzler, P. J., Orme, J. P., Finlay, M. R. V., Ward, R. A., Mellor, M. J., Hughes, G., Rahi, A., Jacobs, V. N., Brewer, M. R., Ichihara, E., Sun, J., Jin, H., Ballard, P., Al-Kadhimi, K., Rowlinson, R., Klinowska, T., Richmond, G. H. P., Cantarini, M., Kim, D.-W., Ranson, M. R. and Pao, W. (2014). AZD9291, an Irreversible EGFR TKI, Overcomes T790M-Mediated Resistance to EGFR Inhibitors in Lung Cancer. *Cancer Discov*, 4(9), pp. 1046-1061.
- Dawson, S.-J., Tsui, D. W. Y., Murtaza, M., Biggs, H., Rueda, O. M., Chin, S.-F., Dunning, M. J., Gale, D., Forshew, T., Mahler-Araujo, B., Rajan, S., Humphray, S., Becq, J., Halsall, D., Wallis, M., Bentley, D., Caldas, C. and Rosenfeld, N. (2013). Analysis of Circulating Tumor DNA to Monitor Metastatic Breast Cancer. *N Engl J Med*, 368(13), pp. 1199-209.
- de Bono, J. S., Scher, H. I., Montgomery, R. B., Parker, C., Miller, M. C., Tissing, H., Doyle, G. V., Terstappen, L. W., Pienta, K. J. and Raghavan, D. (2008). Circulating tumor cells predict survival benefit from treatment in metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer. *Clin Cancer Res*, 14(19), pp. 6302-9.
- de Wit, S., van Dalum, G., Lenferink, A. T., Tibbe, A. G., Hiltermann, T. J., Groen, H. J., van Rijn, C. J. and Terstappen, L. W. (2015). The detection of EpCAM(+) and EpCAM(-) circulating tumor cells. *Sci Rep,* 5, pp. 12270.
- Del Villano, B. C., Brennan, S., Brock, P., Bucher, C., Liu, V., McClure, M., Rake, B., Space, S., Westrick, B., Schoemaker, H. and Zurawski, V. R., Jr. (1983). Radioimmunometric assay for a monoclonal antibody-defined tumor marker, CA 19-9. *Clin Chem*, 29(3), pp. 549-52.

- Diaz, L. A. and Bardelli, A. (2014). Liquid Biopsies: Genotyping Circulating Tumor DNA. *J Clin Oncol,* 32(6), pp. 579-86.
- Diaz, L. A., Jr., Williams, R. T., Wu, J., Kinde, I., Hecht, J. R., Berlin, J., Allen, B., Bozic, I., Reiter, J. G., Nowak, M. A., Kinzler, K. W., Oliner, K. S. and Vogelstein, B. (2012). The molecular evolution of acquired resistance to targeted EGFR blockade in colorectal cancers. *Nature*, 486(7404), pp. 537-40.
- Diehl, F., Li, M., Dressman, D., He, Y., Shen, D., Szabo, S., Diaz, L. A., Jr., Goodman, S. N., David, K. A., Juhl, H., Kinzler, K. W. and Vogelstein, B. (2005). Detection and quantification of mutations in the plasma of patients with colorectal tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102(45), pp. 16368-73.
- Diehl, F., Schmidt, K., Choti, M. A., Romans, K., Goodman, S., Li, M., Thornton, K., Agrawal, N., Sokoll, L., Szabo, S. A., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B. and Diaz, L. A., Jr. (2008).
  Circulating mutant DNA to assess tumor dynamics. *Nat Med*, 14(9), pp. 985-90.
- Ding, L., Getz, G., Wheeler, D. A., Mardis, E. R., McLellan, M. D., Cibulskis, K., Sougnez, C., Greulich, H., Muzny, D. M., Morgan, M. B., Fulton, L., Fulton, R. S., Zhang, Q., Wendl, M. C., Lawrence, M. S., Larson, D. E., Chen, K., Dooling, D. J., Sabo, A., Hawes, A. C., Shen, H., Jhangiani, S. N., Lewis, L. R., Hall, O., Zhu, Y., Mathew, T., Ren, Y., Yao, J., Scherer, S. E., Clerc, K., Metcalf, G. A., Ng, B., Milosavljevic, A., Gonzalez-Garay, M. L., Osborne, J. R., Meyer, R., Shi, X., Tang, Y., Koboldt, D. C., Lin, L., Abbott, R., Miner, T. L., Pohl, C., Fewell, G., Haipek, C., Schmidt, H., Dunford-Shore, B. H., Kraja, A., Crosby, S. D., Sawyer, C. S., Vickery, T., Sander, S., Robinson, J., Winckler, W., Baldwin, J., Chirieac, L. R., Dutt, A., Fennell, T., Hanna, M., Johnson, B. E., Onofrio, R. C., Thomas, R. K., Tonon, G., Weir, B. A., Zhao, X., Ziaugra, L., Zody, M. C., Giordano, T., Orringer, M. B., Roth, J. A., Spitz, M. R., Wistuba, II, Ozenberger, B., Good, P. J., Chang, A. C., Beer, D. G., Watson, M. A., Ladanyi, M., Broderick, S., Yoshizawa, A., Travis, W. D., Pao, W., Province, M. A., Weinstock, G. M., Varmus, H. E., Gabriel, S. B., Lander, E. S., Gibbs, R. A., Meyerson, M. and Wilson, R. K. (2008). Somatic mutations affect key pathways in lung adenocarcinoma. Nature, 455(7216), pp. 1069-75.
- Dotan, E., Alpaugh, R. K., Ruth, K., Negin, B. P., Denlinger, C. S., Hall, M. J., Astsaturov, I., McAleer, C., Fittipaldi, P., Thrash-Bingham, C., Meropol, N. J. and Cohen, S. J. (2016).
  Prognostic Significance of MUC-1 in Circulating Tumor Cells in Patients With Metastatic Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma. *Pancreas*, 45(8), pp. 1131-5.

- Dressman, D., Yan, H., Traverso, G., Kinzler, K. W. and Vogelstein, B. (2003). Transforming single DNA molecules into fluorescent magnetic particles for detection and enumeration of genetic variations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100(15), pp. 8817-22.
- Duraker, N., Hot, S., Polat, Y., Höbek, A., Gençler, N. and Urhan, N. (2007). CEA, CA 19-9, and CA 125 in the differential diagnosis of benign and malignant pancreatic diseases with or without jaundice. *J Surg Oncol*, 95(2), pp. 142-7.
- Earl, J., Garcia-Nieto, S., Martinez-Avila, J. C., Montans, J., Sanjuanbenito, A., Rodriguez-Garrote, M., Lisa, E., Mendia, E., Lobo, E., Malats, N., Carrato, A. and Guillen-Ponce, C. (2015). Circulating tumor cells (Ctc) and kras mutant circulating free Dna (cfdna) detection in peripheral blood as biomarkers in patients diagnosed with exocrine pancreatic cancer. *BMC Cancer*, 15, pp. 797.
- Eberhard, D. A., Johnson, B. E., Amler, L. C., Goddard, A. D., Heldens, S. L., Herbst, R. S., Ince, W. L., Jänne, P. A., Januario, T., Johnson, D. H., Klein, P., Miller, V. A., Ostland, M. A., Ramies, D. A., Sebisanovic, D., Stinson, J. A., Zhang, Y. R., Seshagiri, S. and Hillan, K. J. (2005). Mutations in the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor and in KRAS Are Predictive and Prognostic Indicators in Patients With Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer Treated With Chemotherapy Alone and in Combination With Erlotinib. *J Clin Oncol*, 23(25), pp. 5900-9.
- Everhart, J. and Wright, D. (1995). Diabetes mellitus as a risk factor for pancreatic cancer. A meta-analysis. *Jama*, 273(20), pp. 1605-9.
- FDA-NIH Biomarker Working Group (2016). BEST (Biomarkers, EndpointS, and other Tools).
  Silver Spring (MD): Food and Drug Administration (US): Co-published by National Institutes of Health (US), Bethesda (MD). Available: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK326791/ [Accessed 20th Feb. 2017].
- Feig, C., Gopinathan, A., Neesse, A., Chan, D. S., Cook, N. and Tuveson, D. A. (2012). The pancreas cancer microenvironement. *Clin Cancer Res,* 18(16), pp. 4266-76.
- Fidler, I. J. (1970). Metastasis: quantitative analysis of distribution and fate of tumor emboli labeled with 125 I-5-iodo-2'-deoxyuridine. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 45(4), pp. 773-82.
- Fidler, I. J. (2003). The pathogenesis of cancer metastasis: the 'seed and soil' hypothesis revisited. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 3(6), pp. 453-8.
- Fischer, J. C., Niederacher, D., Topp, S. A., Honisch, E., Schumacher, S., Schmitz, N., Zacarias Fohrding, L., Vay, C., Hoffmann, I., Kasprowicz, N. S., Hepp, P. G.,

Mohrmann, S., Nitz, U., Stresemann, A., Krahn, T., Henze, T., Griebsch, E., Raba, K., Rox, J. M., Wenzel, F., Sproll, C., Janni, W., Fehm, T., Klein, C. A., Knoefel, W. T. and Stoecklein, N. H. (2013). Diagnostic leukapheresis enables reliable detection of circulating tumor cells of nonmetastatic cancer patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 110(41), pp. 16580-5.

- Fleischhacker, M., Schmidt, B., Weickmann, S., Fersching, D. M., Leszinski, G. S., Siegele,
  B., Stotzer, O. J., Nagel, D. and Holdenrieder, S. (2011). Methods for isolation of cellfree plasma DNA strongly affect DNA yield. *Clin Chim Acta*, 412(23-24), pp. 2085-8.
- Forshew, T., Murtaza, M., Parkinson, C., Gale, D., Tsui, D. W. Y., Kaper, F., Dawson, S.-J.,
  Piskorz, A. M., Jimenez-Linan, M., Bentley, D., Hadfield, J., May, A. P., Caldas, C.,
  Brenton, J. D. and Rosenfeld, N. (2012). Noninvasive Identification and Monitoring of
  Cancer Mutations by Targeted Deep Sequencing of Plasma DNA. *Sci Transl Med*,
  4(136), pp. 136ra68.
- Freidin, M. B., Freydina, D. V., Leung, M., Montero Fernandez, A., Nicholson, A. G. and Lim,
   E. (2015). Circulating tumor DNA outperforms circulating tumor cells for KRAS mutation detection in thoracic malignancies. *Clin Chem*, 61(10), pp. 1299-304.
- Fuchs, C. S., Colditz, G. A., Stampfer, M. J. and et al. (1996). A prospective study of cigarette smoking and the risk of pancreatic cancer. *Arch Intern Med*, 156(19), pp. 2255-60.
- Gao, Y., Zhu, Y., Zhang, Z., Zhang, C., Huang, X. and Yuan, Z. (2016). Clinical significance of pancreatic circulating tumor cells using combined negative enrichment and immunostaining-fluorescence in situ hybridization. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res*, 35, pp. 66.
- Garrido-Laguna, I. and Hidalgo, M. (2015). Pancreatic cancer: from state-of-the-art treatments to promising novel therapies. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol*, 12(6), pp. 319-34.
- Gazzaniga, P., Gradilone, A., de Berardinis, E., Busetto, G. M., Raimondi, C., Gandini, O., Nicolazzo, C., Petracca, A., Vincenzi, B., Farcomeni, A., Gentile, V., Cortesi, E. and Frati, L. (2012). Prognostic value of circulating tumor cells in nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer: a CellSearch analysis. *Ann Oncol,* 23(9), pp. 2352-6.
- Gerlinger, M., Rowan , A. J., Horswell , S., Larkin , J., Endesfelder , D., Gronroos , E., Martinez , P., Matthews , N., Stewart , A., Tarpey , P., Varela , I., Phillimore , B., Begum , S., McDonald , N. Q., Butler , A., Jones , D., Raine , K., Latimer , C., Santos , C. R., Nohadani , M., Eklund , A. C., Spencer-Dene , B., Clark , G., Pickering , L.,

Stamp , G., Gore , M., Szallasi , Z., Downward , J., Futreal , P. A. and Swanton , C. (2012). Intratumor Heterogeneity and Branched Evolution Revealed by Multiregion Sequencing. *N Engl J Med*, 366(10), pp. 883-92.

- Gorges, T. M., Penkalla, N., Schalk, T., Joosse, S. A., Riethdorf, S., Tucholski, J., Lucke, K., Wikman, H., Jackson, S., Brychta, N., von Ahsen, O., Schumann, C., Krahn, T. and Pantel, K. (2016). Enumeration and Molecular Characterization of Tumor Cells in Lung Cancer Patients Using a Novel In Vivo Device for Capturing Circulating Tumor Cells. *Clin Cancer Res*, 22(9), pp. 2197-206.
- Gorges, T. M., Tinhofer, I., Drosch, M., Rose, L., Zollner, T. M., Krahn, T. and von Ahsen, O. (2012). Circulating tumour cells escape from EpCAM-based detection due to epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. *BMC Cancer*, 12, pp. 178.
- Greaves, M. and Maley, C. C. (2012). Clonal Evolution in Cancer. *Nature*, 481(7381), pp. 306-13.
- Grunnet, M. and Sorensen, J. B. (2012). Carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) as tumor marker in lung cancer. *Lung Cancer*, 76(2), pp. 138-43.
- Guibert, N., Pradines, A., Farella, M., Casanova, A., Gouin, S., Keller, L., Favre, G. and Mazieres, J. (2016). Monitoring KRAS mutations in circulating DNA and tumor cells using digital droplet PCR during treatment of KRAS-mutated lung adenocarcinoma. *Lung Cancer*, 100, pp. 1-4.
- Guo, N., Lou, F., Ma, Y., Li, J., Yang, B., Chen, W., Ye, H., Zhang, J.-B., Zhao, M.-Y., Wu, W.-J., Shi, R., Jones, L., Chen, K. S., Huang, X. F., Chen, S.-Y. and Liu, Y. (2016). Circulating tumor DNA detection in lung cancer patients before and after surgery. *Sci Rep*, 6, pp. 33519.
- Gupta, P. B., Mani, S., Yang, J., Hartwell, K. and Weinberg, R. A. (2005). The evolving portrait of cancer metastasis. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol,* 70, pp. 291-7.
- Haber, D. A. and Velculescu, V. E. (2014). Blood-Based Analyses of Cancer: Circulating Tumor Cells and Circulating Tumor DNA. *Cancer Discov*, 4(6), pp. 650-61.
- Hadano, N., Murakami, Y., Uemura, K., Hashimoto, Y., Kondo, N., Nakagawa, N., Sueda, T. and Hiyama, E. (2016). Prognostic value of circulating tumour DNA in patients undergoing curative resection for pancreatic cancer. *Br J Cancer*, 115(1), pp. 59-65.

Hanahan, D. and Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The Hallmarks of Cancer. Cell, 100(1), pp. 57-70.

- Hanahan, D. and Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of Cancer: The Next Generation. *Cell*, 144(5), pp. 646-74.
- Harb, W., Fan, A., Tran, T., Danila, D. C., Keys, D., Schwartz, M. and Ionescu-Zanetti, C. (2013). Mutational Analysis of Circulating Tumor Cells Using a Novel Microfluidic Collection Device and qPCR Assay. *Transl Oncol*, 6(5), pp. 528-38.
- Heitzer, E., Auer, M., Hoffmann, E. M., Pichler, M., Gasch, C., Ulz, P., Lax, S., Waldispuehl-Geigl, J., Mauermann, O., Mohan, S., Pristauz, G., Lackner, C., Höfler, G., Eisner, F., Petru, E., Sill, H., Samonigg, H., Pantel, K., Riethdorf, S., Bauernhofer, T., Geigl, J. B. and Speicher, M. R. (2013). Establishment of tumor-specific copy number alterations from plasma DNA of patients with cancer. *Int J Cancer*, 133(2), pp. 346-56.
- Henry, N. L. and Hayes, D. F. (2012). Cancer biomarkers. Mol Oncol, 6(2), pp. 140-6.
- Herbst, R. S., Heymach, J. V. and Lippman, S. M. (2008). Lung Cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 359(13), pp. 1367-1380.
- Hofman, V., Ilie, M. I., Long, E., Selva, E., Bonnetaud, C., Molina, T., Venissac, N., Mouroux, J., Vielh, P. and Hofman, P. (2011). Detection of circulating tumor cells as a prognostic factor in patients undergoing radical surgery for non-small-cell lung carcinoma: comparison of the efficacy of the CellSearch Assay and the isolation by size of epithelial tumor cell method. *Int J Cancer*, 129(7), pp. 1651-60.
- Hollstein, M., Sidransky, D., Vogelstein, B. and Harris, C. C. (1991). p53 mutations in human cancers. *Science*, 253(5015), pp. 49-53.
- Holly, E. A., Chaliha, I., Bracci, P. M. and Gautam, M. (2004). Signs and symptoms of pancreatic cancer: a population-based case-control study in the San Francisco Bay area. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 2(6), pp. 510-7.
- Homma, T. and Tsuchiya, R. (1991). The study of the mass screening of persons without symptoms and of the screening of outpatients with gastrointestinal complaints or icterus for pancreatic cancer in Japan, using CA19-9 and elastase-1 or ultrasonography. *Int J Pancreatol*, 9, pp. 119-24.
- Hvichia, G. E., Parveen, Z., Wagner, C., Janning, M., Quidde, J., Stein, A., Müller, V., Loges, S., Neves, R. P. L., Stoecklein, N. H., Wikman, H., Riethdorf, S., Pantel, K. and Gorges, T. M. (2016). A novel microfluidic platform for size and deformability based separation and the subsequent molecular characterization of viable circulating tumor cells. *Int J Cancer*, 138(12), pp. 2894-904.

- Ilie, M., Hofman, V., Long-Mira, E., Selva, E., Vignaud, J.-M., Padovani, B., Mouroux, J., Marquette, C.-H. and Hofman, P. (2014). "Sentinel" Circulating Tumor Cells Allow Early Diagnosis of Lung Cancer in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *PLoS One*, 9(10), pp. e111597.
- Imperiale, T. F., Ransohoff, D. F., Itzkowitz, S. H., Levin, T. R., Lavin, P., Lidgard, G. P., Ahlquist, D. A. and Berger, B. M. (2014). Multitarget Stool DNA Testing for Colorectal-Cancer Screening. *N Engl J Med*, 370(14), pp. 1287-97.
- Jahr, S., Hentze, H., Englisch, S., Hardt, D., Fackelmayer, F. O., Hesch, R. D. and Knippers, R. (2001). DNA fragments in the blood plasma of cancer patients: quantitations and evidence for their origin from apoptotic and necrotic cells. *Cancer Res,* 61(4), pp. 1659-65.
- Janssen Diagnostics (2017). *CellSearch.* Available: https://www.cellsearchctc.com/ [Accessed 27th Feb. 2017].
- Jiao, Y., Shi, C., Edil, B. H., de Wilde, R. F., Klimstra, D. S., Maitra, A., Schulick, R. D., Tang,
  L. H., Wolfgang, C. L., Choti, M. A., Velculescu, V. E., Diaz, L. A., Jr., Vogelstein, B.,
  Kinzler, K. W., Hruban, R. H. and Papadopoulos, N. (2011). DAXX/ATRX, MEN1, and
  mTOR pathway genes are frequently altered in pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors. *Science*, 331(6021), pp. 1199-203.
- Jones, S., Zhang, X., Parsons, D. W., Lin, J. C.-H., Leary, R. J., Angenendt, P., Mankoo, P., Carter, H., Kamiyama, H., Jimeno, A., Hong, S.-M., Fu, B., Lin, M.-T., Calhoun, E. S., Kamiyama, M., Walter, K., Nikolskaya, T., Nikolsky, Y., Hartigan, J., Smith, D. R., Hidalgo, M., Leach, S. D., Klein, A. P., Jaffee, E. M., Goggins, M., Maitra, A., Iacobuzio-Donahue, C., Eshleman, J. R., Kern, S. E., Hruban, R. H., Karchin, R., Papadopoulos, N., Parmigiani, G., Vogelstein, B., Velculescu, V. E. and Kinzler, K. W. (2008). Core Signaling Pathways in Human Pancreatic Cancers Revealed by Global Genomic Analyses. *Science*, 321(5897), pp. 1801-6.
- Joosse, S. A., Gorges, T. M. and Pantel, K. (2015). Biology, detection, and clinical implications of circulating tumor cells. *EMBO Mol Med*, 7(1), pp. 1-11.
- Kalluri, R. and Weinberg, R. A. (2009). The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. *J Clin Invest*, 119(6), pp. 1420-8.
- Kelsey, C. R., Marks, L. B., Hollis, D., Hubbs, J. L., Ready, N. E., D'Amico, T. A. and Boyd, J.
  A. (2009). Local recurrence after surgery for early stage lung cancer: an 11-year experience with 975 patients. *Cancer*, 115(22), pp. 5218-27.
- Khan, M. S., Tsigani, T., Rashid, M., Rabouhans, J. S., Yu, D., Luong, T. V., Caplin, M. and Meyer, T. (2011). Circulating tumor cells and EpCAM expression in neuroendocrine tumors. *Clin Cancer Res*, 17(2), pp. 337-45.
- Khoja, L., Backen, A., Sloane, R., Menasce, L., Ryder, D., Krebs, M., Board, R., Clack, G., Hughes, A., Blackhall, F., Valle, J. W. and Dive, C. (2012). A pilot study to explore circulating tumour cells in pancreatic cancer as a novel biomarker. *Br J Cancer*, 106(3), pp. 508-16.
- Kidess, E., Heirich, K., Wiggin, M., Vysotskaia, V., Visser, B. C., Marziali, A., Wiedenmann, B., Norton, J. A., Lee, M., Jeffrey, S. S. and Poultsides, G. A. (2015). Mutation profiling of tumor DNA from plasma and tumor tissue of colorectal cancer patients with a novel, high-sensitivity multiplexed mutation detection platform. *Oncotarget,* 6(4), pp. 2549-61.
- Kim, J. E., Lee, K. T., Lee, J. K., Paik, S. W., Rhee, J. C. and Choi, K. W. (2004). Clinical usefulness of carbohydrate antigen 19-9 as a screening test for pancreatic cancer in an asymptomatic population. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 19(2), pp. 182-6.
- Kinugasa, H., Nouso, K., Miyahara, K., Morimoto, Y., Dohi, C., Tsutsumi, K., Kato, H., Matsubara, T., Okada, H. and Yamamoto, K. (2015). Detection of K-ras gene mutation by liquid biopsy in patients with pancreatic cancer. *Cancer*, 121(13), pp. 2271-80.
- Klein, A. P., Brune, K. A., Petersen, G. M., Goggins, M., Tersmette, A. C., Offerhaus, G. J.
  A., Griffin, C., Cameron, J. L., Yeo, C. J., Kern, S. and Hruban, R. H. (2004).
  Prospective Risk of Pancreatic Cancer in Familial Pancreatic Cancer Kindreds. *Cancer Res*, 64(7), pp. 2634-2638.
- Krebs, M. G., Hou, J. M., Sloane, R., Lancashire, L., Priest, L., Nonaka, D., Ward, T. H., Backen, A., Clack, G., Hughes, A., Ranson, M., Blackhall, F. H. and Dive, C. (2012). Analysis of circulating tumor cells in patients with non-small cell lung cancer using epithelial marker-dependent and -independent approaches. *J Thorac Oncol*, 7(2), pp. 306-15.
- Krebs, M. G., Sloane, R., Priest, L., Lancashire, L., Hou, J. M., Greystoke, A., Ward, T. H., Ferraldeschi, R., Hughes, A., Clack, G., Ranson, M., Dive, C. and Blackhall, F. H.

(2011). Evaluation and prognostic significance of circulating tumor cells in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, 29(12), pp. 1556-63.

- Kulemann, B., Liss, A. S., Warshaw, A. L., Seifert, S., Bronsert, P., Glatz, T., Pitman, M. B. and Hoeppner, J. (2016). KRAS mutations in pancreatic circulating tumor cells: a pilot study. *Tumour Biol*, 37(6), pp. 7547-54.
- Kulig, J., Popiela, T., Zając, A., Kłęk, S. and Kołodziejczyk, P. (2005). The value of imaging techniques in the staging of pancreatic cancer. *Surg Endosc*, 19(3), pp. 361-5.
- Kurihara, T., Itoi, T., Sofuni, A., Itokawa, F., Tsuchiya, T., Tsuji, S., Ishii, K., Ikeuchi, N., Tsuchida, A., Kasuya, K., Kawai, T., Sakai, Y. and Moriyasu, F. (2008). Detection of circulating tumor cells in patients with pancreatic cancer: a preliminary result. *J Hepatobiliary Pancreat Surg*, 15(2), pp. 189-95.
- Langer, C. J. (2011). Roles of EGFR and KRAS Mutations in the Treatment Of Patients With Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer. *P T*, 36(5), pp. 263-79.
- Laurent, F., Latrabe, V., Vergier, B., Montaudon, M., Vernejoux, J. M. and Dubrez, J. (2000).
   CT-Guided Transthoracic Needle Biopsy of Pulmonary Nodules Smaller than 20mm:
   Results with an Automated 20-Gauge Coaxial Cutting Needle. *Clin Radiol*, 55(4), pp. 281-7.
- Lecharpentier, A., Vielh, P., Perez-Moreno, P., Planchard, D., Soria, J. C. and Farace, F. (2011). Detection of circulating tumour cells with a hybrid (epithelial/mesenchymal) phenotype in patients with metastatic non-small cell lung cancer. *Br J Cancer*, 105(9), pp. 1338-41.
- Lee, T. H., Montalvo, L., Chrebtow, V. and Busch, M. P. (2001). Quantitation of genomic DNA in plasma and serum samples: higher concentrations of genomic DNA found in serum than in plasma. *Transfusion*, 41(2), pp. 276-82.
- Lemjabbar-Alaoui, H., Hassan, O. U., Yang, Y. W. and Buchanan, P. (2015). Lung cancer: Biology and treatment options. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1856(2), pp. 189-210.
- Leon, S. A., Shapiro, B., Sklaroff, D. M. and Yaros, M. J. (1977). Free DNA in the Serum of Cancer Patients and the Effect of Therapy. *Cancer Res,* 37(3), pp. 646-50.
- Li, M., Diehl, F., Dressman, D., Vogelstein, B. and Kinzler, K. W. (2006). BEAMing up for detection and quantification of rare sequence variants. *Nat Methods*, 3(2), pp. 95-7.

- Lièvre, A., Bachet, J.-B., Le Corre, D., Boige, V., Landi, B., Emile, J.-F., Côté, J.-F., Tomasic, G., Penna, C., Ducreux, M., Rougier, P., Penault-Llorca, F. and Laurent-Puig, P. (2006). *KRAS* Mutation Status Is Predictive of Response to Cetuximab Therapy in Colorectal Cancer. *Cancer Res*, 66(8), pp. 3992-5.
- Ligthart, S. T., Coumans, F. A. W., Attard, G., Mulick Cassidy, A., de Bono, J. S. and Terstappen, L. W. M. M. (2011). Unbiased and Automated Identification of a Circulating Tumour Cell Definition That Associates with Overall Survival. *PLoS One*, 6(11), pp. e27419.
- Lin, M.-S., Huang, J.-X. and Yu, H. (2014). Elevated serum level of carbohydrate antigen 19-9 in benign biliary stricture diseases can reduce its value as a tumor marker. *Int J Clin Exp Med*, 7(3), pp. 744-50.
- Liu, Y., Yin, T., Feng, Y., Cona, M. M., Huang, G., Liu, J., Song, S., Jiang, Y., Xia, Q., Swinnen, J. V., Bormans, G., Himmelreich, U., Oyen, R. and Ni, Y. (2015). Mammalian models of chemically induced primary malignancies exploitable for imaging-based preclinical theragnostic research. *Quant Imaging Med Surg*, 5(5), pp. 708-29.
- Lo, Y. M., Chan, K. C., Sun, H., Chen, E. Z., Jiang, P., Lun, F. M., Zheng, Y. W., Leung, T. Y., Lau, T. K., Cantor, C. R. and Chiu, R. W. (2010). Maternal plasma DNA sequencing reveals the genome-wide genetic and mutational profile of the fetus. *Sci Transl Med*, 2(61), pp. 61ra91.
- Locker, G. Y., Hamilton, S., Harris, J., Jessup, J. M., Kemeny, N., Macdonald, J. S., Somerfield, M. R., Hayes, D. F. and Bast, R. C., Jr. (2006). ASCO 2006 update of recommendations for the use of tumor markers in gastrointestinal cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, 24(33), pp. 5313-27.
- Lodish, H., Berk, A., Zipursky, S. L., Matsudaira, P., Baltimore, D. and Darnell, J. (2000).
   Section 24.2, Proto-Oncogenes and Tumor-Suppressor Genes.in Molecular Cell Biology. 4th ed. New York: W. H. Freeman. Available: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK21662/ [Accessed 25th Apr. 2017].
- Loeb, L. A. and Harris, C. C. (2008). Advances in Chemical Carcinogenesis: A Historical Review and Prospective. *Cancer Res,* 68(17), pp. 6863-72.
- Lohr, M., Kloppel, G., Maisonneuve, P., Lowenfels, A. B. and Luttges, J. (2005). Frequency of K-ras mutations in pancreatic intraductal neoplasias associated with pancreatic

ductal adenocarcinoma and chronic pancreatitis: a meta-analysis. *Neoplasia*, 7(1), pp. 17-23.

- Luzzi, K. J., MacDonald, I. C., Schmidt, E. E., Kerkvliet, N., Morris, V. L., Chambers, A. F. and Groom, A. C. (1998). Multistep nature of metastatic inefficiency: dormancy of solitary cells after successful extravasation and limited survival of early micrometastases. *Am J Pathol*, 153(3), pp. 865-73.
- Maheswaran, S., Sequist, L. V., Nagrath, S., Ulkus, L., Brannigan, B., Collura, C. V., Inserra, E., Diederichs, S., Iafrate, A. J., Bell, D. W., Digumarthy, S., Muzikansky, A., Irimia, D., Settleman, J., Tompkins, R. G., Lynch, T. J., Toner, M. and Haber, D. A. (2008). Detection of mutations in EGFR in circulating lung-cancer cells. *N Engl J Med*, 359(4), pp. 366-77.
- Maire, F., Micard, S., Hammel, P., Voitot, H., Lévy, P., Cugnenc, P. H., Ruszniewski, P. and Puig, P. L. (2002). Differential diagnosis between chronic pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer: value of the detection of KRAS2 mutations in circulating DNA. *Br J Cancer*, 87(5), pp. 551-4.
- Malachowski, M. E., Comenzo, R. L., Hillyer, C. D., Tiegerman, K. O. and Berkman, E. M. (1992). Large-volume leukapheresis for peripheral blood stem cell collection in patients with hematologic malignancies. *Transfusion*, 32(8), pp. 732-5.
- Malka, D., Hammel, P., Maire, F., Rufat, P., Madeira, I., Pessione, F., Lévy, P. and Ruszniewski, P. (2002). Risk of pancreatic adenocarcinoma in chronic pancreatitis. *Gut*, 51(6), pp. 849-52.
- Mandel, P. and Metais, P. (1948). Les acides nucléiques du plasma sanguin chez l'homme. *C R Seances Soc Biol Fil,* 142(3-4), pp. 241-3.
- Marchese, R., Muleti, A., Pasqualetti, P., Bucci, B., Stigliano, A., Brunetti, E., De Angelis, M., Mazzoni, G., Tocchi, A. and Brozzetti, S. (2006). Low correspondence between K-ras mutations in pancreatic cancer tissue and detection of K-ras mutations in circulating DNA. *Pancreas*, 32(2), pp. 171-7.
- McBride, D. J., Orpana, A. K., Sotiriou, C., Joensuu, H., Stephens, P. J., Mudie, L. J.,
  Hämäläinen, E., Stebbings, L. A., Andersson, L. C., Flanagan, A. M., Durbecq, V.,
  Ignatiadis, M., Kallioniemi, O., Heckman, C. A., Alitalo, K., Edgren, H., Futreal, P. A.,
  Stratton, M. R. and Campbell, P. J. (2010). Use of cancer-specific genomic

rearrangements to quantify disease burden in plasma from patients with solid tumors. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer,* 49(11), pp. 1062-9.

- McInerney, P., Adams, P. and Hadi, M. Z. (2014). Error Rate Comparison during Polymerase Chain Reaction by DNA Polymerase. *Mol Biol Int,* 2014, pp. 287430.
- Mitsudomi, T., Morita, S., Yatabe, Y., Negoro, S., Okamoto, I., Tsurutani, J., Seto, T., Satouchi, M., Tada, H., Hirashima, T., Asami, K., Katakami, N., Takada, M., Yoshioka, H., Shibata, K., Kudoh, S., Shimizu, E., Saito, H., Toyooka, S., Nakagawa, K. and Fukuoka, M. (2010). Gefitinib versus cisplatin plus docetaxel in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring mutations of the epidermal growth factor receptor (WJTOG3405): an open label, randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol*, 11(2), pp. 121-8.
- Mostert, B., Jiang, Y., Sieuwerts, A. M., Wang, H., Bolt-de Vries, J., Biermann, K., Kraan, J., Lalmahomed, Z., van Galen, A., de Weerd, V., van der Spoel, P., Ramirez-Moreno, R., Verhoef, C., Ijzermans, J. N., Wang, Y., Gratama, J. W., Foekens, J. A., Sleijfer, S. and Martens, J. W. (2013). KRAS and BRAF mutation status in circulating colorectal tumor cells and their correlation with primary and metastatic tumor tissue. *Int J Cancer*, 133(1), pp. 130-41.
- Mouliere, F., Robert, B., Arnau Peyrotte, E., Del Rio, M., Ychou, M., Molina, F., Gongora, C. and Thierry, A. R. (2011). High Fragmentation Characterizes Tumour-Derived Circulating DNA. *PLoS One*, 6(9), pp. e23418.
- Mouliere, F. and Rosenfeld, N. (2015). Circulating tumor-derived DNA is shorter than somatic DNA in plasma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 112(11), pp. 3178-9.
- Nagrath, S., Jack, R. M., Sahai, V. and Simeone, D. M. (2016). Opportunities and Challenges for Pancreatic Circulating Tumor Cells. *Gastroenterology*, 151(3), pp. 412-26.
- Nagrath, S., Sequist, L. V., Maheswaran, S., Bell, D. W., Irimia, D., Ulkus, L., Smith, M. R., Kwak, E. L., Digumarthy, S., Muzikansky, A., Ryan, P., Balis, U. J., Tompkins, R. G., Haber, D. A. and Toner, M. (2007). Isolation of rare circulating tumour cells in cancer patients by microchip technology. *Nature*, 450(7173), pp. 1235-9.
- Nakagawa, T., Martinez, S. R., Goto, Y., Koyanagi, K., Kitago, M., Shingai, T., Elashoff, D. A., Ye, X., Singer, F. R., Giuliano, A. E. and Hoon, D. S. (2007). Detection of circulating

tumor cells in early-stage breast cancer metastasis to axillary lymph nodes. *Clin Cancer Res,* 13(14), pp. 4105-10.

- Newman, A. M., Bratman, S. V., To, J., Wynne, J. F., Eclov, N. C., Modlin, L. A., Liu, C. L., Neal, J. W., Wakelee, H. A., Merritt, R. E., Shrager, J. B. and Loo, B. W., Jr. (2014). An ultrasensitive method for quantitating circulating tumor DNA with broad patient coverage. *Nat Med*, 20(5), pp. 548-54.
- Ni, X. G., Bai, X. F., Mao, Y. L., Shao, Y. F., Wu, J. X., Shan, Y., Wang, C. F., Wang, J., Tian, Y. T., Liu, Q., Xu, D. K. and Zhao, P. (2005). The clinical value of serum CEA, CA19-9, and CA242 in the diagnosis and prognosis of pancreatic cancer. *Eur J Surg Oncol*, 31(2), pp. 164-9.
- Norris, A. L., Workman, R. E., Fan, Y., Eshleman, J. R. and Timp, W. (2016). Nanopore sequencing detects structural variants in cancer. *Cancer Biol Ther*, 17(3), pp. 246-53.
- Nygaard, A. D., Garm Spindler, K. L., Pallisgaard, N., Andersen, R. F. and Jakobsen, A. (2013). The prognostic value of KRAS mutated plasma DNA in advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer*, 79(3), pp. 312-7.
- Oettle, H., Neuhaus, P., Hochhaus, A., Hartmann, J. T., Gellert, K., Ridwelski, K., Niedergethmann, M., Zulke, C., Fahlke, J., Arning, M. B., Sinn, M., Hinke, A. and Riess, H. (2013). Adjuvant chemotherapy with gemcitabine and long-term outcomes among patients with resected pancreatic cancer: the CONKO-001 randomized trial. *Jama*, 310(14), pp. 1473-81.
- Ono, A., Takahashi, T., Mori, K., Akamatsu, H., Shukuya, T., Taira, T., Kenmotsu, H., Naito, T., Murakami, H., Nakajima, T., Endo, M. and Yamamoto, N. (2013). Prognostic impact of serum CYFRA 21–1 in patients with advanced lung adenocarcinoma: a retrospective study. *BMC Cancer*, 13, pp. 354.
- Ørntoft, T. F., Vestergaard, E. M., Holmes, E., Jakobsen, J. S., Grunnet, N., Mortensen, M., Johnson, P., Bross, P., Gregersen, N., Skorstengaard, K., Jensen, U. B., Bolund, L. and Wolf, H. (1996). Influence of Lewis α1-3/4-L-Fucosyltransferase (FUT3) Gene Mutations on Enzyme Activity, Erythrocyte Phenotyping, and Circulating Tumor Marker Sialyl-Lewis a Levels. *J Biol Chem*, 271(50), pp. 32260-8.
- Page, K., Guttery, D. S., Zahra, N., Primrose, L., Elshaw, S. R., Pringle, J. H., Blighe, K., Marchese, S. D., Hills, A., Woodley, L., Stebbing, J., Coombes, R. C. and Shaw, J. A.

(2013). Influence of Plasma Processing on Recovery and Analysis of Circulating Nucleic Acids. *PLoS One*, 8(10), pp. e77963.

- Pantel, K. and Alix-Panabières, C. (2013). Real-time Liquid Biopsy in Cancer Patients: Fact or Fiction? *Cancer Res*, 73(21), pp. 6384-8.
- Pao, W., Miller, V. A., Politi, K. A., Riely, G. J., Somwar, R., Zakowski, M. F., Kris, M. G. and Varmus, H. (2005). Acquired resistance of lung adenocarcinomas to gefitinib or erlotinib is associated with a second mutation in the EGFR kinase domain. *PLoS Med*, 2(3), pp. e73.
- Park, S., Ang, R. R., Duffy, S. P., Bazov, J., Chi, K. N., Black, P. C. and Ma, H. (2014). Morphological Differences between Circulating Tumor Cells from Prostate Cancer Patients and Cultured Prostate Cancer Cells. *PLoS One*, 9(1), pp. e85264.
- Pietrasz, D., Pécuchet, N., Garlan, F., Didelot, A., Dubreuil, O., Doat, S., Imbert-Bismut, F., Karoui, M., Vaillant, J.-C., Taly, V., Laurent-Puig, P. and Bachet, J.-B. (2016). Plasma Circulating Tumor DNA in Pancreatic Cancer Patients Is a Prognostic Marker. *Clin Cancer Res*, 23(1), pp. 116-23.
- Pirker, R., Pereira, J. R., Szczesna, A., von Pawel, J., Krzakowski, M., Ramlau, R., Vynnychenko, I., Park, K., Yu, C.-T., Ganul, V., Roh, J.-K., Bajetta, E., O'Byrne, K., de Marinis, F., Eberhardt, W., Goddemeier, T., Emig, M. and Gatzemeier, U. (2009). Cetuximab plus chemotherapy in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (FLEX): an open-label randomised phase III trial. *Lancet*, 373(9674), pp. 1525-31.
- Pishvaian, M. J., Bender, R. J., Matrisian, L. M., Rahib, L., Hendifar, A., Hoos, W. A., Mikhail, S., Chung, V., Picozzi, V., Heartwell, C., Mason, K., Varieur, K., Aberra, M., Madhavan, S., Petricoin, E., 3rd and Brody, J. R. (2016). A pilot study evaluating concordance between blood-based and patient-matched tumor molecular testing within pancreatic cancer patients participating in the Know Your Tumor (KYT) initiative. *Oncotarget,* Epub ahead of print.
- Poruk, K. E., Gay, D. Z., Brown, K., Mulvihill, J. D., Boucher, K. M., Scaife, C. L., Firpo, M. A. and Mulvihill, S. J. (2013). The Clinical Utility of CA 19-9 in Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma: Diagnostic and Prognostic Updates. *Curr Mol Med*, 13(3), pp. 340-51.

- Provenzano, P. P., Cuevas, C., Chang, A. E., Goel, V. K., Von Hoff, D. D. and Hingorani, S. R. (2012). Enzymatic targeting of the stroma ablates physical barriers to treatment of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Cell*, 21(3), pp. 418-29.
- Punnoose, E. A., Atwal, S., Liu, W., Raja, R., Fine, B. M., Hughes, B. G., Hicks, R. J., Hampton, G. M., Amler, L. C., Pirzkall, A. and Lackner, M. R. (2012). Evaluation of circulating tumor cells and circulating tumor DNA in non-small cell lung cancer: association with clinical endpoints in a phase II clinical trial of pertuzumab and erlotinib. *Clin Cancer Res*, 18(8), pp. 2391-401.
- Rahib, L., Smith, B. D., Aizenberg, R., Rosenzweig, A. B., Fleshman, J. M. and Matrisian, L. M. (2014). Projecting cancer incidence and deaths to 2030: the unexpected burden of thyroid, liver, and pancreas cancers in the United States. *Cancer Res,* 74(11), pp. 2913-21.
- Rajeswaran, A., Trojan, A., Burnand, B. and Giannelli, M. (2008). Efficacy and side effects of cisplatin- and carboplatin-based doublet chemotherapeutic regimens versus nonplatinum-based doublet chemotherapeutic regimens as first line treatment of metastatic non-small cell lung carcinoma: A systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *Lung Cancer*, 59(1), pp. 1-11.
- Rhim, Andrew D., Mirek, Emily T., Aiello, Nicole M., Maitra, A., Bailey, Jennifer M., McAllister,
  F., Reichert, M., Beatty, Gregory L., Rustgi, Anil K., Vonderheide, Robert H., Leach,
  Steven D. and Stanger, Ben Z. (2012). EMT and Dissemination Precede Pancreatic
  Tumor Formation. *Cell*, 148(1–2), pp. 349-61.
- Rhim, A. D., Thege, F. I., Santana, S. M., Lannin, T. B., Saha, T. N., Tsai, S., Maggs, L. R., Kochman, M. L., Ginsberg, G. G., Lieb, J. G., Chandrasekhara, V., Drebin, J. A., Ahmad, N., Yang, Y. X., Kirby, B. J. and Stanger, B. Z. (2014). Detection of circulating pancreas epithelial cells in patients with pancreatic cystic lesions. *Gastroenterology*, 146(3), pp. 647-51.
- Ridge, C. A., McErlean, A. M. and Ginsberg, M. S. (2013). Epidemiology of Lung Cancer. *Semin Intervent Radiol*, 30(2), pp. 93-8.
- Roberts, S. G., Blute, M. L., Bergstralh, E. J., Slezak, J. M. and Zincke, H. (2001). PSA Doubling Time as a Predictor of Clinical Progression After Biochemical Failure Following Radical Prostatectomy for Prostate Cancer. *Mayo Clin Proc*, 76(6), pp. 576-81.

- Rocha, J. L. U., Sanchez, M. V. A., Esquete, J. P., Salgado, E. F., Alvarez, C. A., Sanluis, M. J. V., Barro, L. L. and Astray, E. V. (2007). Evaluation of the bilio-pancreatic region using endoscopic ultrasonography in patients referred with and without abdominal pain and CA 19-9 serum level elevation. *Jop*, 8(2), pp. 191-7.
- Rodig, S. J. and Shapiro, G. I. (2010). Crizotinib, a small-molecule dual inhibitor of the c-Met and ALK receptor tyrosine kinases. *Curr Opin Investig Drugs,* 11(12), pp. 1477-90.
- Rosch, T., Lorenz, R., Braig, C., Dancygier, H. and Classen, M. (1991). Endoscopic ultrasound in small pancreatic tumors (in German with English summary). *Z Gastroenterol,* 29(3), pp. 110-5.
- Rosell, R., Carcereny, E., Gervais, R., Vergnenegre, A., Massuti, B., Felip, E., Palmero, R., Garcia-Gomez, R., Pallares, C., Sanchez, J. M., Porta, R., Cobo, M., Garrido, P., Longo, F., Moran, T., Insa, A., De Marinis, F., Corre, R., Bover, I., Illiano, A., Dansin, E., de Castro, J., Milella, M., Reguart, N., Altavilla, G., Jimenez, U., Provencio, M., Moreno, M. A., Terrasa, J., Munoz-Langa, J., Valdivia, J., Isla, D., Domine, M., Molinier, O., Mazieres, J., Baize, N., Garcia-Campelo, R., Robinet, G., Rodriguez-Abreu, D., Lopez-Vivanco, G., Gebbia, V., Ferrera-Delgado, L., Bombaron, P., Bernabe, R., Bearz, A., Artal, A., Cortesi, E., Rolfo, C., Sanchez-Ronco, M., Drozdowskyj, A., Queralt, C., de Aguirre, I., Ramirez, J. L., Sanchez, J. J., Molina, M. A., Taron, M. and Paz-Ares, L. (2012). Erlotinib versus standard chemotherapy as first-line treatment for European patients with advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (EURTAC): a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol*, 13(3), pp. 239-46.
- Sanger Institute (2017). COSMIC: catalogue of somatic mutations in cancer, Available: http://cancer.sanger.ac.uk/cosmic [Accessed 28 Jan. 2017].
- Sasco, A. J., Secretan, M. B. and Straif, K. (2004). Tobacco smoking and cancer: a brief review of recent epidemiological evidence. *Lung Cancer*, 45, pp. S3-9.
- Saucedo-Zeni, N., Mewes, S., Niestroj, R., Gasiorowski, L., Murawa, D., Nowaczyk, P., Tomasi, T., Weber, E., Dworacki, G., Morgenthaler, N. G., Jansen, H., Propping, C., Sterzynska, K., Dyszkiewicz, W., Zabel, M., Kiechle, M., Reuning, U., Schmitt, M. and Lucke, K. (2012). A novel method for the in vivo isolation of circulating tumor cells from peripheral blood of cancer patients using a functionalized and structured medical wire. *Int J Oncol*, 41(4), pp. 1241-50.

- Sausen, M., Phallen, J., Adleff, V., Jones, S., Leary, R. J., Barrett, M. T., Anagnostou, V., Parpart-Li, S., Murphy, D., Kay Li, Q., Hruban, C. A., Scharpf, R., White, J. R., O'Dwyer, P. J., Allen, P. J., Eshleman, J. R., Thompson, C. B., Klimstra, D. S., Linehan, D. C., Maitra, A., Hruban, R. H., Diaz, L. A., Von Hoff, D. D., Johansen, J. S., Drebin, J. A. and Velculescu, V. E. (2015). Clinical implications of genomic alterations in the tumour and circulation of pancreatic cancer patients. *Nat Commun*, 6, pp. 7686.
- Sequist, L. V., Waltman, B. A., Dias-Santagata, D., Digumarthy, S., Turke, A. B., Fidias, P., Bergethon, K., Shaw, A. T., Gettinger, S., Cosper, A. K., Akhavanfard, S., Heist, R. S., Temel, J., Christensen, J. G., Wain, J. C., Lynch, T. J., Vernovsky, K., Mark, E. J., Lanuti, M., Iafrate, A. J., Mino-Kenudson, M. and Engelman, J. A. (2011). Genotypic and Histological Evolution of Lung Cancers Acquiring Resistance to EGFR Inhibitors. *Science translational medicine*, 3(75), pp. 75ra26-75ra26.

Sherr, C. J. (2004). Principles of Tumor Suppression. Cell, 116(2), pp. 235-46.

- Sherwood, J. L., Corcoran, C., Brown, H., Sharpe, A. D., Musilova, M. and Kohlmann, A. (2016). Optimised Pre-Analytical Methods Improve KRAS Mutation Detection in Circulating Tumour DNA (ctDNA) from Patients with Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer (NSCLC). *PLoS One*, 11(2), pp. e0150197.
- Siegel, R. L., Miller, K. D. and Jemal, A. (2016). Cancer statistics, 2016. *CA Cancer J Clin,* 66(1), pp. 7-30.
- Snyder, M. W., Kircher, M., Hill, A. J., Daza, R. M. and Shendure, J. (2016). Cell-free DNA Comprises an In Vivo Nucleosome Footprint that Informs Its Tissues-Of-Origin. *Cell*, 164(1-2), pp. 57-68.
- Speicher, M. R. and Pantel, K. (2014). Tumor signatures in the blood. *Nat Biotechnol*, 32(5), pp. 441-3.
- Spindler, K. L. G., Pallisgaard, N., Andersen, R. F., Brandslund, I. and Jakobsen, A. (2015). Circulating Free DNA as Biomarker and Source for Mutation Detection in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. *PLoS One*, 10(4), pp. e0108247.
- Stamey, T. A., Yang, N., Hay, A. R., McNeal, J. E., Freiha, F. S. and Redwine, E. (1987). Prostate-specific antigen as a serum marker for adenocarcinoma of the prostate. *N Engl J Med*, 317(15), pp. 909-16.

- Stoecklein, N. H., Fischer, J. C., Niederacher, D. and Terstappen, L. W. (2016). Challenges for CTC-based liquid biopsies: low CTC frequency and diagnostic leukapheresis as a potential solution. *Expert Rev Mol Diagn*, 16(2), pp. 147-64.
- Stratton, M. R., Campbell, P. J. and Futreal, P. A. (2009). The cancer genome. *Nature,* 458(7239), pp. 719-24.
- Stroun, M., Anker, P., Lyautey, J., Lederrey, C. and Maurice, P. A. (1987). Isolation and characterization of DNA from the plasma of cancer patients. *Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol*, 23(6), pp. 707-12.
- Su, K.-Y., Chen, H.-Y., Li, K.-C., Kuo, M.-L., Yang, J. C.-H., Chan, W.-K., Ho, B.-C., Chang, G.-C., Shih, J.-Y., Yu, S.-L. and Yang, P.-C. (2012). Pretreatment Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) T790M Mutation Predicts Shorter EGFR Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Response Duration in Patients With Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer. *J Clin Oncol*, 30(4), pp. 433-40.
- Sun, H., Ma, H., Hong, G., Sun, H. and Wang, J. (2014). Survival improvement in patients with pancreatic cancer by decade: A period analysis of the SEER database, 1981–2010. 4, pp. 6747.
- Sun, J. M., Hwang, D. W., Ahn, J. S., Ahn, M. J. and Park, K. (2013). Prognostic and predictive value of KRAS mutations in advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *PLoS One*, 8(5), pp. e64816.
- Suzuki, N., Kamataki, A., Yamaki, J. and Homma, Y. (2008). Characterization of circulating DNA in healthy human plasma. *Clin Chim Acta*, 387(1–2), pp. 55-8.
- Swords, D. S., Firpo, M. A., Scaife, C. L. and Mulvihill, S. J. (2016). Biomarkers in pancreatic adenocarcinoma: current perspectives. *Onco Targets Ther,* 9, pp. 7459-67.
- Takai, E., Totoki, Y., Nakamura, H., Morizane, C., Nara, S., Hama, N., Suzuki, M., Furukawa,
  E., Kato, M., Hayashi, H., Kohno, T., Ueno, H., Shimada, K., Okusaka, T., Nakagama,
  H., Shibata, T. and Yachida, S. (2015). Clinical utility of circulating tumor DNA for
  molecular assessment in pancreatic cancer. *Sci Rep,* 5, pp. 18425.
- Takai, E. and Yachida, S. (2016). Circulating tumor DNA as a liquid biopsy target for detection of pancreatic cancer. *World J Gastroenterol*, 22(38), pp. 8480-88.
- Tam, W. L. and Weinberg, R. A. (2013). The epigenetics of epithelial-mesenchymal plasticity in cancer. *Nat Med*, 19(11), pp. 1438-49.

- Tanaka, F., Yoneda, K., Kondo, N., Hashimoto, M., Takuwa, T., Matsumoto, S., Okumura, Y., Rahman, S., Tsubota, N., Tsujimura, T., Kuribayashi, K., Fukuoka, K., Nakano, T. and Hasegawa, S. (2009). Circulating tumor cell as a diagnostic marker in primary lung cancer. *Clin Cancer Res*, 15(22), pp. 6980-6.
- Tanizaki, J., Okamoto, I., Okamoto, K., Takezawa, K., Kuwata, K., Yamaguchi, H. and Nakagawa, K. (2011). MET tyrosine kinase inhibitor crizotinib (PF-02341066) shows differential antitumor effects in non-small cell lung cancer according to MET alterations. *J Thorac Oncol*, 6(10), pp. 1624-31.
- Tanoue, L. T. and Detterbeck, F. C. (2009). New TNM classification for non-small-cell lung cancer. *Expert Rev Anticancer Ther,* 9(4), pp. 413-23.
- Tempero, M. A., Uchida, E., Takasaki, H., Burnett, D. A., Steplewski, Z. and Pour, P. M. (1987). Relationship of carbohydrate antigen 19-9 and Lewis antigens in pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Res*, 47(20), pp. 5501-3.
- Tewes, M., Aktas, B., Welt, A., Mueller, S., Hauch, S., Kimmig, R. and Kasimir-Bauer, S. (2008). Molecular profiling and predictive value of circulating tumor cells in patients with metastatic breast cancer: an option for monitoring response to breast cancer related therapies. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*, 115(3), pp. 581-90.
- Thiery, J. P. (2002). Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in tumour progression. *Nat Rev Cancer,* 2(6), pp. 442-54.
- Tie, J., Wang, Y., Tomasetti, C., Li, L., Springer, S., Kinde, I., Silliman, N., Tacey, M., Wong, H.-L., Christie, M., Kosmider, S., Skinner, I., Wong, R., Steel, M., Tran, B., Desai, J., Jones, I., Haydon, A., Hayes, T., Price, T. J., Strausberg, R. L., Diaz, L. A., Papadopoulos, N., Kinzler, K. W., Vogelstein, B. and Gibbs, P. (2016). Circulating tumor DNA analysis detects minimal residual disease and predicts recurrence in patients with stage II colon cancer. *Science translational medicine*, 8(346), pp. 346ra92-346ra92.
- Tjensvoll, K., Lapin, M., Buhl, T., Oltedal, S., Steen-Ottosen Berry, K., Gilje, B., Søreide, J. A., Javle, M., Nordgård, O. and Smaaland, R. (2016). Clinical relevance of circulating KRAS mutated DNA in plasma from patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. *Mol Oncol,* 10(4), pp. 635-43.
- Tomiyama, N., Yasuhara, Y., Nakajima, Y., Adachi, S., Arai, Y., Kusumoto, M., Eguchi, K., Kuriyama, K., Sakai, F., Noguchi, M., Murata, K., Murayama, S., Mochizuki, T., Mori, K.

and Yamada, K. (2006). CT-guided needle biopsy of lung lesions: A survey of severe complication based on 9783 biopsies in Japan. *Eur J Radiol*, 59(1), pp. 60-4.

- Torre, L. A., Siegel, R. L., Ward, E. M. and Jemal, A. (2016). Global Cancer Incidence and Mortality Rates and Trends--An Update. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 25(1), pp. 16-27.
- Travis, W. D., Brambilla, E. and Riely, G. J. (2013). New pathologic classification of lung cancer: relevance for clinical practice and clinical trials. *J Clin Oncol*, 31(8), pp. 992-1001.
- Uemura, T., Hibi, K., Kaneko, T., Takeda, S., Inoue, S., Okochi, O., Nagasaka, T. and Nakao, A. (2004). Detection of K-ras mutations in the plasma DNA of pancreatic cancer patients. *J Gastroenterol*, 39(1), pp. 56-60.
- Vasioukhin, V., Anker, P., Maurice, P., Lyautey, J., Lederrey, C. and Stroun, M. (1994). Point mutations of the N-ras gene in the blood plasma DNA of patients with myelodysplastic syndrome or acute myelogenous leukaemia. *Br J Haematol,* 86(4), pp. 774-9.
- Vineis, P., Schatzkin, A. and Potter, J. D. (2010). Models of carcinogenesis: an overview. *Carcinogenesis*, 31(10), pp. 1703-9.
- Von Hoff, D. D., Ervin, T., Arena, F. P., Chiorean, E. G., Infante, J., Moore, M., Seay, T., Tjulandin, S. A., Ma, W. W., Saleh, M. N., Harris, M., Reni, M., Dowden, S., Laheru, D., Bahary, N., Ramanathan, R. K., Tabernero, J., Hidalgo, M., Goldstein, D., Van Cutsem, E., Wei, X., Iglesias, J. and Renschler, M. F. (2013). Increased Survival in Pancreatic Cancer with nab-Paclitaxel plus Gemcitabine. *N Engl J Med*, 369(18), pp. 1691-703.
- Waddell, N., Pajic, M., Patch, A. M., Chang, D. K., Kassahn, K. S., Bailey, P., Johns, A. L., Miller, D., Nones, K., Quek, K., Quinn, M. C., Robertson, A. J., Fadlullah, M. Z., Bruxner, T. J., Christ, A. N., Harliwong, I., Idrisoglu, S., Manning, S., Nourse, C., Nourbakhsh, E., Wani, S., Wilson, P. J., Markham, E., Cloonan, N., Anderson, M. J., Fink, J. L., Holmes, O., Kazakoff, S. H., Leonard, C., Newell, F., Poudel, B., Song, S., Taylor, D., Waddell, N., Wood, S., Xu, Q., Wu, J., Pinese, M., Cowley, M. J., Lee, H. C., Jones, M. D., Nagrial, A. M., Humphris, J., Chantrill, L. A., Chin, V., Steinmann, A. M., Mawson, A., Humphrey, E. S., Colvin, E. K., Chou, A., Scarlett, C. J., Pinho, A. V., Giry-Laterriere, M., Rooman, I., Samra, J. S., Kench, J. G., Pettitt, J. A., Merrett, N. D., Toon, C., Epari, K., Nguyen, N. Q., Barbour, A., Zeps, N., Jamieson, N. B., Graham, J. S., Niclou, S. P., Bjerkvig, R., Grutzmann, R., Aust, D., Hruban, R. H., Maitra, A., Iacobuzio-Donahue, C. A., Wolfgang, C. L., Morgan, R. A., Lawlor, R. T., Corbo, V.,

Bassi, C., Falconi, M., Zamboni, G., Tortora, G., Tempero, M. A., Gill, A. J., Eshleman, J. R., Pilarsky, C., Scarpa, A., Musgrove, E. A., Pearson, J. V., Biankin, A. V. and Grimmond, S. M. (2015). Whole genomes redefine the mutational landscape of pancreatic cancer. *Nature*, 518(7540), pp. 495-501.

- Wan, J. C. M., Massie, C., Garcia-Corbacho, J., Mouliere, F., Brenton, J. D., Caldas, C., Pacey, S., Baird, R. and Rosenfeld, N. (2017). Liquid biopsies come of age: towards implementation of circulating tumour DNA. *Nat Rev Cancer*, 17(4), pp. 223-38.
- Wang, B. G., Huang, H. Y., Chen, Y. C., Bristow, R. E., Kassauei, K., Cheng, C. C., Roden, R., Sokoll, L. J., Chan, D. W. and Shih le, M. (2003). Increased plasma DNA integrity in cancer patients. *Cancer Res*, 63(14), pp. 3966-8.
- Wang, Z., Chen, R., Wang, S., Zhong, J., Wu, M., Zhao, J., Duan, J., Zhuo, M., An, T., Wang, Y., Bai, H. and Wang, J. (2014). Quantification and dynamic monitoring of EGFR T790M in plasma cell-free DNA by digital PCR for prognosis of EGFR-TKI treatment in advanced NSCLC. *PLoS One*, 9(11), pp. e110780.
- Wieskopf, B., Demangeat, C., Purohit, A., Stenger, R., Gries, P., Kreisman, H. and Quoix, E. (1995). Cyfra 21-1 as a biologic marker of non-small cell lung cancer. Evaluation of sensitivity, specificity, and prognostic role. *Chest*, 108(1), pp. 163-9.
- Wit, S. d., Dalum, G. v., Lenferink, A. T. M., Tibbe, A. G. J., Hiltermann, T. J. N., Groen, H. J.
  M., van Rijn, C. J. M. and Terstappen, L. W. M. M. (2015). The detection of EpCAM+ and EpCAM– circulating tumor cells. *Sci Rep*, 5, pp. 12270.
- Woolf, K. M., Liang, H., Sletten, Z. J., Russell, D. K., Bonfiglio, T. A. and Zhou, Z. (2013). False-negative rate of endoscopic ultrasound-guided fine-needle aspiration for pancreatic solid and cystic lesions with matched surgical resections as the gold standard: one institution's experience. *Cancer Cytopathol*, 121(8), pp. 449-58.
- World Health Organization (2017). *Cancer*, Available: http://www.who.int/cancer/en/ [Accessed 30 Jan. 2017].
- Wu, S., Liu, S., Liu, Z., Huang, J., Pu, X., Li, J., Yang, D., Deng, H., Yang, N. and Xu, J. (2015). Classification of Circulating Tumor Cells by Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition Markers. *PLoS One*, 10(4), pp. e0123976.
- Xiang, D., Zhang, B., Doll, D., Shen, K., Kloecker, G. and Freter, C. (2013). Lung cancer screening: from imaging to biomarker. *Biomark Res*, 1(1), pp. 4.

- Yoon, K.-A., Park, S., Lee, S. H., Kim, J. H. and Lee, J. S. (2009). Comparison of Circulating Plasma DNA Levels between Lung Cancer Patients and Healthy Controls. *J Mol Diagn*, 11(3), pp. 182-5.
- Yu, J., Blackford, A. L., Dal Molin, M., Wolfgang, C. L. and Goggins, M. (2015). Time to progression of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma from low-to-high tumour stages. *Gut*, 64(11), pp. 1783-9.
- Yu, M., Ting, D. T., Stott, S. L., Wittner, B. S., Ozsolak, F., Paul, S., Ciciliano, J. C., Smas, M. E., Winokur, D., Gilman, A. J., Ulman, M. J., Xega, K., Contino, G., Alagesan, B., Brannigan, B. W., Milos, P. M., Ryan, D. P., Sequist, L. V., Bardeesy, N., Ramaswamy, S., Toner, M., Maheswaran, S. and Haber, D. A. (2012). RNA sequencing of pancreatic circulating tumour cells implicates WNT signaling in metastasis. *Nature*, 487(7408), pp. 510-3.
- Yung, T. K. F., Chan, K. C. A., Mok, T. S. K., Tong, J., To, K.-F. and Lo, Y. M. D. (2009). Single-Molecule Detection of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Mutations in Plasma by Microfluidics Digital PCR in Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer Patients. *Clin Cancer Res*, 15(6), pp. 2076-84.
- Zhong, X.-Y., von Mühlenen, I., Li, Y., Kang, A., Gupta, A. K., Tyndall, A., Holzgreve, W.,
  Hahn, S. and Hasler, P. (2007). Increased Concentrations of Antibody-Bound
  Circulatory Cell-Free DNA in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Clin Chem*, 53(9), pp. 1609-14.

## 7 Acknowledgement

Ich möchte mich an dieser Stelle besonders bei den Personen bedanken, die zum Gelingen meiner Arbeit beigetragen haben.

Bedanken möchte ich mich bei Herrn Prof. Dr. Matthias Kassack für die Übernahme des Erstprüfers meiner Doktorarbeit. Vielen Dank für die fachliche sowie organisatorische, zielgerichtete und freundliche Unterstützung.

Herrn Prof. Dr. Nikolas Stoecklein danke ich für die Übernahme des Zweitprüfers. Vielen Dank für die wissenschaftlichen Diskussionen bei Meetings und Konferenzen, welche mir sehr geholfen haben. Der Arbeitsgruppe von Prof. Dr. Stoecklein danke ich für die unterstützende Zusammenarbeit z.B. bei der Bereitstellung der Proben und den wissenschaftlichen Austausch.

Dr. Thomas Krahn danke ich für die Möglichkeit, in seiner Abteilung Global Biomarker Research und seinen Laboren meine Doktorarbeit zu absolvieren. Vielen Dank für die Gelegenheit mein Wissen praktisch und theoretisch zu vertiefen.

Bei Dr. Oliver von Ahsen bedanke ich mich für die Übernahme der Betreuung und für die wissenschaftliche Unterstützung für die längste Zeit meiner Doktorarbeit. Vielen Dank für die zahlreichen und intensiven Diskussionen, die mich vorangebracht haben.

Bei Dr. Antje Stresemann bedanke ich mich für die Einführung in die Thematik Liquid Biopsy. Vielen Dank für die anfängliche Betreuung der Doktorarbeit und den ersten wissenschaftlichen Austausch.

Den Abteilungen Biomarker und TAT möchte ich für die netten und lustigen Stunden und Gespräche im Labor danken, dabei besonders bei Monika Klotz, die mich unterstützt und unermüdlich meine Bestellungen aufgegeben hat.

Bei meinen Freunden bedanke ich mich für die Unterstützung während der Zeit der Doktorarbeit. Besonders möchte ich Michi, Maura und Lisa für die "wissenschaftlichen" Abende bei leckerem Essen und Hanna für die Telefonate Dank sagen.

Ein ganz besonderer Dank gilt meiner Familie, die so fern ist und doch so nah. Vielen Dank für das immerwährende Vertrauen in mich während meines gesamten Studiums, egal wo ich war, und den nie abflauenden motivierenden Worten.

## 8 Declaration

Ich versichere an Eides statt, dass die Dissertation von mir selbständig und ohne unzulässige fremde Hilfe unter Beachtung der "Grundsätze zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis an der Heinrich-Heine-Universität Düsseldorf" erstellt worden ist. Diese Promotion wurde bei keiner anderen Fakultät oder Universität eingereicht bzw. abgelehnt.

Düsseldorf, den 07.07.2017

Nora Brychta